# Western SGraduate & Postdoctoral Studies

# Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

5-23-2012 12:00 AM

# Shift work and cardiovascular events: systematic review and meta-analysis

Manav V. Vyas The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor Dr Daniel Hackam *The University of Western Ontario* 

Graduate Program in Epidemiology and Biostatistics A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree in Master of Science © Manav V. Vyas 2012

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Clinical Epidemiology Commons

# **Recommended Citation**

Vyas, Manav V., "Shift work and cardiovascular events: systematic review and meta-analysis" (2012). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 554. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/554

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

# Shift work and cardiovascular events: systematic review and meta-analysis

(Spine title: Shift work and cardiovascular events)

(Thesis format: Monograph)

by

Manav V. Vyas

Graduate Program in Epidemiology and Biostatistics

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

The School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada

© Manav V. Vyas 2012

THE UNIVERSITY OF WESTERN ONTARIO School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies

# **CERTIFICATE OF EXAMINATION**

**Supervisor** 

Examiners

Dr. Daniel Hackam

Dr. Mark Speechley

Supervisory Committee

Dr. Louise Moist

Dr. Amit Garg

Dr. Michael Rieder

Dr. Grace Parraga

Dr. Allan Donner

The thesis by

Manav V. Vyas

entitled:

Shift work and cardiovascular events: systematic review and meta-analysis

is accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

Date

Chair of the Thesis Examination Board

#### Abstract

The prevalence of shift work is increasing in the general population. There is conflicting epidemiologic evidence on the association between shift work and cardiovascular disease. We performed a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies that measured shift work-cardiovascular disease associations. We screened 12,350 articles and identified 35 eligible studies. The pooled risk ratios (RR) for myocardial infarction, all coronary events and ischemic stroke were 1.23 (95% confidence interval [CI] 1.15 to 1.31,  $I^2 = 0$ ), 1.24 (95% CI 1.10 to 1.39,  $I^2 = 85\%$ ) and 1.05 (95% CI 1.01 to 1.09,  $I^2 = 0$ ), respectively. The population-attributable risks from shift work for myocardial infarction, all coronary events and ischemic stroke in Canada would be 7%, 7.3% and 1.6%, respectively. We found no evidence of publication bias. We report significant yet relatively modest associations for shift work and cardiovascular events. These results have implications for public policy and occupational medicine.

#### Keywords

cardiovascular disease, cerebrovascular disease, coronary heart disease, heart, ischemic heart disease, meta-analysis, myocardial infarction, morbidity, mortality, night work, shift work, rotating work, stroke, systematic review, work schedule

# Dedication

गुरु गोविन्द दोनों खड़े काके लागु पाए| बलिहारी गुरु आपनी गोविन्द दियो बताये|| - संत कबीर

Guru Gōvinda dōnōṁ khaṛē kākē lāgū pā'ē, balihārī Guru aapanī, Gōvinda diyō batāyē – Santa kabīra

\*\*\*\*

## Acknowledgement

My experiences at the Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics have been outstanding and I would like to thank all faculty members for familiarizing me with an exciting and engaging new discipline.

I would like to extend my sincere gratitude to members of my thesis advisory committee, Drs Allan Donner, Amit Garg and Grace Parraga, for their insight and suggestions. I would like to thank Mr John Costella and Mr Arthur Iansavichus for their help in developing the search strategy. I would also like to thank Dr Marko Mrkobrada for his comments and guidance.

I would like to thank Ms Shun-fu Chen for her endearing efforts in improving my statistical knowledge. I would like to thank all my friends in India for being the ultimate support system to fall back on, and for keeping me connected to my roots. I would especially like to thank my friends Joyce, Nathan, Michael, Lynn, Ellen and Andrew, for their constant support and encouragement, and for making this journey memorable. I would also like to thank Priyansh for always being a friend to talk to when needed the most.

I would like to thank my family, particularly my cousins for helping me through tough times. I would like to thank my brother, Dev, and his wife, Sarah, for always being there for me and for having three sources of constant happiness in my life: Jay, Rohan and Noah. Most important of all, I would like to thank my parents. Mum and Dad, thank you so much for inspiring me and never losing faith in me through all the highs and lows, and for making me who I am. I owe you everything.

Finally, I would like to thank my mentor, Dr Daniel Hackam. Dan has helped me from the very first day we met and has provided me unconditional support, guidance and direction. He has helped me persevere through many adversities and ceaselessly inspired me by his dedication. Thank you so much, Dan, for helping me to embark upon an exciting career. I am greatly appreciative of your advice and I look forward to receiving it in the future.

C	ERTIFICATE OF EXAMINATIONii
A	bstractiii
D	edicationiv
A	cknowledgement v
Та	able of Contents vi
Li	st of Tablesxi
Li	st of Figures xii
Li	st of Appendices xiii
C	hapter 1 Introduction and literature review1
1	Overview of objectives
2	Scope of the problem
3	Definition of shift work
4	Prevalence of shift work
5	Shift work and "the economic benefit"
6	Shift work and short-term effects7
	6.1 Sleep disturbance
	6.2 Psychosocial problems
7	Shift work and long-term effects
	7.1 Gastrointestinal health9
	7.2 Cancer
	7.3 Reproductive health
	7.4 Cardiovascular risk factors
	Obesity
	Diabetes mellitus

# **Table of Contents**

	Dyslipidemia	. 13
	Hypertension	. 13
	Metabolic syndrome	. 14
8	Potential confounders	. 15
	8.1 Age	. 15
	8.2 Sex	. 15
	8.3 Socioeconomic status	. 16
	8.4 Smoking	. 17
	8.5 Alcohol	. 18
	8.6 Job type	. 19
9	Shift work and cardiovascular disease	. 19
	9.1 Surrogate markers of cardiovascular disease	. 19
	9.2 Mechanisms underlying the cardiovascular effects of shift work	. 20
	9.3 Cardiovascular outcomes of interest	. 22
1(	) Challenges with shift work research	. 23
	10.1 Lack of randomized controlled trials	. 23
	10.2Lack of animal models	. 23
	10.3 Selection bias in shift work studies	. 24
11	Rationale for the research	. 25
	11.1 Literature to date	. 25
	11.2Poor methodological quality of previous reviews	. 26
	11.3Implications from present research	. 28
12	2 Research questions	. 28
	12.1 Primary question	. 28
	12.2Secondary questions	. 28

	12.3Exploratory analyses	. 29
С	hapter 2 Methods	. 30
1	Overview	. 31
2	Study eligibility criteria	. 31
3	Literature search	. 32
4	Article screening	. 34
5	Data abstraction	. 34
6	Assessing bias in individual studies	. 35
7	Exposure of interest	. 36
8	Outcomes of interest	. 36
9	Statistical analysis	. 37
	9.1 Sensitivity analyses	. 38
	9.2 Secondary analyses	. 38
	Secondary endpoints	. 38
	Heterogeneity	. 39
	Subgroup analyses: study design	. 42
	Subgroup analyses: shift work schedules	. 42
	Subgroup analyses: dose-response assessment	. 42
	Ex-shift worker analysis	. 43
1(	Overall quality of evidence	. 43
С	hapter 3 Results	. 44
1	Study selection	. 45
2	Study characteristics	. 46
	2.1 Study size	. 46
	2.2 Population characteristics	. 46

	2.3 Exposure characteristics	47
	2.4 Control group characteristics	47
	2.5 Outcome characteristics	47
	2.6 Study designs	47
	2.7 Follow-up (cohort studies only)	48
3	Risk of bias within studies	48
4	Results of individual studies	48
5	Primary analyses	49
6	Sensitivity analyses	49
7	Secondary analyses	50
	7.1 Secondary endpoints	50
	7.2 Meta-regression of shift work and coronary events	50
	7.3 Subgroup analyses by study design	50
	7.4 Shift work schedules and coronary events	51
	7.5 Dose-response assessment for coronary events	51
	7.6 Ex-shift worker analysis	51
8	Overall quality of evidence	52
9	Tables and figures	54
C	hapter 4 Discussion and conclusion	87
1	Summary of evidence	88
2	Strengths	90
3	Limitations	91
	3.1 Validity of included studies	91
	3.2 Applicability	92
4	Public health impact	93

5	Measures to reduce the risk	94
	5.1 Lifestyle measures	94
	5.2 Therapeutic management	94
	5.3 Ergonomically designed shift systems	95
	5.4 Health promotion and surveillance	95
6	Possibilities for future research	96
7	Conclusions	97
A	ppendices	98
Re	eferences	. 128
Cı	urriculum Vitae	. 151

# List of Tables

Table 1.	Full-time workers aged 19 to 64 by industry and shift work status in Canada 6
Table 2.	Selected keywords and medical subject headings employed in the Medline
search st	rategy
Table 3.	Study characteristics
Table 4.	Exposure characteristics
Table 5.	Outcome characteristics
Table 6.	Results of individual studies (restricted to shift schedule of primary interest) . 71
Table 7.	Pooled analyses for secondary outcomes using random effects model
Table 8.	Meta-regression results and subgroup analyses for coronary events
Table 9.	Summary of findings

# List of Figures

Figure 1.	Underlying mechanisms for cardiovascular disease in shift workers	21
Figure 2. disease	Challenges with epidemiologic studies on shift work and cardiovascular	25
Figure 3.	Study selection	54
Figure 4.	Risk of bias in primary studies	0'
Figure 5.	Pooled analyses for primary outcomes	'7
Figure 6.	Funnel plot: effect of shift work on myocardial infarction	'9
Figure 7.	Funnel plot: effect of shift work on coronary events	30
Figure 8. study desi	Subgroup analysis: risk of myocardial infarction in shift workers by different igns	32
Figure 9. designs	Subgroup analysis: risk of coronary events in shift workers by different study	33
Figure 10	. Dose-response relation of shift work with coronary events	;4
Figure 11	. Risk of coronary events in ex-shift workers	35

# List of Appendices

Appendix A.	Meta-analysis of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE)	
checklist		3
Appendix B.	Preferred Reporting Item for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analysis	
(PRISMA) gu	100 uidelines	)
Appendix C.	Study eligibility criteria	3
Appendix D.	Search strategies	5
Appendix E.	Data abstraction form	)
Appendix F.	Downs and Black checklist for study quality11	5
Appendix G. association be	Forest plots of meta-analyses of observational studies investigating the etween shift work and cardiovascular outcomes	)
Appendix H.	Data on covariates for meta-regression analyses 12:	5

#### **1** Overview of objectives

The objective of this thesis is to evaluate whether and to what extent shift work is associated with an increased risk for cardiovascular disease. We conducted a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies that met our eligibility criteria. We defined shift work as any work schedule other than day shifts, and cardiovascular disease included both morbidity and mortality. We also assessed whether overall mortality in shift workers was higher. We appraised the quality of evidence by considering the validity, applicability, heterogeneity and precision of included studies, following recommendations by the Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation (GRADE) Working Group.<sup>1</sup>

# 2 Scope of the problem

Ischemic heart disease and cerebrovascular disease are the leading causes of death worldwide. In 2008, more than 23% of all deaths were attributed to these two conditions.<sup>2</sup> Moreover, they accounted for 48% of all deaths from non-communicable diseases. The incidence of these conditions is gradually decreasing in high income countries, but rising swiftly in developing countries.<sup>3</sup> According to World Health Organization statistics, heart disease, stroke and diabetes mellitus are estimated to reduce gross domestic product between 1 and 5% in low- and middle-income countries experiencing rapid economic growth.<sup>2</sup> In Canada, heart disease and cerebrovascular disease were responsible for 27% of all deaths in 2008, making them the second most common cause of death in Canada after cancer.<sup>4</sup>

One strategy for reducing the burden of non-communicable diseases is risk factor identification and management. For cardiovascular disease, age, sex and family history are non-modifiable risk factors. Conversely, hypertension, diabetes mellitus, dyslipidemia, smoking, obesity and physical inactivity are modifiable risk factors.<sup>5</sup> The management of the latter has improved substantially over the past four decades, decreasing cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in developed countries.<sup>6</sup> Yet the economic costs of cardiovascular disease and cerebrovascular disease remain staggering.<sup>7</sup> Estimated costs of heart disease and stroke, which include physician services, hospital costs, lost wages and decreased productivity, was \$20.9 billion in Canada in 2005 alone. These are estimated to reach \$28.3 billion in 2020.<sup>7</sup> Total costs are higher in the United States with *annual* expenses expected to increase to \$470.3 billion in 2020 from \$272.5 billion in 2010.<sup>8</sup> Given these figures, there is considerable need to implement measures that further reduce disease incidence.

Concomitantly, the rate of decline of cardiovascular disease incidence in developed countries has slowed.<sup>9</sup> A rapidly aging population, particularly but not exclusively in developed nations, poses increasing burdens to already harried health-care systems.<sup>9</sup> Attempts to decrease the incidence of cardiovascular disease, which encompasses heart disease and cerebrovascular disease, have led researchers to search for hitherto unrecognized cardiovascular risk factors. One such risk factor of growing concern is work environment.<sup>10</sup> On average, full-time working individuals spend roughly 8 hours at work, which constitutes about one third of their day.<sup>11</sup> Various exposures at work, work-stress in particular, have been identified as predictors of cardiovascular disease.<sup>12</sup> Shift work, a specific type of work schedule, is increasingly recognized as a cardiovascular risk factor.

## **3** Definition of shift work

In 1990, the International Labour Organization defined working in shifts as "a method of organization of working time in which workers succeed one another at the workplace so that the establishment can operate longer than the hours of work of individual workers."<sup>13</sup> The inception of shift work dates back to the advent of the Industrial Revolution. The shift system was introduced to allow manufacturing companies to work around the clock. This transformation in working hours began with the typical three-shift schedule: morning, evening and night shift. Over time, new shift work schedules have been introduced to meet the demands of a growing, post-industrialized economy. The classification of various shifts as reported in the General Social Survey (2005), conducted by Statistics Canada is as follows:

- a. <u>evening shift</u> starts late in the afternoon or evening and ends before midnight.
- b. <u>night shift</u> starts close to midnight with work overnight and ends early in the

morning.

- c. <u>rotating shift</u> workers keep rotating between morning, evening and night shifts. The rotation can be either clockwise or counter-clockwise. A clockwise (forward) rotation changes from morning to afternoon to night, while the counter-clockwise (backward) rotation changes from afternoon to morning to night. The time period on a particular shift may vary depending on the workplace.
- d. <u>split shifts</u> the shift is divided into two or more distinct periods (for example, 8 to 10 a.m. and 4 to 6 p.m. for pre- and post-school programs).
- e. <u>on call or casual</u> there is no prearranged schedule and workers are called to work when a need arises (e.g. supply teachers or "home call" for physicians).
- f. <u>irregular shifts</u> the shifts change, but they are prearranged a week or two in advance (e.g. commercial airline pilots).
- g. <u>other shifts</u> all other shifts that are not "day" work, but cannot be grouped in any of the above categories.

Shift work is generally defined as working in any shift other than the regular day shift beginning around 9 a.m. ( $\pm$  2 hours) and ending around 5 p.m. ( $\pm$  2 hours). We will consider this "exclusionary" principle to be our definition of shift work, unless otherwise specified.

#### 4 Prevalence of shift work

Due to economic growth and globalization, many industries have adopted different shift work strategies to cater to the needs of consumers. According to the third European Union Survey on Working Conditions (2000), conducted among 15 European countries, only 27% of the sample population were so called 'standard daytime workers' who were not (a) working more than 40 h/week, (b) working more than 10 h/day, (c) working in shifts, (d) working at night, (e) working on Sunday, (f) working part-time, or (g) working on Saturday.<sup>14</sup> In the United States, the Bureau of Labour Statistics (2004) reported that 14.8% of full-time salaried workers were shift workers, amounting to some 14,767,144 individuals.<sup>15</sup> The proportion of shift work was higher in males than in females (16.7% vs. 12.4%). The prevalence of shift work was greatest among workers in service

occupations, such as protective services (50.6%) – which include police, firefighters and security guards – and food preparation and serving (40.4%); and among those employed in production, transportation, and material moving occupations (26.2%).

In Canada, the proportion of shift workers increased from 22% in 1992 to 28% in 1998 and slipped back to 25% in 2005.<sup>16</sup> These estimates were obtained from a target population employed full time (i.e. > 30 hours/week) and excluded students. People holding part time jobs are more likely to work shifts, as are students.<sup>16</sup> These exclusions suggest that survey data underestimate the true prevalence of shift work in Canadian workers.

The manufacturing industry is no longer the only industry in which shift work is required. According to the General Social Survey (2005), conducted by Statistics Canada, the proportion of shift workers was highest in the "Accommodation and food services industries", with 52.7% of workers in these industries working in shifts.<sup>16</sup> "Transportation" and "warehousing" were other large sectors, with 39.5% and 37.7% employed as shift workers, respectively. Whereas the service industry had a high percentage of shift workers, manufacturing industries still had the highest total number of shift workers (Table 1).

According to the Survey of Labour and Income Dynamics (2005), more men work in the manufacturing industry than women. By contrast, the health care and social assistance sectors have the highest total number of female shift workers.<sup>17</sup> For workers employed in law enforcement, hospital medicine and emergency services, working in shifts is crucial. Economic development coupled with rapid globalization has created conditions in which service and retail industries work around the clock as well. Many jobs that were once day jobs now require some form of shift work. The prevalence of shift work is therefore likely to increase.<sup>18</sup>

Unfortunately, the rise in shift work is a consequence of the demands of society. These demands will increase in the future particularly in low- and middle-income countries with rapidly developing economies. Thus, the population exposed to shift work is growing. According to the 2000-2001 Canadian Community Health Survey, over 50% of shift

workers in Canada reported having "no choice" but to work in shifts to remain employed.<sup>19</sup> It follows that shift work is an unavoidable consequence of the current economy.

# 5 Shift work and "the economic benefit"

Shift work has a macroeconomic advantage as it helps to reduce unemployment in a region by increasing the availability of employment opportunities. As previously mentioned, for many individuals, the choice is between shift work and no work at all, and so shift work allows such individuals to be gainfully employed.<sup>19</sup>

Table 1. Full-time workers aged 19 to 64 by industry and shift work status inCanada

	Total	Regular	Shift
Industry	workers	day work	work
	<b>'000</b>	%	%
Agriculture, forestry, fishing and hunting	230	65	35
Mining, oil and extraction	302	68	33
Utilities	121	90	10
Construction	888	84	16
Manufacturing	1,717	73	27
Trade	1,716	74	26
Transportation and warehousing	650	61	40
Finance and insurance	904	82	18
Professional, scientific and technical	1,079	87	13
Business, building and other support	448	64	36
Educational services	817	90	11
Health care and social-assistance	1,272	68	32
Information, culture and recreation	607	62	38
Accommodation and food	620	47	53
Other services	544	76	24
Public administration	831	81	19

Adapted from Statistics Canada, General Social Survey, 2005<sup>16</sup>

From a corporation's perspective, an important reason for shift work is increased

profitability. Some companies in the services sector benefit from being able to provide services around the clock rather than for just a few hours per day (consider, for example, international mail courier companies traversing numerous time zones, day or night). In a competitive marketplace, this makes them desirable choices for consumers, in turn increasing profits by employing an effective shift system.

In a manufacturing company, machines used for the production of goods have a stipulated life span whereby, over time, current machines will be replaced by newer machines due to improvements in technology. Given this condition, a rational enterprise will seek to maximize profit on its capital investment in machinery by using these machines to their maximum "life span". The shift system allows these companies to do so and simultaneously increases the productivity of a factory by utilizing space and resources at "off times" (such as overnight) instead of running two separate factories. Therefore, corporate entities are able to decrease the production costs of their products while increasing returns on their capital investments, thereby increasing profits.

The economic advantage of shift work also extends to workers because they receive premiums or extra pay for working in shifts. However, a survey conducted by the United States Bureau of Labour Statistics in 2004 suggested that only 6.8% shift workers worked in shifts for better pay while 54.6% worked in shifts because it was "the nature of their job".<sup>15</sup> Hence, the choice to work in shifts among workers is not necessarily based on economic gains, unlike that of the companies that hire these workers. Unfortunately, shift workers constitute a population at risk for a number of health problems.<sup>19</sup> We now discuss the impact of shift work on general health.

#### 6 Shift work and short-term effects

The ability to adapt to shift work varies for different individuals. Many shift workers develop adverse effects in the short-term.<sup>20</sup>

# 6.1 Sleep disturbance

A major concern for shift workers is poor sleep quality and quantity, due to circadian rhythm disruption and sociological factors. Shift workers, particularly those working in

evening and rotating shifts, are more likely to cut back on sleep to find time to spend with their family.<sup>16</sup> The time of work and the type of rotation are also important factors affecting sleep habits and sleep hygiene in shift workers. Permanent night shift workers may sleep less than day workers because the level of noise and number of distractions during the day are more common than those at night. Permanent evening shift workers, on the contrary, do not seem to have this problem.<sup>21</sup> Those who work in rotating shifts, irrespective of night or evening hours, find it difficult to adjust to changing schedules, thereby resulting in sleep deprivation.<sup>22</sup> Sleep quality is also affected due to disruptions in sleep pattern and reduced sleep length.<sup>23</sup> As a result of poor sleep, shift workers report higher levels of sleepiness during work, especially night shifts.<sup>24</sup> Sleepiness in shift workers is hazardous as it increases the risk of accidents.<sup>25</sup> The well-publicized workplace catastrophes occurring at Bhopal, Chernobyl and Three Mile Island are evidence of industrial accidents due to human error occurring during night shifts. For professionals like nurses or physicians, working under varying shifts, night work in particular may have negative consequences on the quality of patient care as well as the prognosis of their patients' conditions.<sup>26</sup>

#### 6.2 Psychosocial problems

Effective work-life balance can be difficult to achieve at the best of times; however, having a regular work schedule or some control over shift scheduling makes it easier to achieve this balance.<sup>27</sup> Indeed, those working on-call or in irregular shifts have significantly higher dissatisfaction with their work-life balance in comparison to day workers.<sup>16</sup> The reasons for dissatisfaction are multiple. Spousal working time is one factor that affects work-life balance. Shift workers whose partners are employed part-time are likely to have less satisfaction with their work-life balance than shift workers whose partners are not in the labour force or are day workers.<sup>16</sup> Overall satisfaction levels are considerably lower when both individuals are employed in shift work.<sup>16</sup>

Work-life imbalance often affects psychosocial health. A prospective study following 4,947 male workers of 45 different organizations in Netherlands from 1998 to 2008, reported an adjusted hazard ratio of 1.22 (95% confidence interval 1.02 to 1.46) for

developing depressed mood in shift workers when compared with day workers.<sup>28</sup> Similar results were obtained in a cross-sectional study of US workers.<sup>29</sup> In addition, a longitudinal study over a period of 10 years (1995 to 2005), based on the British Household Panel Survey, reported that men who worked night shifts for more than 4 years were 6 times more likely to report anxiety or depression than day workers (odds ratio 6.08, 95% confidence interval 2.06 to 17.92).<sup>30</sup> The cause for psychological problems in shift workers was attributed to psychosocial work-related factors, lack of social support and limited social interactions because of their working hours.

#### 7 Shift work and long-term effects

Ample literature suggests that shift work is associated with long-term health consequences.<sup>31</sup>

# 7.1 Gastrointestinal health

The perils of shift work are not restricted to psychosocial health but also include various digestive system disorders. Several cross-sectional studies compared self-reported gastrointestinal symptoms in shift workers and day workers and found a significant increase in such complaints in shift workers.<sup>32-34</sup> A study of 399 American nurses reported a higher risk of irritable bowel syndrome in nurses on rotating shift work compared to nurses working in day shifts (adjusted odds ratio 2.14, 95% confidence interval 1.14 to 3.03).<sup>35</sup> The risk of peptic ulcer disease in permanent night workers was increased when compared to day workers (age-adjusted relative risk 2.00, 95% confidence interval 1.49 to 2.67) in a cohort study that followed 12,127 workers for 18 months.<sup>36</sup> The reasons for digestive system dysfunction in shift workers are not entirely known, but possible mechanisms include abnormal eating habits because of irregular working hours<sup>37</sup>, decreased gut defence increasing the risk of Helicobacter pylori infection<sup>38</sup>, and disruption of the biological clock<sup>39</sup>.

# 7.2 Cancer

The effect of shift work on breast cancer, especially in nurses, has been studied extensively. A meta-analysis to ascertain the effect of night work on breast cancer, based

on six observational studies, found a significantly increased risk of breast cancer in women working at night compared to those working during the day (summary relative risk 1.51, 95% confidence interval 1.36 to 1.68).<sup>40</sup>

The prospective Japan Collaborative Cohort study found that prostate cancer was increased significantly in rotating shift workers after adjusting for potential confounders (relative risk 3.0, 95% confidence interval 1.2 to 7.7).<sup>41</sup> However, for night workers, the increase in risk was not statistically significant (relative risk 2.3, 95% confidence interval 0.6 to 9.2).<sup>41</sup> A Canadian case-control study showed that prostate cancer increased in full-time rotating shift workers compared to day workers (odds ratio 1.19, 95% confidence interval 1.00 to 1.42).<sup>42</sup> However, a recent retrospective cohort study did not find a significant increase in prostate cancer (odds ratio 1.79, 95% confidence interval 0.57 to 5.68) when comparing rotating shift workers to day workers.<sup>43</sup> Therefore, the evidence on the risk of prostate cancer in shift workers is inconclusive.

Shift work has also been associated with colon cancer, ovarian cancer, endometrial cancer and skin cancer.<sup>44-47</sup> In 2007, after a comprehensive review of literature, the International Agency for Research on Cancer classified 'shift work that involves circadian disruption' as a probable human carcinogen, group 2A.<sup>48</sup> This report suggested that the risk of cancer increases as the number of years of shift work increases. Work at night involving light exposure may cause suppression of melatonin production.<sup>49</sup> Melatonin acts against cancer through multiple pathways involved in cancer cell proliferation and survival.<sup>50</sup>

#### 7.3 **Reproductive health**

Women employed in shift work, night work in particular, have a higher risk of pregnancy loss than their counterparts working in day shifts.<sup>51</sup> Shift work is also believed to increase the risk of preterm births.<sup>52, 53</sup> Shift work may affect fetal growth, increasing the risk of having infants with low birth weight and small-for-gestational-age babies.<sup>52, 54, 53</sup> A recent meta-analysis pooling risk estimates from observational studies concluded that women working in shifts have a higher risk of preterm delivery (relative risk 1.16, 95% confidence interval 1.00 to 1.33) and low birth weight infants (relative risk 1.27, 95%

confidence interval 1.03 to 1.22) when compared to day-working women.<sup>55</sup> The cause of these adverse outcomes is not completely understood but circadian rhythm disruption leading to hormonal imbalance may be an important contributing factor.<sup>56</sup>

A multi-centre study undertaken in seven European countries studied the effect of shift work on subfecundity, defined as time of unprotected intercourse of  $\geq$  9 months to get pregnant. The odds ratio of subfecundity in women working in rotating shifts compared to day workers was 1.3 (95% confidence interval 0.9 to 1.3) for the population-based sample vs. 2.0 (95% confidence interval 1.4 to 2.8) for the pregnancy-based sample, where women were recruited during their prenatal visit to the hospital.<sup>57</sup> For men, the risk of subfecundity was the same in rotating shift and day workers.<sup>57</sup> Hormonal disturbance directly due to circadian disruption or indirectly due to psychological stress is the suggested mechanism for impaired fecundity in shift workers.<sup>58</sup> However, subsequent studies have not found an association between shift work and reduced fecundity.<sup>58, 59</sup>

### 7.4 Cardiovascular risk factors

The American Heart Association has identified the following as major independent risk factors for coronary heart disease: advancing age, male sex, cigarette smoking of any amount, elevated blood pressure, elevated serum total cholesterol and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, low high-density lipoprotein cholesterol and diabetes mellitus.<sup>5</sup> This section will discuss the known associations between shift work and these risk factors.

#### Obesity

Obesity is a worldwide epidemic affecting more than 300 million adults.<sup>60</sup> Obesity increases the risk of having abnormal lipid metabolism, diabetes mellitus, metabolic syndrome, hypertension, cardiovascular disease and mortality.<sup>61</sup> Di Lorenzo and colleagues studied the effect of shift work on the risk of obesity using a cross-sectional survey involving anthropometric measurements of 319 glucose-tolerant workers in a chemical industry in Italy.<sup>62</sup> They found that shift workers were significantly more likely

to be obese than day workers (20% vs. 9.7%, P < 0.05).<sup>62</sup> The association was significant after adjusting for age and fasting insulin level. Several other studies have also found a higher prevalence of obesity among shift-working individuals.<sup>63, 64</sup> A study of 377 Dutch workers found that for every year of shift work, body mass index increased by 0.12 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (P = 0.036), adjusted for multiple confounders.<sup>65</sup> In a longitudinal study of 7,254 Japanese workers, with a 14-year follow-up period, the odds of developing obesity in shift workers was significantly increased. The odds ratios for 5%, 7.5% and 10% increases in body mass index for workers in alternating shifts vs. day workers were 1.14 (95% confidence interval 1.06 to 1.23), 1.13 (95% confidence interval 1.03 to 1.24) and 1.13 (95% confidence interval 1.00 to 1.28), respectively.<sup>66</sup>

Multiple reasons are proposed for the increased risk of obesity in shift workers. Lack of physical activity appears to be important.<sup>67</sup> However, it is not a sole contributor as a large number of shift workers are blue-collar workers employed in manufacturing jobs that involve considerable physical activity, which requires a certain amount of physical fitness. Working at night is associated with poor dietary habits that involve eating unhealthy food and irregular meal frequency, both of which are associated with the risk of obesity.<sup>68</sup> The circadian disruption caused by shift work is also associated with disturbed intestinal rhythm that may lead to a higher likelihood of developing obesity.<sup>69</sup>

#### **Diabetes mellitus**

Of the two types of diabetes mellitus, type 2 diabetes is of particular concern as it occurs at a later age when the likelihood of having other cardiovascular risk factors increases.<sup>5</sup> Most cross-sectional studies have reported no difference in the prevalence of diabetes between shift workers and day workers.<sup>62, 70, 71</sup> However, Suwazono et al. followed 5,629 Japanese steel industry workers for 10 years and reported an odds ratio of 1.35 (95% confidence interval 1.05 to 1.75) for developing type 2 diabetes, ascertained as glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA1c) level  $\geq$  6.0%, for rotating shift workers in comparison to day workers.<sup>72</sup> In contrast, a longitudinal study of Japanese blue-collar workers found a statistically non-significant increase in the risk of type 2 diabetes in shift workers when compared to day workers.<sup>73</sup> Recently, Pan and colleagues studied the effects of shift work on the incidence of type 2 diabetes, ascertained by self-reported questionnaire, using data from two prospective cohort studies, the Nurses' Health Studies I (1988 to 2008) and II (1989 to 2007), including data from 177,184 nurses in the analysis.<sup>74</sup> They reported a pooled across-study adjusted hazard ratio for developing type 2 diabetes for every five years of rotating shift work of 1.05 (95% confidence interval 1.04 to 1.06), suggesting a dose-response relation for shift work and type 2 diabetes.

# Dyslipidemia

Serum levels of total cholesterol, high-density lipoprotein (HDL), low-density lipoprotein (LDL) and triglycerides are markers of lipid metabolism in the body, and abnormal lipid metabolism is an important risk factor for coronary heart disease. Nakamura et al. (1997) studied Japanese blue-collar workers cross-sectionally by conducting health check-ups for workers to determine their risk for coronary heart disease. The authors reported higher levels of serum total cholesterol, but not triglycerides, among rotating shift workers in comparison to day workers.<sup>75</sup> In a cross-sectional study conducted in Sweden, Karlsson and colleagues found that working in a three-shift schedule was associated with low HDL cholesterol (odds ratio 2.03, 95% confidence interval 1.18 to 3.28) and high triglycerides (odds ratio 1.40, 95% confidence interval 1.08 to 1.83), after adjusting for potential confounders.<sup>71</sup> A retrospective cohort study involving 5,510 Japanese steel workers reported an adjusted odds ratio of 1.10 (95% confidence interval 1.00 to 1.21) for hypercholesterolemia among shift workers involved in three-shift rotating work, in comparison to the day workers.<sup>76</sup> Analysis of the same cohort found that the threshold number of years of shift work that caused a 5% increase in total cholesterol was 21 years.<sup>77</sup>

## Hypertension

A recent study demonstrated that deleting the sleep-regulating Cry 1 and Cry 2 circadian clock genes in mice causes hyperaldosteronism, in turn causing salt-sensitive hypertension.<sup>78</sup> A prospective cohort study led by Morikawa et al. followed manual male workers of a zipper-and-sash factory in Japan for five years. The incidence of hypertension (defined as systolic blood pressure  $\geq$  140 mmHg or diastolic blood pressure

 $\geq$  90 mmHg at annual health examination, or initiation of anti-hypertensive medications) increased in rotating shift workers when compared to day workers for employees aged 18 to 29 (relative risk 3.6, 95% confidence interval 1.4 to 9.1).<sup>79</sup> A prospective cohort study with a 10-year follow-up demonstrated that the incidence of hypertension in male Japanese steel factory workers, aged 15 to 65 years, increased in rotating shift workers in comparison to day workers (odds ratio 1.10, 95% confidence interval 1.01 to 1.20).<sup>80</sup> Similarly, a 14-year retrospective cohort study of Japanese workers found that both systolic and diastolic blood pressure increased in shift workers compared to day workers.<sup>81</sup>

Apart from the increased risk of incident hypertension, shift work also increases the severity of hypertension in patients with mild hypertension.<sup>82</sup> Shift work changes the diurnal variation of blood pressure from a dipper to non-dipper status in patients with hypertension (the normal nocturnal fall in BP does not occur or, if it does occur, is very small).<sup>83</sup> The non-dipper status carries a higher risk of morbidity as it is associated with end-organ damage, and increases the incidence of cardiovascular events and mortality.<sup>84, 85</sup> Of note, hypertension has the highest attributable risk for incidence of stroke and ischemic heart disease mortality of all cardiovascular risk factors.<sup>86, 87</sup>

#### Metabolic syndrome

A joint consensus statement unifying various clinical definitions for metabolic syndrome defined the metabolic syndrome as the presence of at least three of the following five traits: abdominal obesity; elevated triglycerides and/or small dense LDL cholesterol; reduced HDL cholesterol; hypertension; and elevated fasting glucose levels.<sup>88</sup>

A nested case-control study of 6,712 men and women found that shift workers had higher odds of developing metabolic syndrome than day workers (odds ratio 1.87, 95% confidence interval 1.13 to 3.08).<sup>89</sup> Analysis of data from 738 nurses, both male and female, followed for four years showed that the hazard ratio of developing metabolic syndrome was 5.01 (95% confidence interval 2.15 to 12.11) in night workers compared with day workers.<sup>90</sup> Furthermore, a prospective cohort study of 1,529 Belgian employees with a median follow-up of 6.6 years found that the odds ratio of developing metabolic

syndrome in shift workers vs. day workers was 1.46 (95% confidence interval 1.04 to 2.07) after adjusting for various confounders. A systematic review of the literature that included nine studies, three longitudinal and six cross-sectional, concluded that shift work can lead to metabolic syndrome.<sup>31</sup> However, the magnitude of the association was not reported.

Summarizing the literature, an association between shift work and various cardiovascular risk factors does exist. There is considerable variation in the magnitude of the effect and the association varies by the type of shift work studied. The following section will examine the role of possible confounding factors that should be considered when evaluating the association between shift work and cardiovascular events.

# 8 Potential confounders

Koepsell and Weiss state, "Confounding occurs in epidemiological research when the measured association between an exposure and disease occurrence is distorted by an imbalance between exposed and non-exposed persons with regards to one or more other risk factors for the disease."<sup>91</sup>

# 8.1 Age

It is important to adjust for age when studying cardiovascular disease, because of its relative potency as a predictor of cardiovascular events.<sup>92</sup> With aging, the walls of blood vessels lose elasticity resulting in reduced arterial compliance and increased risk for cardiovascular disease. The distribution of age varies across populations and hence adjusting for age or standardizing by age permits a comparison across different populations. In many, but not all economic sectors, shift workers are relatively younger than day workers.<sup>19</sup>

# 8.2 Sex

The biological pathways governing cardiovascular disease between males and females may differ. More males work as shift workers than females with the exception of certain occupations such as nurses.<sup>16</sup> Hence, it is important to model the effect of sex when

studying the risk of cardiovascular disease in shift workers.

#### 8.3 Socioeconomic status

Socioeconomic status acts as a proxy or composite measure for various underlying factors. Education, income, occupation, geographic locale, living conditions and income inequality are some individual-level risk factors covered under this term. Education and economic status of parents; education and economic status of spouse or life partner; and availability of resources and opportunities for work are external factors that affect the socioeconomic status of an individual. Different ways exist to measure socioeconomic status and these vary from study to study. Each measure has its own limitations and captures a different aspect of socioeconomic status. These measures are certainly correlated but not necessarily interchangeable when considering their effects on health.<sup>93, 94</sup>

Post-secondary education is a prerequisite for most professional workers. Those who do not obtain post-secondary education are likely to be employed as blue-collar workers in comparison to those who do. Blue-collar jobs in factories are likely to have shift system arrangements. Therefore, limited educational attainment increases an individual's likelihood of taking up shift work, yet it is independently related to health numeracy and literacy that are independent risk factors for cardiovascular disease and mortality.<sup>95</sup> Conversely, in the health care industry, higher education is required for a job as a registered nurse or a physician; both professions often involve some degree of shift work. Therefore, the correlation of education with shift work for nurses and other health care providers may be reversed contrary to that for blue-collar workers.

The literature review by Kaplan and Keil concluded that a strong relation exists between socioeconomic status and all-cause mortality.<sup>96</sup> The authors reported that a consistent inverse relationship between various socioeconomic status indicators and cardiovascular disease also exists.<sup>96</sup> A review on observational studies using a life course approach reported that low socioeconomic status in early life and subsequent low socioeconomic status are consistently associated with a higher burden of cardiovascular risk factors and cardiovascular morbidity.<sup>97</sup> Socioeconomic status is also an established risk factor for cerebrovascular disease, especially stroke.<sup>98, 99</sup> Individuals with low socioeconomic

status are less aware of healthy eating habits and in many instances, they cannot afford healthy eating.<sup>100</sup> They may not have full access to insured health care services or may not use these services as often as others may; thus, their first contact with the health care system may occur at a later stage in disease development, by which time preventive measures are no longer applicable.

Thus, socioeconomic status is related to both shift work and cardiovascular disease and so should be considered as a confounder when evaluating the association of shift work with cardiovascular disease.

## 8.4 Smoking

Smoking of any amount is recognized as an important risk factor for cardiovascular disease.<sup>5</sup> A systematic review of literature conducted by Boggild and Knutsson found a higher prevalence of smoking in shift workers in six of thirteen cross-sectional studies, while the remaining studies did not find statistically significant increases in smoking prevalence.<sup>101</sup> Given the known association of smoking and cardiovascular disease, if smoking is associated with shift work, its effect should be adjusted for when studying shift work and cardiovascular disease.<sup>91</sup> In a prospective study, van Amelsvoort and colleagues followed a group of non-smoking Dutch workers for two years (N = 5743).<sup>102</sup> Over the course of 2 years, 213 workers (3.7% of total sample) took up smoking. The odds ratio of taking up smoking in shift workers vs. day workers was 1.46 (95% confidence interval 1.05 to 2.03), after adjusting for age, education level, sex, job demands and decision latitude, suggesting that smoking can be a consequence of shift work and not merely associated with shift work. While taking up cigarette smoking was one outcome of interest in this study, the authors also studied whether work schedule affected rates of quitting smoking. They found that shift workers were somewhat less likely to quit smoking when compared to day workers, although this result was not statistically significant (odds ratio 0.91, 95% confidence interval 0.67 to 1.23).

In another study quantifying the amount of cigarette smoking, shift-working smokers were found to smoke more cigarettes per day than day-working smokers.<sup>103</sup> Nabe-Nielsen et al. conducted a prospective study to understand the association of smoking and

shift work.<sup>104</sup> Smoking status of 2,826 social and health care helpers or assistants was assessed at baseline, a few weeks before completion of their education. Their shift work status was ascertained through a follow-up questionnaire one year later. Individuals who were identified as smokers at baseline were likely to work in fixed-night or fixed-evening shifts, adjusting for various personal and familial factors that can act as confounders (odds ratio 1.56 [95% confidence interval 1.21 to 2.02] and odds ratio 1.64 [95% confidence interval 1.04 to 2.56], respectively).<sup>104</sup>

The association of shift work and smoking is complex. Smoking may act both as a confounder and as a mediator. Adjusting for socioeconomic class, which is somewhat related to smoking status, does not fully adjust for the effect of smoking. Intrinsic differences between shift and day workers in lifestyle habits might explain the higher prevalence and incidence of smoking among shift workers.

#### 8.5 Alcohol

Drinking alcohol in moderation may have a protective association with the risk of cardiovascular disease.<sup>105</sup> Most studies that have studied differences in alcohol consumption between shift and day workers are cross-sectional. These studies did not consistently find a statistically significant difference in alcohol consumption between exposed and unexposed groups.<sup>106, 107</sup> For example, Romelsjo et al. found that male shift workers in Stockholm were more likely to be heavy drinkers (35 g 100% ethanol per day or more) in comparison to day workers (odds ratio 2.22, 95% confidence interval 1.11 to 4.45) after adjusting for age, education level and living alone/cohabitation status.<sup>75</sup> This association was reversed for female shift workers, although it was statistically non-significant (odds ratio 0.61, 95% confidence interval 0.08 to 4.61).

Unlike smoking, alcohol consumption does not have a linear relationship with cardiovascular risk. The association of shift work and alcohol consumption is not well established. Thus, others have concluded that alcohol consumption does not play a major role in the association of shift work with cardiovascular disease.<sup>101</sup>

#### 8.6 Job type

We defined blue-collar workers as those who perform primarily physical work and whose career paths are relatively restricted and white-collar workers as professional and semiprofessional employees.<sup>108</sup> Blue-collar work carries risk that in concert with shift work may lead to an increase in the risk of cardiovascular disease. This claim, although studied extensively, has not yet been definitively established. The Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA) involving 6,814 participants, showed an increased risk of premature atherosclerosis, ascertained as an increase in the mean common carotid artery intima-media thickness, in blue-collar workers after adjusting for age, sex and race/ethnicity (mean difference = 0.22 mm, P < 0.001). However, the association became statistically non-significant when cardiovascular risk factors, income and education were co-adjusted.<sup>109</sup> Chen et al. conducted a hospital-based, case-control study in Taiwan, matching 119 cases of first non-fatal myocardial infarction to 238 controls with no known history of myocardial infarction. They reported an odds ratio of 5.3 (95% confidence interval 1.5 to 18.5) for developing myocardial infarction in blue-collar workers vs. white-collar workers.<sup>110</sup> On the contrary, no significant difference in mortality due to coronary disease or stroke was found between white-collar and bluecollar workers in the Honolulu Heart Program.<sup>111</sup>

In conclusion, age, sex, socioeconomic status and smoking status should be considered as confounding variables for the association of shift work with cardiovascular disease.

# 9 Shift work and cardiovascular disease

#### 9.1 Surrogate markers of cardiovascular disease

The major pathologic changes that lead to cardiovascular disease are atherosclerosis and thrombosis. A crossover study of 36 female nurses found that coronary blood flow decreases when nurses work night shifts in comparison to when they work day shifts.<sup>112</sup> This suggests that shift work leads to hemodynamic imbalance in the coronary circulation. In a study by Puttonen et al., young Finnish males employed in shift work had a higher odds of having carotid plaque (odds ratio 2.08, 95% confidence interval 1.04

to 4.18), when compared to those working in day shifts, after adjusting for multiple confounders.<sup>113</sup> Similarly, mean intima-media thickness was higher in shift workers than day workers (mean difference 0.03 mm, P = 0.022). Intima-media thickness is a well-established predictor of vascular events and atherosclerosis, suggesting that male shift workers have a higher burden of cardiovascular morbidity.<sup>114</sup> In a study involving 184 Taiwanese bus drivers, brachial-ankle pulse wave velocity was higher among bus drivers who did shift work in comparison to those who did not, suggesting increased arterial stiffness in shift workers.<sup>115</sup> In another study, a trend for a lower % flow mediated dilatation (*P* value = 0.08), assessed using ultrasound, was observed among shift compared to non-shift workers.<sup>116</sup> The literature also suggests that other biomarkers of vascular disease, such as C-reactive protein, leukocyte count, homocysteine and peripheral arterial tone, are increased among shift workers.<sup>117-119</sup>

Therefore, existing evidence suggests that surrogate markers of atherosclerosis are increased as a result of shift work.

# 9.2 Mechanisms underlying the cardiovascular effects of shift work

Shift work is associated with various physiological and psychological changes. Figure 1 illustrates the pathways by which shift work potentially affects cardiovascular risk. Most of these have been discussed earlier. Circadian rhythm is also an important predictor of cardiovascular risk.

Circadian rhythm is an internally driven rhythm that governs production of hormones including melatonin, cortisol, prolactin and growth hormones, as well as various other functions (e.g. core body temperature, blood pressure and sleep-wakefulness) during the 24 hours of a day.<sup>18</sup> The suprachiasmatic nucleus of the hypothalamus is the main site that maintains the circadian rhythm of the body. Various other biological clocks are located locally in different tissues that are responsible for regulation of rhythms at the tissue level.<sup>120</sup> Circadian control maintains normal physiology and so circadian disruption may lead to disease. The risk of acute coronary and cerebrovascular episodes, such as angina and intracerebral haemorrhage, is pronounced in the morning hours.<sup>121, 122</sup> The results of a meta-analysis suggest that the risk of onset of acute myocardial infarction

is 40% higher in the morning hours and that of sudden cardiac death is 1.3 times higher.<sup>123</sup> About 9% cases of acute myocardial infarctions are attributed to the circadian wave.<sup>123</sup>



Figure 1. Underlying mechanisms for cardiovascular disease in shift workers



Light is a major synchronizing factor for circadian rhythm in humans.<sup>124</sup> Shift work leads to circadian disruption because of rapidly changing and conflicting light-dark exposure and activity-rest behaviour. The effects of circadian disruption as reported in studies that used various animal models include weight gain and altered hormonal metabolism.<sup>125</sup> In addition, cardiovascular risk factors such as diabetes and hypertension are likely to occur after circadian disruption.<sup>126, 127</sup> A recent animal study conducted by Martino et al. demonstrated that circadian misalignment alters *per2* and *bmal* cellular clock mechanisms causing reduced contractility, increased blood pressure and myocardial fibrosis.<sup>128</sup> This study also observed conversion of these mechanisms back to normal with resynchronization of circadian rhythm. A single shift work type that causes the least chronodisruption has not been identified yet.<sup>129</sup> However, night and rotating types of shift work may be associated with a higher risk than others.<sup>67</sup> As well, disturbed sleep and insomnia, which are likely with rotating and night shift work types, are associated with a higher risk of myocardial infarction.<sup>24, 130</sup>

# 9.3 Cardiovascular outcomes of interest

In order to draw conclusions that are clinically relevant and easily interpretable, we divided the broad concept of circulatory disease as defined in the International Classification of Disease version 10 (ICD-10) into clinically relevant outcomes as follows:

a. <u>Myocardial Infarction</u> [ICD-10 I21-25]. This includes acute and chronic myocardial infarction along with its attendant complications (e.g. ruptured chordae tendinae and others). Both fatal and non-fatal infarctions are included. In most studies, these were classified using the World Health Organization definition of myocardial infarction, based on typical symptoms, cardiac biomarker changes and electrocardiographic changes.

b. <u>All coronary events</u> [ICD-10 I20-125]. This includes angina and myocardial infarction along with complications as a result of infarction. Under this group, we included both morbidity (e.g. hospitalization) and death due to any of these events.

c. <u>Coronary deaths</u> [ICD-10 I20-I25]. This included deaths due to coronary disease as determined by death certificate, autopsy or medical records.
d. <u>Ischemic stroke</u> [ICD-10 I63]. This includes cerebral infarction due to occlusion of cerebral arteries arising as a result of embolism or thrombosis. Both fatal and non-fatal ischemic strokes were included under this definition. In studies with this outcome, strokes were confirmed using a combination of neuroimaging and/or autopsy results.

e. <u>Cerebrovascular deaths</u> [ICD-10 I60-I69]. This includes deaths due to any cerebrovascular cause including intracerebral hemorrhage, ischemic stroke and subarachnoid haemorrhage, as defined by death certificate, autopsy, or medical records.

f. Cardiovascular events [ICD-10 I00-I99]. This includes all circulatory diseases.

g. <u>Cardiovascular deaths</u> [ICD-10 I00-I99]. Only deaths due to circulatory disease were included in this. For ease of clinical interpretation, we kept this group separate from the coronary events, although it should be noted that coronary deaths are one subtype of circulatory death.

h. <u>All-cause mortality</u>. This represents death from any cause.

#### 10 Challenges with shift work research

#### **10.1** Lack of randomized controlled trials

One hurdle with shift work as an exposure is that it is dynamic and dependent. It depends on more than one factor. Factors determining a shift system at any given workplace include the resources available for the shift system, demand for services provided or goods produced, and the micro- and macro-economic environment in which it is nested. Individual factors determining shift work are willingness to work in shifts and the need to be employed. A clinical trial to study long-term cardiovascular effects of shift work is not viable because allocation of shift work to workers is unethical and not pragmatic. Therefore, present evidence on the effects of shift work on health is based largely on observational studies.

## 10.2 Lack of animal models

Replicating shift work schedules in animals is difficult because animals cannot be trained

to work in shifts. Only a few animal models exist that can replicate the circadian disruption in shift workers. One such model is the Cry 1 and 2-gene knockout mouse, with resulting disruption of circadian rhythm.<sup>78</sup> While chrono-disruption can be recreated in the lab, the foregoing discussion pointed out that there is much more than just circadian disruption operative in shift workers. Animal models fail to capture psychosocial consequences of work-life imbalance, which may be important contributors to cardiovascular disease.<sup>67</sup> Despite this, the risk of vascular disease and cardiomyopathy was increased in animal models that replicated circadian disruption.<sup>128, 131</sup>

#### **10.3** Selection bias in shift work studies

At the factory level, the selection of work schedule (shift work) for workers lacks an element of randomness. Factors like physical ability, willingness to work in shifts, and seniority or past job experience can influence the assignment of work schedule for any given individual. Workplaces screen individuals to select those believed to be able to handle shift work before asking them to work in shifts. Personal factors determining selection of a shift schedule by workers are need for employment and level of education. Individuals with low education and greater need for employment may be more willing to do shift work than others. For some professions involving emergency services, working in shifts is a prerequisite for the occupation involved, and hence engaged individuals become shift workers for different reasons. Selection of a worker into shift work is thus influenced by various reasons.

Some workers, who may not be sure whether shift work is tolerable to them or not, initiate shift work and leave the job after a short period of time because they cannot adjust to the working hours or job demands. These workers, whom we can term "quitters", are rarely captured in epidemiologic studies. Others, who continue working in shifts for a stipulated amount of time, are considered "shift workers" in epidemiologic studies. The balance between the health of the worker and the need to be employed, together with their educational level, determines who becomes a shift worker. This selection process leads to various biases when trying to determine the independent effect of shift work on cardiovascular disease as shown in Figure 2.

Figure 2. Challenges with epidemiologic studies on shift work and cardiovascular disease



Abbreviation: SES socioeconomic class

## **11** Rationale for the research

## **11.1** Literature to date

Multiple studies have assessed the effects of shift work on health, specifically effects on cardiovascular disease. The methods and populations vary across different studies. Study designs may be cross-sectional, crossover, case-control and cohort; endpoints vary considerably. Control groups and exposure characteristics differ considerably as well. There are disparate results and conclusions from these studies.

Only a few previous reviews have systematically synthesized the evidence on the relationship between shift work and cardiovascular disease.<sup>12, 101, 132</sup> These reviews have generally concluded that the risk of cardiovascular disease in shift workers is higher. One recent review, studying the effects of shift work on the risk of ischemic heart disease concluded that "a causal relationship is possible but it is ... [likely] that this relationship can be explained by chance, bias or confounding."<sup>132</sup> Of note, the authors did not perform a meta-analysis to quantify this association. Following this review, investigators from the Nurses' Health Study cohort found that the multivariable hazard ratio of developing ischemic stroke expressed per five years of rotating shift work was 1.04 (95% confidence interval 1.01 to 1.07) suggesting a dose-response relationship between shift work and ischemic stroke.<sup>133</sup> Conversely, and also following this review, the adjusted hazard ratio for coronary heart disease mortality in male shift workers was reported to be non-significantly increased at 1.09 (95% confidence interval 0.82 to 1.44) by Hublin et al.<sup>134</sup> Hence, epidemiological evidence on the association of shift work and cardiovascular disease has accumulated with no definitive overall answer or message.

#### **11.2** Poor methodological quality of previous reviews

Many studies have reviewed the effects of shift work on general health but not cardiovascular disease in particular. We identified ten review articles that studied the effects of shift work on cardiovascular disease.<sup>12, 67, 101, 132, 135-140</sup> Some of these reviews were narrative reviews (n = 6), studying specific aspects of the relationship between shift work and cardiovascular disease. For example, Puttonen et al. studied the pathways that can lead to increased cardiovascular risk in shift workers.<sup>67</sup> Only four reviews systematically studied the effects of shift work with the primary objective to characterize the association between shift work and cardiovascular disease.

of these reviews was published in 1989 and the latest one was published in 2011.<sup>12, 132</sup> Only three reviews reported the search strategy that was used for searching relevant studies.<sup>101, 132, 140</sup> Reviews by Frost et al. and Jaehyeok et al. searched only in Medline, while that by Boggild and Knutsson searched Medline and National Institute for Occupational Safety And Health Technical Information Center (NIOSHTIC) databases. All reviews searched bibliographies of included studies for additional studies ("snowballing"). Only two studies looked at grey literature to obtain unpublished data.<sup>12, 101</sup>

The Cochrane Collaboration and the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and meta-analyses (PRISMA) guidelines encourage review authors to assess all included studies for methodological quality or risk of bias.<sup>141, 142</sup> Only two out of four reviews assessed individual studies for risk of bias or methodological quality.<sup>12, 101</sup> The methods of assessment used in these reviews were not validated. Only the review by Frost et al. reported the total number of titles screened and the process of article screening; however, reasons for exclusion of studies were not explicitly mentioned. Whereas the review by Kristenen et al. did not specify eligibility criteria at all, the review by Frost et al. was the only article that had well-defined and clearly reported eligibility criteria. However, a selection criterion for this review was that the study had to be published in a peerreviewed journal, potentially instilling publication bias. Finally, of all the reviews, only the review by Frost et al. reported specifically those items that were abstracted from each study. Thus, the review by Frost et al. can be considered the most comprehensive review to date. Our literature search shows that relevant articles studying cardiovascular implications of shift work have been published after this review.<sup>130, 133, 134, 143</sup>

Except for the review conducted by Jaehyeok and colleagues, no other study has synthesized data to obtain pooled risk estimates. The latter reported a pooled risk ratio for the risk of ischemic heart disease in shift workers compared to day workers of 1.17 (95% confidence interval 1.00 to 1.37). The analysis included only eight studies. They reported significant heterogeneity ( $I^2 = 61\%$ ) and publication bias which attenuated the pooled risk estimate making the risk ratio insignificant (adjusted risk ratio 1.12, 95% confidence interval 0.94 to 1.33). Hence, a comprehensive systematic review is required to synthesize the evidence in order to determine the cardiovascular associations of shift work.

## **11.3** Implications from present research

We will comprehensively search all literature sources and, through appropriate statistical methods, quantify the association between shift work and cardiovascular disease. The results will be important for policy-makers and occupational health practitioners. Cardiovascular disease is an important cause of morbidity and mortality, having serious economic consequences for the health care system and for individual workers (death, disability, premature retirement or work modification, etc.). Contingent on our findings, this research may encourage public health authorities and policy-makers to take appropriate steps to protect and promote the health of shift workers.

## 12 Research questions

#### 12.1 Primary question

Are shift workers at higher risk than day workers for adverse cardiovascular outcomes such as myocardial infarction, coronary events and ischemic stroke?

#### Hypothesis

Our primary hypothesis is that the risk of myocardial infarction, coronary events and ischemic stroke are significantly associated with shift work, even after adjustment for potential confounders.

#### 12.2 Secondary questions

Are shift workers at higher risk than day workers for cardiovascular mortality?

## Hypothesis

We hypothesize that death due to cardiovascular disease, but not all-cause mortality, will be higher among shift workers, even after adjustment for potential confounders.

## 12.3 Exploratory analyses

a) Which type of shift work, if any, is worse than others when considering the risk of coronary events?

## Hypothesis

We hypothesize that night work and rotating shift work will have the highest associative risks for coronary events because they both imbue the highest degrees of work-imbalance and circadian disruption.<sup>67, 144</sup>

b) Does a dose-response relationship exist between shift work and cardiovascular disease?

## *Hypothesis*

Previous reviews have not attempted to quantify the dose-response of shift work on cardiovascular disease. We will seek to answer this question to determine whether such an association exists and to characterize its degree. According to Bradford Hill's criteria for causality, dose-response is an important component criterion in assessing potential causality between exposure and disease.<sup>145</sup>

#### 1 Overview

We conducted this review in accordance with the Meta-analysis of Observational Studies (MOOSE) recommendations and Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidelines (completed checklists in Appendices A and B).<sup>142,</sup> <sup>146</sup> We focused our review on observational studies of shift work and cardiovascular events or mortality. We paid particular attention to dose-response gradients, ex-shift worker analyses, and sources of heterogeneity for cardiovascular risk.

## 2 Study eligibility criteria

We developed our study eligibility criteria in consultation with content experts and epidemiologists. We kept our selection criteria as broad as possible. We pilot-tested these criteria on initially identified studies using a standardized eligibility rating form (Appendix C). Four investigators reviewed the form for its utility and effectiveness. We prespecified the following eligibility criteria:

- <u>Exposure group</u>: The study sample must include a defined group of shift workers (the "exposure group"). These participants may engage in evening shifts, night shifts, rotating shifts, split shifts, on call shifts, casual shifts, mixed shifts or irregular shifts.
- <u>Comparison group</u>: The study sample should also include a control comparison group comprising either day workers or a general population sample from the same country as the exposure group.
- <u>Outcome</u>: Studies must report cardiovascular events or death. Cardiovascular events could include angina, myocardial infarction, cardiac arrest, heart failure, cardiovascular death or stroke. Death endpoints included all-cause mortality, cardiovascular mortality, cerebrovascular mortality or coronary mortality. We excluded studies with self-reported cardiovascular complaints or symptoms without a physician-verified diagnosis, hospitalization or death as the outcome of interest.

 <u>Analysis and reporting of a risk estimate for shift work and outcomes of interest:</u> We selected studies that reported a risk estimate and confidence interval, standard error or p value, or sufficient numeric data to compute these statistics. To calculate risk estimates from raw data, the latter could include dichotomous event data in the exposure (shift work) and comparison groups; incidence rates or cumulative incidence in exposure and control groups; a Kaplan-Meier survival graph with two or more curves; or observed and expected numbers of events. Risk estimates could be reported as risk ratios, relative risks, odds ratios, hazard rate ratios, rate ratios, incidence density ratios, standardized mortality ratios, standardized morbidity ratios or standardized hospitalization ratios.

## **3** Literature search

To identify all pertinent reports, we developed a comprehensive search strategy in collaboration with a research librarian and a medical informatics specialist. We developed our primary strategy for use in the Medline database and then adapted it to all other databases. We used combinations of free text key words as well as medical subject headings to formulate the search strategy in Medline, with analogous terms in the other databases.

We pilot-tested this strategy to assess its yield of highly relevant studies and then used additional search terms from identified studies to refine the search in an iterative fashion. In the pilot phase, we identified 94 relevant hits among 3247 articles. A final list of search terms for shift work and cardiovascular disease in Medline is presented in Table 2. The full strategy is elaborated in Appendix D.

Due to limited support for translation, we restricted our search to English language articles. Language limits can impose information bias; however, we found that most articles on shift work written in a regional language were also published in the English language international literature, thus reducing this potential bias.<sup>147-149</sup> We applied additional limits to restrict our search to adult populations, which form the vast majority of working samples in the occupational literature. We also excluded animal experiments.

As noted above, we adapted the Medline-based search strategy to other databases (specifically EMBASE, ProQuest, Scopus, Web of Science, Google Scholar and BIOSIS Previews). All searches were conducted from the inception date of each database and updated regularly until January 1, 2012, using customized weekly auto-alert emails forwarded to two investigators.

We used supplementary search methods after identification of an initial list of eligible studies. For example, we manually screened the bibliographies of eligible studies and relevant systematic reviews for additional relevant articles (this technique is commonly known as "snowballing").<sup>150</sup> We searched the grey literature by contacting experts in the field and screening conference proceedings and indices of occupational health journals for additional titles, as well as perusing our own personal files.

Search topic	Key words	MeSH terms		
Shift nature of work	alternating, atypical, circadian, ergonomic, evening, extended, irregular, night, on-call, overnight, rotating, shift, unconventional	chronobiology disorders, circadian rhythm, work schedule tolerance		
Work	call, duty, float, hours, roster, schedule, system, work	personnel staffing and scheduling		
Cardiovascular outcomes	angina, arrhythmia, arterial occlusion, arterial obstruction, arteriosclerosis, asystole, atherosclerosis, cardiac, cardio, CAD, CHD, CHF, CVA, cerebral, cerebrovascular, coronary, heart, heart failure, IHD, infarct, ischemia, MI, myocardial, stroke, thrombotic, vascular	cardiovascular agents, cardiovascular diseases, cardiovascular system, cerebrovascular disorders		
Mortality and mortality	actuarial, Cox model, dead, death(s), die, dying, fatal, hazard model, Kaplan-Meier, Kaplan Meier, lifetable, life table, lethal, morbidity, mortality	actuarial analysis, cause of death, death, death certificates, fatal outcome, hospital mortality, life expectancy, life tables, morbidity, mortality, sudden death, vital statistics		

 Table 2. Selected keywords and medical subject headings employed in the Medline search strategy

Abbreviations: CAD coronary artery disease, CHD coronary heart disease, CHF congestive heart failure, CVA cerebrovascular accidents, CVD cardiovascular disease, IHD ischemic heart disease, MeSH medical subject heading, MI myocardial infarction.

## 4 Article screening

We used Reference Manager Version 12.0.3 (Thomson Reuters, California, USA) to download and manipulate all citations in the review, including the removal of duplicate references. Two reviewers (MV and DH) independently screened the title, abstract and keywords of each citation for potential relevance. When any ambiguity was present, we obtained the full text of the publication. As a quality control, MV performed an audit of the primary screening by re-screening 400 randomly selected titles, blinded to the results of primary selection. This quality control helped to select the studies that may have been missed; however, only 2 additional studies were added after the audit, neither of which was ultimately eligible for inclusion. Both reviewers independently screened all retrieved studies against the prespecified eligibility criteria using the standardized rating form (Appendix C).

For separate publications that included overlapping or duplicate study populations, we used a decision rule to select the most pertinent study for our meta-analysis, with the goal of avoiding multiplicity of data.<sup>151</sup> Specifically, we selected studies with the following desired characteristics (in the following order of preference): a) longest duration of follow-up; b) highest number of confounding variables adjusted for in the calculation of shift work-outcome associations; c) least risk of bias (e.g. prospective cohort studies were preferred to nested case-control studies from the same population); and d) largest sample size. We resolved differences in adjudication by consulting with a third reviewer (Dr. Marko Mrkobrada). We calculated Cohen's kappa with 95% confidence interval for the final study adjudication.<sup>152</sup> Although the use of the kappa statistic is deemed controversial by some authors, it has many desirable properties including accounting for chance agreement and the ability to construct confidence intervals.<sup>153</sup> The values of kappa were interpreted as follows: 0.40 to 0.59 reflect fair agreement, 0.60 to 0.74 reflect good agreement, and  $\geq 0.75$  reflect excellent agreement.<sup>154</sup>

## 5 Data abstraction

We developed a comprehensive data abstraction form in Microsoft Excel 2010 containing citation information; study design, population and setting; exposure and outcome details;

methodological quality; and information on analytical models for the statistical analyses (Appendix E). We randomly selected seven studies to pilot-test and refine the form. Two reviewers abstracted the data independently and in duplicate, with crosschecking of discrepancies against the original reports. We clarified missing information directly with study authors. When authors did not respond, the information was considered unavailable.

We abstracted the following variables from each study: study design (e.g. "prospective cohort"); study period (beginning year of subject accrual); inclusion and exclusion criteria for the study population; population characteristics including demographic information (mean age, proportion of females, socioeconomic status, marital status, education and smoking status, where reported); details on exposures (definitions of shift work, duration of exposure to shift work, sources of information for the exposure data); details on outcomes (type and number of outcomes, definitions, sources of information for outcome data); details on confounders; risk estimates for all outcomes of interest (both crude and adjusted); follow-up duration (for longitudinal studies); tests of ex-shift worker risk, dose-response gradients and subgroup analyses; total number of reported analyses; funding sources; and the presence of selective reporting bias. We deemed selective reporting bias to be present when a study did not report outcomes or analyses prespecified in the methods of the paper (for example, suppressing them because they were considered statistically non-significant).<sup>155</sup>

## 6 Assessing bias in individual studies

We used the Downs and Black scale to evaluate the risk of bias in the included studies, with bias estimates displayed graphically using the Cochrane risk of bias graph.<sup>141, 156</sup> A systematic review by Deeks et al. identified 182 quality assessment tools for assessing the quality of non-randomized studies.<sup>157</sup> Of these, Deeks et al. considered fourteen tools to be the 'best tools' according to their prespecified criteria, but they deemed only five of them to be suitable for systematic reviews. Only two tools, the Newcastle-Ottawa scale and the Downs and Black scale, distinguished between what was conducted as a part of the study and what was reported, differentiating between methodological quality and the

quality of reporting of a study.<sup>156, 158, 159</sup> We selected the Downs and Black scale for our purposes because it has excellent test-retest reliability (r = 0.88), inter-rater reliability (r = 0.75) and internal consistency (Kuder-Richardson 20 r = 0.89).<sup>156</sup> It also provides a numeric score for overall study quality that is easy to interpret.

The Downs and Black scale is composed of 27 items subdivided into five components: reporting, external validity, internal validity, confounding and power (Appendix F). The answers to each item are scored from 0 to 1, except for item 5 on reporting confounding distribution across comparison groups (maximum score of 2) and item 27 on statistical power (maximum score of 5). For the item on reporting confounding distribution, *a priori* we defined age, sex, socioeconomic class and smoking as our confounders of interest, given their pre-eminence as confounders in the occupational health literature (see Chapter 1).<sup>104, 160, 161</sup> Only studies that reported the distribution of at least four confounders of interest among the comparison groups could attain the maximum score of 2 points for this item.

It should also be noted that the Downs and Black scale contains three items that assess randomization, subject blinding and allocation concealment, none of which are typically applicable to observational studies. We therefore adapted the scale by removing these three items; a study with maximal quality would therefore score 29 points.

## 7 Exposure of interest

In the primary analysis, any form of shift work was considered the exposure of interest. When available, details of shift work (e.g. type and duration) were considered in secondary analyses. When a given study reported risk estimates for more than one type of shift work, we selected for the primary outcomes the risk estimate that was based on largest number of workers.

#### 8 Outcomes of interest

Given the range and diversity of reported outcomes, we preselected three clinically important outcomes for the primary analysis: myocardial infarction, all coronary events (namely coronary-related hospitalizations, myocardial infarctions and/or coronary mortality) and ischemic stroke. Secondary outcomes were all cardiovascular events, coronary mortality, cerebrovascular mortality, cardiovascular mortality and all-cause mortality. The endpoint of "all cardiovascular events" was typically defined using International Classification Disease subcodes representing all circulatory diseases. We found no reports of hemorrhagic stroke or heart failure in relation to shift work; therefore, these outcomes were not considered further.

## 9 Statistical analysis

We computed summary statistics with proportions and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) for categorical variables, and means with standard deviations for continuous variables (most studies reported means rather than medians, and Question 7 in the Downs and Black scale addressed whether studies tested for a normal distribution). We extracted unadjusted and fully adjusted risk estimates and 95% CIs for all outcomes of interest and for each type of shift work from each study independently and in duplicate. We conducted an audit to ensure that no errors were made in the abstraction and data entry of risk estimates and other variables.

For the primary analysis, we included only fully adjusted risk estimates, with the exception of two studies that only presented crude estimates.<sup>162, 163</sup> When a study reported risk estimates stratified by sex and/or work type (e.g. white collar vs. blue collar), we combined these estimates using a fixed effects model to obtain a single study-specific estimate for that study's sample.<sup>164</sup> We then combined all risk estimates by outcome type to obtain pooled outcome risk ratios (RR) using generic inverse variance random effects models.<sup>165</sup> We assumed similarity between different types of risk estimates (e.g. odds ratio versus relative risk) because events of interest were rare.<sup>166</sup>

We used random effects models since studies typically differed in sampling mix and type and intensity of shift work exposure.<sup>167, 168</sup> We believed that the studies selected represent a sample from a larger population of the studies and that the risk estimates follow a distribution. The random effects model will determine the mean of this distribution. We used the generic inverse variance statistical model because it allows integration of adjusted risk ratios without the need to know dichotomous outcome data.<sup>169</sup> Higgins'  $I^2$  values were used to assess the degree of statistical heterogeneity between the studies.<sup>170</sup> The  $I^2$  statistic is the proportion of observed dispersion that is real rather than spurious. It is expressed as a ratio with a range of 0 to 100%. As a general rule,  $I^2 < 25\%$  represents little evidence for heterogeneity;  $I^2 = 25$  to 50% represents moderate heterogeneity; and  $I^2$ > 50% represents notable heterogeneity.<sup>171</sup> We performed all analyses using Comprehensive Meta Analysis Version 2.0 (Inglewood, NJ). We deemed two-tailed *P* values < 0.05 to be statistically significant.

## 9.1 Sensitivity analyses

To assess for publication bias, we used the Duval and Tweedie's trim and fill method to obtain publication bias-adjusted estimates.<sup>172</sup> This method of bias assessment calculates the pooled risk ratio adjusted for the effects of publication bias by removing or imputing studies such that funnel plots become symmetrical. This method therefore both assesses the presence or absence of publication bias and measures the extent to which publication bias has altered the observed risk ratio.<sup>172, 173</sup>

In general, the quality of evidence from observational studies is considered to be lower than that deriving from randomized trials. This is due to the inability of observational studies to completely control for confounding.<sup>174</sup> To identify the extent to which confounding affects the association of shift work with cardiovascular disease, we conducted sensitivity analyses by separately pooling adjusted and unadjusted risk ratios in the subset of studies that reported both types of estimates. Thus, we obtained an additional pair of risk ratios for each of the three primary outcomes: unadjusted and adjusted myocardial infarction, ischemic stroke and coronary events. The pooled adjusted risk ratio will differ substantially from the pooled unadjusted risk ratio if measured confounding significantly affects the association between shift work and cardiovascular disease.<sup>175</sup>

## 9.2 Secondary analyses

#### Secondary endpoints

We considered cardiovascular events, coronary mortality, cerebrovascular mortality,

cardiovascular mortality and all-cause mortality as secondary outcomes. We obtained pooled risk ratios for these outcomes using the generic inverse variance random effects models and synthesizing adjusted estimates only.

#### Heterogeneity

Because one of the primary outcomes indicated substantial statistical heterogeneity (specifically coronary events), we explored variation in this outcome across studies using univariate random effects meta-regression analysis.<sup>169</sup> We performed this meta-regression using unrestricted maximum likelihood estimation. This method was chosen over other techniques because it yields a conservatively wide confidence interval of the estimated beta coefficient and thus imposes caution in the extrapolation of results to future studies or participants.<sup>176, 177</sup> We did not attempt to adjust for multiple comparisons as all analyses were confined to the endpoint of coronary events and were considered exploratory in nature.<sup>178</sup>

Using the meta-regression analysis, we assessed the impact of the following factors on the log risk ratio for coronary events:

- <u>Study region</u>. We considered studies conducted in Europe, the most commonly represented region by far, as the reference category and studies from all other regions were considered as the 'other' category (specifically Asia or the United States, for which there were relatively few studies).
- <u>Accrual start</u>. We abstracted the year participant accrual began for each study. In the rare instance when a study did not report year of accrual we deducted five years from the date of publication and imputed the resulting year as an estimate of accrual start.
- Length of follow-up. We obtained the maximum duration of follow-up (in years) for both retrospective and prospective cohort studies. We restricted this analysis to cohort studies only.

- Sample size. We meta-regressed the total effective sample size used to obtain the risk estimate for each study.
- 5) <u>Proportion of shift workers</u>. For studies that reported the number of shift workers and day workers, we obtained the overall percentage of shift workers in each study sample.
- 6) <u>Age and sex</u>. All other factors being equal, males are at a higher risk for cardiovascular events than females.<sup>179</sup> In addition, the majority of shift workers are male, with the exception being the nursing profession and health care aids.<sup>19,</sup> <sup>180</sup> We modelled sex distribution as the percentage of females in the study population. The risk of cardiovascular disease increases with increasing age and thus we also modelled the mean age of the study population to study its effect on the risk estimate.<sup>181</sup> When mean age was not available we used (in order of preference) median age (if available) or the midpoint of the age range of the study participants as an approximation to median age.
- Job type. Blue collar workers may constitute a sub-population with different cardiovascular risk factors than white collar workers.<sup>182</sup> Job types varied across studies and thus we modelled job type as the percentage of blue-collar workers in the study population.
- Shift work schedule. Rotating shift work was the most commonly studied type of shift work. This meta-regression explored heterogeneity between studies by modelling shift work schedule as rotating versus all other schedules (e.g. fixed night shifts, etc.).
- 9) Event type. We analysed whether estimates differed for studies that reported only MI as the principal type of "coronary event" as opposed to those that studied other coronary end points as well (e.g. coronary mortality or coronary hospitalizations).
- 10) <u>Data source for outcome ascertainment</u>. *Primary* data sources included subject interviews, census data, direct patient contact/tracing, clinical registries or single-site hospital records while *secondary* data sources were administrative databases

or non-clinical automated registers. This regression analysis was modelled using a binary covariate (primary vs. secondary data source).

- 11) <u>Sample risk</u>. Sample risk was defined as the overall event rate in a cohort (hence we restricted this analysis to cohort studies only). The event rate was calculated as the total number of events in the entire cohort divided by the total person-years of follow-up.
- 12) <u>Type of control group</u>. Studies that used the general population as a control group typically included both shift workers and day workers in the control group. Thus, the estimates from such studies may be biased towards the null because of control group contamination. In this meta-regression, we contrasted studies which used general population control groups versus the more frequently used day worker control groups.
- 13) <u>Adjusting for confounding</u>. Observational studies cannot control for all potential confounding. In two separate meta-regressions, we modelled whether studies adjusted for two specific confounders frequently emphasized in the peer-reviewed occupational literature: socioeconomic status and smoking. Furthermore, as a crude measure of the degree of potential confounding adjusted for, we meta-regressed the number of distinct confounders adjusted for in each study.
- 14) <u>Time dependence</u>. We classified studies into those that involved a time component in the denominator when calculating the risk of cardiovascular disease (typically longitudinal cohort studies reporting hazard rate ratios) and those that did not (typically cohort or case-control studies reporting odds ratios, relative risks, or standardized mortality ratios).
- 15) <u>Methodological quality</u>. We modelled the Downs and Black score for each study as a proportion of the total score possible (29 points).
- 16) <u>Study power</u>. We calculated study power using standard formulas as  $1-\beta$  error for each study and modelled this as a continuous variable.

17) <u>Duration of shift work</u>. Finally, we performed meta-regression using the median duration of shift work in each study as a predictor variable. We used the mean duration of shift work for studies that did not report median duration.

#### Subgroup analyses: study design

A prospective cohort study is considered methodologically stronger than a retrospective cohort study or a case-control study because the former assesses exposure at baseline and follows participants prospectively over time to assess the outcome. Therefore, a prospective cohort study replicates the natural sequence of disease occurrence i.e., from exposure to outcome. We explored how the observed effects of shift work on primary outcomes changed across different study designs (prospective cohort, retrospective cohort and case-control studies) by undertaking subgroup analyses. Among the primary endpoints, these analyses were only possible for myocardial infarction and coronary events because only two studies were identified for ischemic stroke.

#### Subgroup analyses: shift work schedules

To determine the effects of different shift work schedules on coronary risk (which was the most commonly reported study endpoint and the only heterogeneous primary event), we obtained separate summary risk estimates for each shift work schedule. The following types of shift work were considered: evening work, night work, mixed shifts, rotating shifts and unspecified or irregular shifts. We performed no test of heterogeneity across schedule types as doing so would have caused control group duplication (i.e. individual studies which reported multiple risk estimates for different types of shift workers used the same control group).

#### Subgroup analyses: dose-response assessment

These analyses again focused on the shift work-coronary event association. Unfortunately, years of shift work exposure were categorized using markedly different cut-points across different studies. To supplement our meta-regression of median duration of shift work, we performed subgroup analyses by first recategorizing studyreported duration subsets into 5 ordered categories: very low, low, medium, high, and very high (in the same order of categorization of the original studies). We dropped the 'medium' category for studies that did not report five categories of shift work. Estimates for each of the recategorized groups were pooled as five separate subgroup analyses. Again to avoid control group duplication, we did not perform a statistical test of trend.

#### **Ex-shift worker analysis**

We calculated the pooled adjusted risk ratio of coronary events for ex-shift worker groups compared with control groups using the random effects generic invariance method. We undertook this analysis to explore the effect of cessation of shift work exposure. As previously described, reasons for leaving shift work are multiple and often unknown, but may potentially relate to disease-associated disability.<sup>183</sup>

## 10 Overall quality of evidence

Both reviewers (MV and DH) collaboratively assessed the overall quality of evidence for the three primary outcomes using the GRADE approach.<sup>174</sup> It is important to remember that quality of evidence is not the same as risk of bias in individual studies. In the GRADE framework for systematic reviews, the ratings of quality of evidence reflect the extent to which synthesized estimates of effect are believed to be correct.<sup>184</sup> We used the suggested GRADE summary of findings table for displaying our results.

#### **1** Study selection

We identified 20,756 records through all search strategies. Of these, we removed 8,406 duplicate records, leaving 12,350 unique records for title, abstract and keyword screening. After relevance screening, we discarded 12,204 records as unrelated to the research question; we retrieved the remaining 146 papers in full for review.

We found 35 studies that satisfied the prespecified eligibility criteria ( $\kappa$  for the two independent reviewers 0.78, 95% confidence interval 0.66 to 0.90). We excluded the remaining 111 studies for following reasons: no data on shift work exposure (n = 40); no data on outcomes of interest (n = 25); reviews, editorials, or news articles (n = 31); absence of comparison (or control) group (n = 2), insufficient data to calculate a risk estimate (n = 1); design paper (n = 1); or interventional study design (n = 1). We excluded one study, which included hypertension in the definition of coronary events.<sup>63</sup> We further excluded nine studies with overlapping or duplicate study populations based on our prespecified decision rule to avoid multiplicity of data.<sup>136, 185-192</sup> However, we retrieved these studies to obtain additional methodological information during the data abstraction phase.

The selection process is depicted in Figure 3 (*please find the figures and tables for this chapter appended at the end of the chapter on pg. 54*). We also obtained unreported risk estimates from two Norwegian researchers (Drs. Lars Laugsand and Imre Janszky) on the association of shift work with myocardial infarction in the Nord-Trøndelag Health Study (HUNT study), allowing us to integrate their recently published report on myocardial infarction and working conditions.<sup>130</sup>

We identified most studies in the review from initial searching of electronic databases (n = 34). We identified only one study through weekly electronic search updates.<sup>130</sup> The 35 studies included in the systematic review represented 34 unique datasets. The study by Knutsson et al. published in 2004 reanalyzed the data from Taylor and Pocock (originally published in 1972).<sup>193, 194</sup> These two studies will be considered as one study hereafter.

#### 2 Study characteristics

Most studies were conducted in Europe (n = 26), with relatively few in Asia (n = 5) or the United States (n = 3). We identified no Canadian study meriting final inclusion. Other study characteristics are contained in Table 3.

#### 2.1 Study size

The included studies comprised 2,011,935 participants. We noted that two sets of studies used the same or somewhat overlapping study populations. These studies were conducted by Brown et al. and Kawachi et al. (the United States Nurses' Health Study cohorts); and by Taylor and Pocock and Taylor et al. (British occupational cohorts).<sup>133, 193, 195, 196</sup> The studies in each set reported different outcomes of interest and employed different methods of data analyses. Therefore, we retained these studies separately in the review. For calculating the total number of participants included in the review, we selected the study with the larger sample size for these two study pairs. Sample sizes of the included studies varied from only 94 participants in the matched case-control study by Fukuoka et al. to 958,096 participants in the study by Alfredsson et al., which used a census-based population of employed individuals in five Swedish counties.

## 2.2 **Population characteristics**

The inclusion and exclusion criteria varied among studies included in the review (Table 3 on pg. 55). Only 12 studies (35%) excluded individuals who had a history of cardiovascular disease at baseline. All studies included adult populations (over 16 years of age), except for Karlsson et al., which included a small minority (n = 175, 3% of the total sample) between the ages of 10 and 14 at study entry. Four studies did not specify an upper limit of age of participants<sup>193, 197-199</sup> and three studies had no data on the age of participants.<sup>196, 200, 201</sup> Most articles reported associations of shift work and outcomes in male populations (65%); some studied a mix of male and female populations (26%), while a few studied only female populations (9%).

## 2.3 Exposure characteristics

The definition of shift work varied across studies (details in Table 4 on pg. 61). Six studies (18%) reported no details on the type of shift work evaluated or the overall definition of shift work.<sup>199, 202-206</sup> The data sources for exposure ascertainment differed across studies: company records (n = 12), questionnaires or interviews (n = 19), or occupational survey databases or administrative data (n = 3). Shift work types included mixed shift work (n = 11), rotating work (n = 10), night work (n = 9), unspecified or irregular work (n = 8), and evening work (n = 4). Seven studies (21%) tested the association between more than one type of shift work and outcomes.<sup>134, 143, 201, 205, 207-209</sup> The prevalence of shift workers varied from 11% to 78% (mean 36%, standard deviation 22%) across studies.

## 2.4 Control group characteristics

Most studies (n = 30) used day workers as the control group while four studies used a more general population of employed workers from the same geographical region as a control group.<sup>193, 200, 209, 210</sup>

## 2.5 Outcome characteristics

Details of outcomes reported in the included studies are presented in Table 5 (pg. 65). The types of data sources for outcome ascertainment were distributed evenly across studies: 16 studies used *primary* data sources (interview, census data, direct patient contact/tracing, clinical registries or individual hospital records) and 18 used *secondary* data sources exclusively (administrative databases or non-clinical registers). Most studies used International Classification of Diseases coding for defining cardiovascular outcomes. Only one study recorded outcomes based on self-reported physician diagnoses of myocardial infarction.<sup>198</sup>

#### 2.6 Study designs

Included studies were either prospective cohorts (n = 11), retrospective cohorts (n = 13), or case-control studies (n = 10). Of the 10 case-control studies, five were nested case-

control studies<sup>161, 201, 208, 211, 212</sup> within a larger cohort and five were non-nested, matched case-control samples.

## 2.7 Follow-up (cohort studies only)

The duration of follow-up varied among studies. The study with longest follow-up was Karlsson et al.<sup>213</sup> This study recorded the mortality of a cohort across 50 years from January 1, 1952 to December 31, 2001 by linkage to the National Cause-of-Death Register. Alfredsson et al. had the shortest follow-up of one year only.<sup>210</sup>

## **3** Risk of bias within studies

The methodological quality of included studies was determined by using the Downs and Black checklist. The median score of study quality for the included studies expressed as a percentage was 60% (interquartile range, 18%). The risk of bias graph is presented in Figure 4 (pg. 70). The most common deficiencies in the included studies were lack of data on contamination of comparison groups (due to failure to report exposure over multiple time points), and failure to report all types of adverse cardiovascular events potentially related to shift work. Most studies reported a well-defined hypothesis or objective, described outcomes of interest clearly, and used validated outcome measures. Of 30 studies included in the meta-analyses of primary outcomes, 19 studies (59%) were not sufficiently powered (< 80%) to detect a clinically relevant difference while for 4 studies (12%),<sup>130, 134, 143, 205</sup> post-hoc power could not be calculated due to lack of numeric data necessary for such calculation.

Only three studies (9%) exhibited evidence of selective reporting bias.<sup>203, 205, 210</sup> These studies assessed the association of various work-related exposures (including shift work) with selected cardiovascular outcomes, but did not report results of several of these exposure-outcome associations when they were not statistically significant.

## 4 Results of individual studies

The results from individual studies are listed in Table 6 (pg. 71) and displayed in forest plots of meta-analyses of each cardiovascular outcome in Appendix G. All except two

studies<sup>162, 163</sup> accounted for one or more confounders through restriction, stratification, matching, or regression analysis in shift work-outcome analyses.

#### 5 Primary analyses

We abstracted 6,598 myocardial infarction, 17,359 coronary events and 1,854 ischemic strokes from 10, 28 and 2 studies, respectively. In the pooled random effects analyses, shift work was associated with an increased risk of myocardial infarction (risk ratio 1.23, 95% confidence interval 1.15 to 1.31), all coronary events (risk ratio 1.24, 95% confidence interval 1.10 to 1.39) and ischemic stroke (risk ratio 1.05, 95% confidence interval 1.01 to 1.09, Figure 5). Statistical heterogeneities for the pooled analyses ( $I^2$  value) were 0%, 85% and 0%, respectively, for myocardial infarction, coronary events and ischemic stroke. Of note, only three studies (11%) reported that shift work was associated with a decreased risk of coronary events; however, these estimates were statistically non-significant.<sup>143, 160, 211</sup>

## 6 Sensitivity analyses

Publication bias was assessed by Duval and Tweedie's trim and fill method (Figures 6 and 7, pg 79). For myocardial infarction, the algorithm imputed two hypothetical studies to the left of the line representing the null effect to obtain funnel plot symmetry. The association between shift work and myocardial infarction changed only slightly (Duval-and-Tweedie adjusted risk ratio 1.22, 95% confidence interval 1.15 to 1.30). Similarly, the publication bias-adjusted risk estimate for coronary events changed only slightly (adjusted risk ratio 1.19, 95% confidence interval 1.06 to 1.34). The Duval and Tweedie method could not be applied to ischemic stroke as only two studies were included. In addition, current reporting guidelines do not recommend testing for funnel plot asymmetry in analyses involving fewer than 10 studies.<sup>214</sup>

Adjusted and unadjusted summary risk ratios, obtained to assess the impact of confounding on the association of shift work and the three primary outcomes, showed similar results Figure 5). For example, for those studies reporting both unadjusted and adjusted analyses, coronary events had a risk estimate of 1.21 (95% confidence interval

1.06 to 1.39) in the unadjusted analyses and a risk estimate of 1.17 (95% confidence interval 1.05 to 1.31) in the adjusted analyses.

## 7 Secondary analyses

## 7.1 Secondary endpoints

Among the secondary outcomes, a trend was observed for cardiovascular mortality (random effects adjusted risk ratio 1.14, 95% confidence interval 0.98 to 1.32, P = 0.091, Table 7).  $I^2$  value for this analysis was 65%, indicating substantial heterogeneity. The risks of coronary mortality and all-cause mortality were not statistically higher among shift workers (adjusted risk ratio 1.08, 95% confidence interval 0.97 to 1.21, and adjusted risk ratio 1.04, 95% confidence interval 0.97 to 1.11, respectively). These analyses were moderately heterogeneous ( $I^2 = 29\%$  and 36%, respectively). We found that the risk for cerebrovascular mortality was not statistically higher in shift workers (adjusted risk ratio 1.29% confidence interval 0.89 to 1.40), and was fairly heterogeneous ( $I^2 = 52\%$ ).

## 7.2 Meta-regression of shift work and coronary events

Owing to strong evidence of heterogeneity in the association of shift work with coronary events ( $I^2 = 85\%$ ), we undertook univariate random-effects meta-regression analyses to explore whether prespecified variables could explain this variation. None of the prespecified predictors was found to be significant (Table 8).

## 7.3 Subgroup analyses by study design

Two prospective cohort studies, two retrospective cohort studies and six case-control studies recorded the risk of myocardial infarction in shift workers. Risk of myocardial infarction was higher in prospective cohort studies followed by retrospective cohort studies and then case-control studies (Figure 8). The association between shift work and myocardial infarction was significant for each type of study design.  $I^2$  values were 0%, 38% and 0% for prospective cohort, retrospective cohort and case-control studies, respectively.

For coronary events, the distribution of study designs was as follows: prospective cohort

studies (n = 11), retrospective cohort studies (n = 8) and case-control studies (n = 9). Higher risks of coronary events for shift workers were recorded in prospective cohort studies followed by retrospective cohort studies and then case-control studies (Figure 9).

## 7.4 Shift work schedules and coronary events

The risk of coronary events was found to be significantly higher for all types of shift schedules, with the exception of evening work (Table 8 on pg. 81). Only five studies tested the evening shift work-coronary event association and therefore statistically non-significant results should be interpreted with caution. There was considerable variation, assessed by  $I^2$  values, for each shift work schedule-coronary event association. The risk of coronary events was particularly high with night shift work (risk ratio 1.41, 95% confidence interval 1.13 to 1.76,  $I^2 = 36\%$ ).

## 7.5 Dose-response assessment for coronary events

Twelve studies (35%) measured the duration of shift work in the exposed group.<sup>133, 134, 161, 162, 193, 195, 198, 200, 211, 213, 215, 216</sup> Of these, eight studies (24%) undertook dose-response analyses, but for one study, the measure of statistical significance (*P* value or confidence interval) was not available even after contacting the authors.<sup>198</sup> The study by Brown et al. reported the dose-response relation of shift work with ischemic stroke only and thus was not included in this analysis.<sup>133</sup>

The relation of years of shift work, divided into five ordinal categories, with coronary events is shown in Figure 10 (pg. 84). The highest risk of coronary events was observed in the 'medium' category followed by 'high' and 'very high' categories. Thus, a linear relationship was not observed. The results for each category, however, were statistically non-significant.

## 7.6 Ex-shift worker analysis

The ex-shift worker analysis was reported in six studies (Figure 11 on pg. 85). Each study used somewhat different definitions to select ex-shift workers. In general, however, working in shifts for some stipulated amount of time (years or months) before

quitting shift work was required in order for an individual to be considered as an "ex-shift worker". In five studies included in this analysis, ex-shift workers went back to doing day work.<sup>134, 160, 193, 201, 211</sup> The study by Haupt et al. did not describe the current employment status of ex-shift workers after leaving shift work. The study by Yadegarfar and McNamee defined ex-shift workers as those who had left work altogether ("inactive workers", i.e., retired shift workers).<sup>161</sup> The pooled risk ratio for coronary events in exshift workers was 1.19 (95% confidence interval 1.01 to 1.40). The  $I^2$  statistic for this analysis was 0%. The increased risk of coronary events in ex-shift workers may suggest adverse consequences of shift work even after cessation of the exposure. It is worth mentioning that the point estimate for ex-shift workers was slightly lower than that observed in "current" shift workers as part of the primary analysis, although the confidence intervals overlapped.

#### 8 Overall quality of evidence

The overall evidence is summarized in Table 9 (pg. 86). In the GRADE approach, randomized trials start as high-quality evidence and observational studies as low-quality evidence.<sup>63</sup> However, the quality from observational studies should be rated up if there is a large magnitude of effect, evidence of dose-response gradient or if plausible confounding can increase the confidence in estimated effects.<sup>217</sup>

A total of 30 studies (88%) determined shift work exposure at a single point (i.e. crosssectionally). From the point when shift work status of workers was assessed to the point of outcome occurrence, workers in both groups could have moved from day work to shift work or vice versa. However, the likelihood of shift workers leaving shift work with passing years (increasing seniority) is typically thought to be higher than that of day workers taking up shift work.<sup>160</sup> Despite this dilution of shift work exposure, we found statistically higher risks of myocardial infarction, coronary events and ischemic stroke among shift workers. Hence, we rated up the quality of evidence for all three outcomes. Although we could not test for publication bias for ischemic stroke, we found that the point estimates for ischemic stroke and cerebrovascular mortality in shift workers were somewhat similar. Moreover, results for adjusted and unadjusted risk estimates of ischemic stroke were similar. We therefore did not downgrade the quality of evidence for ischemic stroke.

In summary, we found moderate-quality evidence to suggest that shift work is associated with a higher risk of myocardial infarction and ischemic stroke. The higher risk of coronary events in shift workers should be considered low-quality evidence because of significant inconsistency ( $I^2 = 85\%$ ).

## 9 Tables and figures

## Figure 3. Study selection



Study (ref)	Design	Setting/Data Source	Accrual period	Sample size	Inclusion criteria (Exclusion criteria)
Akerstedt et al., 2004 <sup>218</sup>	retrospective cohort	Swedish Living Conditions Survey	1984-1996	22,411	25-64 yr at the time of the National Survey of Living Conditions (missing data)
Alfredsson et al., 1985 <sup>210</sup>	retrospective cohort	Swedish census data	1975	958,096	20-64 yr, having job title in the census year, residing in selected five counties in Sweden in 1975 (farmers)
Allesoe et al., 2011 <sup>143</sup>	prospective cohort	Danish Nurse Cohort Study	1993	12,116	all female Danish nurses, 45-65 yr, member of Danish nurses' association (not actively employed as nurses, IHD prior to baseline survey, missing information on survey)
Babisch et al., 2005 <sup>202</sup>	case-control	32 major hospitals in Berlin, Germany	1998-2001	4,115	20-69 yr, residents of Berlin since at least 5 yrs preceding enrollment and lived 6 months per yr, sufficient communication & language skills (deaf patients or hearing impaired)
Biggi et al., 2008 <sup>162</sup>	retrospective cohort	municipal workers in Milan, Italy	1976	468	22-62 yr, employed with municipality enterprise street cleaning and domestic waste collection, residing in metropolitan area of Milan
Boggild et al., 1999 <sup>160</sup>	prospective cohort	Copenhagen Male Study	1970-1971	5207	all men, 40-59 yr, working at 14 companies included in the Copenhagen male study (emigrants were excluded for secondary analyses)

# Table 3. Study characteristics

Study (ref)	Design	Setting/Data	Accrual	Sample	Inclusion criteria
		Source	period	size	(Exclusion criteria)
Brown et al., 2009 <sup>133</sup>	prospective cohort	Nurses' Health Study	1988	80,108	married registered nurses, 30-55 yr at the time of first survey of Nurses Healthy Study in 1976, responded to the question on shift work in 1988 (P/H of stroke, non-Caucasian and Hispanic, missing data on one or more covariates)
Ellingsen et al., 2007 <sup>163</sup>	retrospective cohort	employees of a fertilizer plant in Doha, Qatar	1972-2003	2,562	all male employees at the plant (left the country at the end of their employment)
Falger and Schouten, 1992 <sup>203</sup>	case-control	two large hospitals in the Netherlands	1980-1983	458	men, 35-69 yr, agreed to participate. <i>Hospital</i> <i>controls</i> were admitted to same hospital with other acute conditions (controls who had P/H of MI)
Fujino et al., 2006 <sup>207</sup>	prospective cohort	survey data in Japan	1988-1990	17,649	participants of JACC study, male, 40-59 yr, full time employed or self employed (P/H of MI or cerebrovascular disease)
Fukuoka et al., 2005 <sup>219</sup>	case-control	five hospitals in Japan	2002	94	be mentally alert, speak Japanese, hemodynamically stable, capable of independent living, no history of advanced malignancy or debilitating illness (not employed, P/H of CHD or malignancy)
Haupt et al., 2008 <sup>198</sup>	retrospective cohort	survey data in West Pomerania, Germany	1997-2001	2,510	participants of SHIP, 20-79 yr at the time of survey (< 45 yr, current shift workers, uncertain information regarding shift work)

Study (ref)	Design	Setting/Data	Accrual	Sample	Inclusion criteria
		Source	period	size	(Exclusion criteria)
Hermansson et al., 2007	case-control	survey data in Sweden	1985-2000	607	participants of VIP and MONICA population based surveys selecting participants randomly (known cancer or stroke, lack of information on shift work)
Hublin et al., 2010 <sup>134</sup>	prospective cohort	population-based twin cohort in Finland	1975-1981	20,142	all Finnish twin pairs of same gender born before 1958, with co-twins alive in 1975, residents of Finland (not working, missing data on work status, subjects on disability pension or retired prior to 1981)
Karlsson et al., 2005 <sup>213</sup>	retrospective cohort	pulp and paper workers in Sweden	1940-1998	5,442	male workers, blue-collar workers, employed for at least 6 months during study period (incomplete information about job history, > 60yr at time of employment, those who could not be traced)
Kawachi et al., 1995 <sup>195</sup>	prospective cohort	Nurses' Health Study	1988	79,109	<ul> <li>participants of the Nurses' Health study, married,</li> <li>registered nurses, between 30-55 years</li> <li>(deceased, had been previously diagnosed with MI or angina or cerebrovascular disease at baseline)</li> </ul>
Knutsson et al., 1986 <sup>215</sup>	prospective cohort	pulp and paper works in Sweden	1968	504	all male blue-collar workers permanently employed in the factory (born outside Sweden, younger than 20 years, P/H of IHD)

Study (ref)	Design	Setting/Data Source	Accrual period	Sample size	Inclusion criteria (Exclusion criteria)
Knutsson et al., 1999 <sup>208</sup>	case-control	survey data in Sweden	1992-1994	4,648	participants of Vasternorrland Infarction Project & Stockholm Heart Epidemiology Program (previously diagnosed myocardial infarction, < 45yr or > 70yr, lack of information on work schedules)
Koller, 1983 <sup>216</sup>	retrospective cohort	oil refinery workers in Austria	Not reported	301	randomly selected male blue-collar workers, shift workers were matched on age and years on work with day workers (those workers who could not be matched)
Laugsand et al., 2011 <sup>130</sup>	prospective cohort	Nord-Trøndelag Health Study (survey in Norway)	1995-1997	52,610	20-65 yr, participants of HUNT Study, responded to questionnaire on insomnia (baseline MI either self-reported or from medical records, unemployed, pensionaire, > 65 yr, doing military service, working at home [i.e. housewives] or students)
Liu and Tanaka, 2002 <sup>220</sup>	case-control	22 hospitals in Japan	1996-1998	705	only men. <i>Controls</i> matched from resident registers by age, sex and residence (without a job, incomplete information about working hours, and cases without matched controls and controls without matched cases)
McNamee et al., 1996 <sup>211</sup>	case-control	nuclear plant workers in Britain	1950-1992	934	all men, worked at least one month in the company (professional, technical and administrative staff were excluded)
Netterstrom et al., 1999 204	case-control	two Danish hospitals	1991-1992	252	wage earners currently employed, under 60 years
Study (ref)	Design	Setting/Data Source	Accrual period	Sample size	Inclusion criteria (Exclusion criteria)
---	-------------------------	--	-------------------	----------------	--
Rafnsson and Gunnarsdottir, 1990 <sup>200</sup>	retrospective cohort	fertilizer plant workers in Iceland	1954-1985	603	all men hired/working during accrual period
Steenland and Fine, 1996	case-control	heavy equipment plant workers (US)	1951-1988	944	male, welders or welder helpers employed for at least 2 yr or more at any work-site included in the study (maintenance welders, flame cutters, burners, machinists, painters, foundry workers, not adequate personnel records, P/H of heart disease)
Tarumi, 1997 <sup>206</sup>	retrospective cohort	Japanese steel industry workers	1991-1995	9,141	$\geq$ 40 years, employees of the parent company (data from females, white collar workers and that of workers from subsidiary company)
Taylor and Pocock (re- analyzed by Knutsson et al., 2004) <sup>193, 194</sup>	retrospective cohort	10 industrial organizations in Britain	1956-1968	8,048	all male manual workers, full time employment on 1st January 1956, born before 1920, continuously employed for at least 10 years between 1946–1968 (workers who did not fit into any work schedule category were excluded)
Taylor et al., 1972 <sup>196</sup>	retrospective cohort	29 industrial organizations in Britain	1968-1969	1,548	only males, employed as manual workers in same organization & same site before 1967, continuously employed without change of job or working hours for two study years 1968 & 1969 (those who transferred at any time during their employment from one system of working hours to another on medical grounds)
Tuchsen, 1993 <sup>209</sup>	prospective cohort	Danish survey data	1981-1984	406,969	all men in the Central Population register, 20-59 yr (male nurses and therapists, and nurse assistants and porters)

Standar (ref)	Design	Setting/Data	Accrual	Sample	Inclusion criteria
Sludy	Design	Source	period	size	(Exclusion criteria)
Tuchsen et al., 2006 <sup>221</sup>	prospective cohort	Danish survey data	1990	5,517	20-59 yr, employed for at least one day within 2 months prior to the interview and responders to the question on work schedule
Vertin, 1978 199	prospective cohort	Viscose rayon factory workers	1968-1974	200	randomly selected workers at the factory (those taken off shift duty on medical reasons)
Virkunnen et al., 2006 <sup>222</sup>	prospective cohort	Helsinki Heart Study (clinical trial)	1987-1988	1,804	men, 40-55 yr, employed in industry, participants of Helsinki Heart study (missing information on occupation/shift work status, part-time work, night work, P/H of major illness)
Virtanen and Notkola, 2002 <sup>205</sup>	retrospective cohort	Finnish census data	1975-1980	385,500	25-64 in 1980 census, same occupation in 1975 and 1980 (mining work, military work and agricultural work)
Yadegarfar and McNamee, 2008 <sup>161</sup>	case-control	nuclear plant workers in Britain	1950-1998	1,270	all men, < 50 yr at accrual, worked at the plant for at least 20 days, blue collar workers (females, white collar workers)

Abbreviations: BMI body mass index, BP blood pressure, CVD cardiovascular disease, CHD coronary heart disease, HUNT Nord-Trøndelag health study, IHD ischemic heart disease, JACC Japan Collaborative Cohort for Evaluation of Cancer Risk, MI myocardial infarction, MONICA Northern Sweden Monitoring of Trends and Determinants of Cardiovascular Diseases, P/H past history, SHIP Study of Health in Pomerania, VIP Vasterbotten Intervention Programme, yr year

Study	Data source for exposures	Type of shift work	Definition
Akerstedt et al., 2004	interview	Mixed	working in three-shift work, night work, evening work, roster work and other forms
Alfredsson et al., 1985	ascertained at occupation level based on National Surveys	Irregular	irregular work was defined as any work other than day time work
Allesoe et al., 2011	self administered questionnaire	Rotating*, night and evening	differences in shift work types not reported
Babisch et al., 2005	interview	Unspecified	not defined
Biggi et al., 2008	municipality records	Night	working during 23:35 - 05:35 hours, Monday to Saturday number of years on the night work was also collected
Boggild et al., 1999	self administered questionnaire followed with an interview	Mixed	working irregular hours, shift work or often had night work
Brown et al., 2009	self administered questionnaire	Rotating	working at least 3 nights per month in addition to days or evenings in that month. number of years on such shifts was obtained and categorized as never, 1-2, 3-5, 6-9, 10-14 and $\geq$ 15 years
Ellingsen et al., 2007	company records	Rotating	working in rotating cycles starting with 2 morning, 2 afternoon followed by 2 night shifts
Falger and Schouten, 1992	interview	Unspecified	not defined
Fujino et al., 2006	self-administered questionnaire	Rotating* and night	<i>rotating</i> : working alternating day and night most of the time <i>night</i> : working night shifts most of the time

### Table 4. Exposure characteristics

Study	Data source for exposures	Type of shift work	Definition
Fukuoka et al., 2005	interview	Night	working at night
			only former shift workers were included.
Haupt et al., 2008	interview	Mixed	number of years on shift work was recorded as 0, 1-5,
			6-10, 11-20, > 20yr
Hermansson et al., 2007	self administered questionnaire	Mixed	working in shifts, at night, or variable hours
Hublin et al. 2010	self administered questionnaire	Unspecified* and night	working at night was defined as night work.
Hubini et al., 2010	(on two occasions, 1975 and 1981)	Unspectified and hight	'shift work' was not explicitly defined
			working in rotating shifts that change weekly:
Karlsson et al., 2005	company files	Rotating	morning, evening and night
1 unisson et uni, 2000	· · · · <b>·</b> · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	8	number of years on shift was categorized as $< 5 \text{ yr}, \ge$ 5 to $< 10, \ge 10$ to $< 20, \ge 20$ to $< 30$ and $\ge 30$
			working at least 3 nights per month in addition to
Karra 11 4 1 1005	16 - Incident I and diamatic	Detetine	days or evenings in that month.
Kawachi et al., 1995	sen administered questionnaire	Kotating	number of years on shift was categorized as never, 1-
			2, 3-5, 6-9, 10-14 and $\geq$ 15 years
			working in rotating shifts for at least 6 months
Knutsson et al., 1986	interview	Rotating	years on shift work was categorized as 0, 2-5, 6-10,
			11-15, 16-20, > 20
			In past 5 years
			mixed: working in shifts involving either evening or
Knutsson et al.,1999 <sup>§</sup>	self administered questionnaire	Mixed* and night	night shifts, with/without day shifts
			<i>night</i> : working at night, with/without evening shift or day shift
			working in 3 shift rotating system
Koller, 1983	company files	Rotating	years on shift work is categorized as 0-3, 4-12, 13-22
			and 23-40 years

Study	Data source for exposures	Type of shift work	Definition
Laugsand, 2011	questionnaire	Mixed	working in shift work or night work shift work not defined
Liu and Tanaka, 2002	interview	Rotating	working in rotating shifts
McNamee et al., 1996	company records	Rotating	working for at least one month in a three shift, one week, forward rotating system. number of years on shift work was also obtained categorized as $0.1$ - $1.9$ , $2$ - $4.9$ , $5$ - $9.9$ , $\ge 10$ yr
Netterstrom et al., 1999	interview	Unspecified	not defined
Rafnsson and Gunnarsdottir, 1990	company records	Mixed	working in three shifts, day and night
Steenland and Fine, 1996	company records	Evening* and night	<i>evening</i> : working in 2 <sup>nd</sup> shift <i>night</i> : working in 3 <sup>rd</sup> shift
Tarumi, 1997	company records	Unspecified	not defined
Taylor and Pocock, 1972 (re- analyzed by Knutsson et al., 2004)	company records	Rotating	completed 10 years on shift work since 1946, any interruption being for less than six month
Taylor et al., 1972	company records	Mixed	working in either three-shift continuous, three-shift discontinuous, three-shift continuous (rapid rotating), permanent nights, alternate day and night, or double days
Tuchsen, 1993	ascertained at occupation level by Employment Classification Module (registry)	Unspecified*, evening, and night	individuals belonging to occupational groups, whose at least 20% of individuals report of evening work, night work or any other form of shift work
Tuchsen et al., 2006	interview	Mixed	working in either two, three, rotating, permanent evening, permanent night, permanent morning shifts or other non-day work
Vertin, 1978	company records	Unspecified	not defined

Study	Data source for exposures	Type of shift work	Definition
Virkunnen et al., 2006	questionnaire	Mixed	working in 2-shift work, 3-shift work, or irregular work
Virtanen and Notkola, 2002	ascertained at occupation level using Finnish job-exposure matrix	Evening* and night	not defined
Yadegarfar and McNamee, 2008	company records	Mixed	working in either of following shifts for a period of 30 days or more: three shift continuous with one week on one week off, seven-day double-day shifts, five-day double-day shifts. number of years on shift was categorized as 0.1-0.9, 1-4.9, 5-9.9, $\geq 10$

\* Shift schedule used for all analyses, except subgroup analysis by type of shift schedule <sup>§</sup> Night workers were a subgroup of the mixed type group

Table 5. Outcome characteristi
--------------------------------

Study	Data source for outcomes	Outcome	Definition
Akerstedt et al., 2004	Swedish Cause-of-Death register	all cause mortality	total mortality regardless of cause (Chapter XVII [N800–959], according to the 8th and 9th revisions of the ICD
Alfredsson et al., 1985	Swedish hospitalization register	MI	hospitalization for acute MI (ICD 410.00, 410.99)
Allesoe et al., 2011	Danish National Patient Registry	coronary events	first ever hospitalization for IHD, including first ever MI, other acute or chronic IHD, angina or ECG-diagnosed heart disease (ICD-8 410-414, ICD-10 I20-25)
Babisch et al., 2005	hospital discharge records	MI	confirmed diagnosis of acute MI or survivors of sudden cardiac arrest (ICD-9 410) following the WHO definition including ischemic ECG changes, clinical symptoms and enzymatic changes
Biggi et al., 2008	periodic medical examinations by an occupational health physician	coronary events	incident diagnosis of coronary artery disease
Boggild et al., 1999	National Health Service register and Danish Institute of Clinical Epidemiology register	coronary events, all cause mortality	hospital admission for acute MI and death certificate diagnoses (ICD-8 410-414)
Brown et al., 2009	self-report, National Death Index, next-of-kin report, medical records, death certificates	ischemic stroke	evidence of a neurologic deficit with sudden or rapid onset that persisted for >24 hours or until death, confirmed by neuroimaging in 91% of those with medical records
Ellingsen et al., 2007	company medical records	coronary events	incident cases of coronary artery disease or MI

Study	Data source for outcomes	Outcome	Definition
Falger and Schouten, 1992	hospital records	MI	definite first acute MI based on clinical history, standard ECG readings and maximum plasma enzyme levels
Fujino et al., 2006	administrative data held at regional research centers	total and cause-specific mortality	cardiovascular death (ICD-10 I00-I99), coronary death (I20-I25), cerebrovascular death (I60-I69)
Fukuoka et al., 2005	hospital records	MI	elevated cardiac enzyme levels and a history of ischemic symptoms, relevant ECG changes or coronary artery intervention
Haupt et al., 2008	patient interview	MI	self-reported physician diagnosis of MI
Hermansson et al., 2007	reports from hospitals and general practitioners, hospital discharge registers and death certificates	ischemic stroke	WHO MONICA criteria
Hublin et al., 2010	administrative databases held at the Population Register Centre of Finland, Statistics Finland, the Finnish Social Insurance Institution and the Finnish Centre for Pensions	coronary death, cardiovascular events	for coronary death: underlying cause of ICD-10 I20-I24 and ICD-8/9 410-414 for cardiovascular events: disability retirement due to cardiovascular disease (ICD-10 I00-I99 and ICD-8/9 390-459)
Karlsson et al., 2005	National Cause of Death Register (Sweden)	total and cause-specific mortality	death certificate diagnosis in the primary or contributory cause-of-death fields, based on five consecutive revisions of the ICD (6th-10th)

Study	Data source for outcomes	Outcome	Definition
Kawachi et al., 1995	questionnaires, medical records, interview, patient letters, National Death Index, reports from next-of-kin and postal authorities	coronary events, MI, total, cardiovascular and coronary mortality	MI was defined according to WHO criteria; coronary death was defined as fatal MI or CHD recorded on the death certificate as the underlying and most probable cause with previous evidence of CHD (externally corroborated); coronary events was nonfatal MI or fatal CHD; cardiovascular mortality was death from CHD or cerebrovascular disease
Knutsson et al., 1986	death certificates, occupational health unit records, county hospital records, family members, autopsy reports	coronary events	WHO criteria for MI and/or angina defined by typical symptomatology (supported by positive ECG-exercise testing)
Knutsson et al., 1999	coronary and intensive care unit reports, hospital discharge registers and death certificates	MI	typical symptoms, blood marker changes, ECG changes and/or necropsy findings
Koller, 1983	history-taking on a prospective medical check-up	coronary and cardiovascular events	ischemic heart disease (ICD-9 414) and cardiovascular events (414, 440-448, 458, 401- 405, 454-456) as classified by a panel of physicians
Laugsand et al., 2011	hospital records and death certificates	MI	European Society of Cardiology/American College of Cardiology consensus guidelines
Liu and Tanaka, 2002	admissions data for 22 hospitals	MI	ischemic cardiac pain lasting at least 30 minutes, enzyme change and supportive electrocardiography
McNamee et al., 1996	death certificates	coronary death	cause of death coded as IHD on the death certificate

Study	Data source for outcomes	Outcome	Definition
Netterstrom et al., 1999	coronary care unit admissions from two hospitals	MI	severe chest discomfort or ECG signs of MI accompanied by increased creatinine phosphokinase to at least twice the normal upper limit
Rafnsson and Gunnarsdottir, 1990	death certificates	coronary and total death	the officially classified underlying cause of death, reclassified according to ICD-7
Steenland and Fine, 1996	death certificates	coronary death	death due to IHD (ICD-9 410-414) while working or within 1 week of work, with no prior indication of heart disease in their records
Tarumi, 1997	death certificates	total and cardiovascular mortality	cardiovascular death listed on the death certificate and defined as death due to IHD (I20-I25) or stroke (I60-I69)
Taylor and Pocock, 1972a (re- analyzed by Knutsson et al., 2004)	death certificates	coronary, cerebrovascular, cardiovascular and total mortality	cause of death was coded in ICD-7 in accord with established rules for primary mortality tabulation
Taylor et al., 1972b	personnel records	cardiovascular events	medically certified absence from work lasting more than three days with a final diagnosis recorded as cardiovascular disease (excluding varicose veins and hemorrhoids)
Tuchsen, 1993	national inpatient register	coronary events	first admission with a discharge diagnosis of ICD-8 410-414
Tuchsen et al., 2006	national patient register containing all hospital discharge data, outpatient data and emergency room visits	cardiovascular and coronary events	first hospital contacts with a principal diagnosis of circulatory disease (ICD-8 390-458, ICD-10 I00-I99) or ischemic heart disease (coding unspecified)
Vertin, 1978	company medical records	coronary events	absenteeism statistics defined using ICD-7 (Dutch modification) codes for IHD

Study	Data source for outcomes	Outcome	Definition
Virlangen et al. 2006	hospital discharge register and	coronary events	ICD-8/9 410-414, ICD-10 I20-I25 (fatal or non-
Virkunnen et al., 2000	register of deaths		fatal)
Vistonan and Nathola, 2002	national death register (vital	cardiovascular,	cardiovascular (ICD-9 390-459) and
virtanen and Notkola, 2002	statistics)	cerebrovascular deaths	cerebrovascular deaths (ICD-9 430-438)
Vadagarfar and MaNamaa 2008	dooth cortificatos	coronary doath	ICD 410-414 as determined from the code
Yadegarfar and McNamee, 2008	deam cerunicates	coronary dealli	given by the UK Office of National Statistics

Abbreviations: ECG electrocardiogram, CHD coronary heart disease, ICD International Classification of Diseases, IHD ischemic heart disease, MONICA Monitoring of Trends and Determinants in Cardiovascular Diseases, WHO World Health Organization



#### Figure 4. Risk of bias in primary studies

Study	Outcome	Number of events	Risk estimate (95% CI)	Variables accounted for
Akerstedt et al., 2004	all cause mortality	864	HR 1.08 (0.90 – 1.31)	age, stress, physically strenuous work, smoking, chronic disease
Alfredsson et al., 1985 <sup>§</sup>	MI	1201	SHR 1.20 (1.09 – 1.31)	age, county
		580		age, family history, diabetes,
Allesoe et al., 2011	coronary events		HR 0.81 (0.61 – 1.04)	menopause, BMI, smoking, alcohol
				consumption, leisure time activity,
				physical activity at work
	MI	1881		age, diabetes, hypertension, family
Babisch et al. 2005 <sup>§</sup>			OR 1.05 $(0.89 - 1.25)$	history, smoking, BMI, employment
Dubisch et ul., 2003			OK 1.05 (0.0) 1.25)	status, living without a partner, noise
				sensitivity, education, sex*, hospital*
Biggi et al., 2008	coronary events	10	Risk Ratio 2.02 (0.43 – 9.40)	no covariate adjustment
Boggild et al., 1999	coronary events	1006	RR 0.90 (0.70 – 1.10)	age, social class, sleep, tobacco, weight,
	all cause mortality	1659	RR 0.90 (0.80 – 1.10)	height, fitness

 Table 6. Results of individual studies (restricted to shift schedule of primary interest)

<u> </u>	0.4	Number			
Study	Outcome	of events	RISK estimate (95% CI)	variables accounted for	
				age, questionnaire cycle, physical	
				activity, BMI, alcohol, fruit, vegetable	
				intake, menopausal status, smoking,	
Brown at al. 2000	iachamia studza	1660	IID = 1.05 (1.01 - 1.00)	hormone replacement, aspirin use,	
brown et al., 2009	Ischemic stroke	1000	HK 1.03 (1.01 – 1.09)	diabetes, coronary disease, blood	
				pressure, serum cholesterol, husband's	
				education, snoring, sleep duration, atrial	
				fibrillation	
Ellingson et al. 2007	coronary events	67	Risk Ratio 1.99 (1.23 – 3.22)	no covoriata adjustment	
Emigsen et al., 2007	cardiovascular events	223	Risk Ratio 1.89 (1.47 – 2.44)		
Falger and Schouten 1992	MI	133	RR 1 59 (0.96 $-$ 2.64)	age, exhaustion, smoking, education,	
Targer and Schouten, 1992	1411	155	NR 1.57 (0.70 2.04)	hospital site <sup>*</sup>	
	coronary death	81	RR 2.32 (1.37 – 3.95)	age, smoking, alcohol, education,	
Eujino et al. 2006	cerebrovascular death	125	RR 1.12 ( 0.66 – 1.91)	perceived stress, past medical history,	
Fujilio et al., 2000	cardiovascular death	283	RR 1.59 (1.16 – 2.18)	BMI, hours of walking, hours of	
	all cause mortality	1282	RR 0.98 (0.82 – 1.17)	exercise, job type	
Fukuoka et al., 2005	MI	47	OR 1.57 (0.41 – 5.98)	age*, work status*, gender*	
Haupt et al., 2008	MI	140	HR 1.53 (1.06 – 2.22)	age, sex, food frequency score, socioeconomic status, smoking	

Study	Outcome	Number	Risk estimate (95% CI)	Variables accounted for	
Study	Outcome	of events	Misk estimate (3670 CT)	variables accounted for	
				age, smoking, education, job strain, BP,	
Hermansson et al., 2007 <sup>§</sup>	ischemic stroke	194	OR 1.08 (0.69 – 1.70)	serum triglycerides, cholesterol, sex*,	
				survey*, survey date*, locale	
	1 4	700		age, marital status, social class,	
	coronary death	/08	HR 1.11 (0.84 – 1.47)	education, smoking, binge drinking,	
Hublin et al., 2010 <sup>§</sup>				alcohol, hypertension, BMI,	
		563		conditioning physical activity, life	
	cardiovascular events		HR 0.72 (0.53 – 1.00)	satisfaction, diurnal type, sleep length,	
				use of hypnotics or tranquillizers,	
				physical workload, working pace	
	coronary death	662	RR 1.11 (0.95 – 1.30)		
Karlsson et al., 2005	cerebrovascular death	69	RR 1.56 (0.98 – 2.51)	age, duration of employment	
	all cause mortality	1850	RR 1.02 (0.93 – 1.11)		
	coronary events	292	RR 1.31 (1.02 – 1.68)	age, smoking, diabetes, hypertension,	
Kawachi et al., 1995				hypercholesterolemia, past oral	
	coronary death	44	RR 1.19 (0.63 – 2.23)	contraceptive use, current use of	
	cardiovascular death	95	RR 1.46 (0.95 – 2.23)	hormonal replacement, parental MI	
				before age 60, alcohol, physical	
	MI	248	RR 1.34 (1.02 – 1.75)	activity, BMI, aspirin use, quintiles of	

Study	Outcome	Number of events	Risk estimate (95% CI)	Variables accounted for
	all cause mortality	738	RR 1.29 (1.10 – 1.52)	vitamin E, follow-up period, husband's education
Knutsson et al., 1986	coronary events	43	OR 3.32 (1.33 – 8.26)	age, duration of exposure, smoking, family status
Knutsson et al., 1999 <sup>§</sup>	MI	2006	OR 1.30 (1.10 – 1.53)	age*, sex*, residence*, smoking, job strain, education
Koller, 1993	coronary events cardiovascular events	7 45	Risk Ratio 5.17 (0.30 – 89.43) Risk Ratio 2.73 (1.12 – 6.64)	age*, duration of employment*
Laugsand et al., 2011	MI	606	HR 1.37 (1.14 – 1.66)	age, sex, marital status, education, shift work, systolic blood pressure, total cholesterol, diabetes mellitus, body mass index, physical activity, smoking, depression
Liu and Tanaka, 2002	MI	260	OR 1.12 (0.68 – 1.83)	age*, sex*, residence*
Mcnamee et al., 1999	coronary death	443	OR 0.85 (0.65 – 1.12)	age*, smoking, BMI, height, systolic BP, diastolic BP, job status, duration of employment, year of starting work*
Netterstrom et al., 1999	MI	76	OR 1.13 (0.54 – 2.39)	sex*
Rafnsson and Gunnarstdottir, 1990	coronary death all cause mortality	29 70	SMR 1.21 (0.72 – 1.91) SMR 1.01 (0.73 – 1.36)	age, calendar year

Study	Outcome	Number of events	Risk estimate (95% CI)	Variables accounted for
Steenland and Fine, 1996	coronary death	155	OR 1.01 (0.66 – 1.52)	age, worksite, race
Torumi 1007	cardiovascular death	72	OR 2.14 (0.63 – 7.31)	age ich site location blue collar status*
1 arumi, 1997	all cause mortality	171	OR 0.96 (0.59 – 1.56)	age, job site location, blue conar status
	coronary death	409	SMR 1.03 (0.90 – 1.18)	
Taylor and Pocock, 1972a (re-	cerebrovascular death	116	SMR 0.86 (0.64 – 1.11)	····
analyzed by Knutsson et al.,	cardiovascular death	541	SMR 1.02 (0.90 – 1.14)	age, calendar period, sex*
2004)	all cause mortality	1458	RR 1.03 (0.93 – 1.14)	
Taylor et al., 1972b	cardiovascular events	30	Risk Ratio 0.67 (0.32 – 1.37)	age*, organization*, occupation*
Tuchsen, 1993	coronary events	5407	SHR 1.74 (1.65 – 1.84)	age, sex*
Tuchsen et al., 2006	coronary events	130	RR 1.40 (0.90 – 2.12)	annoying noise, coldness, conflicts at work, high cognitive demands, ergonomic exposure, job insecurity,
	cardiovascular events	562	RR 1.31 (1.06 – 1.63)	passive smoking, monotonous tasks, low decision authority, heat, walking or standing for long hours at work, low social support, BMI, current smoking
Vertin, 1978	coronary events	4	Risk Ratio 1.00 (0.14 – 6.96)	carbon disulfide exposure*
Virkunen et al., 2006	coronary events	344	RR 1.30 (1.04 – 1.61)	age, smoking, systolic BP, cholesterol, BMI, gemfibrozil use, noise, physical workload

Study	Outcome	Number of events	Risk estimate (95% CI)	Variables accounted for
Virtanen and Notkola, 2002	cerebrovascular death	2428	Rate Ratio 1.19 (1.01 – 1.39)	age, marital status, professional status,
	cardiovascular death	16344		education, income, socioeconomic
			Rate Ratio $1.02 (0.96 - 1.08)$	status, job exposure variables
		635		age*, year of starting work*, smoking,
Yadegarfar and McNamee,	coronary death		OD 1 02 (0 02 1 20)	systolic BP, diastolic BP, BMI, height,
2008			OR 1.03 (0.83 – 1.28)	work status, duration employment,
				social class

<sup>§</sup> risk estimates were pooled across stratifying variables using fixed effects model

\* matching or stratifying variable

Abbreviations: BMI Body mass index, BP blood pressure, CI confidence interval, HR hazard ratio, MI myocardial infarction, OR odds ratio, RR relative risk, SMR standardized mortality ratio, SHR standardized hospitalization ratio

### Figure 5. Pooled analyses for primary outcomes

Analysis	Events (studies)	<b>Risk Ratio (95% CI)</b> , <i>I</i> <sup>2</sup>	1
Myocardial infarction	6598 (10)	1.23 (1.15 to 1.31), 0%	-
All coronary events	17359 (28)	1.24 (1.10 to 1.39), 85%	
Ischemic stroke	1854 (2)	1.05 (1.01 to 1.09), 0%	+
Sensitivity analysis <sup>§</sup>			
Myocardial infarction, unadjusted	4408 (5)	1.41 (1.17 to 1.70), 70%	
Myocardial infarction, adjusted	4408 (5)	1.27 (1.10 to 1.45), 35%	
Coronary events, unadjusted	8154 (12)	1.21 (1.06 to 1.39), 76%	
Coronary events, adjusted	8154(12)	1.17 (1.05 to 1.31), 56%	-•-
Stroke, adjusted	1854 (2)	1.09 (1.04 to 1.14), 0%	+
Stroke, unadjusted	1854 (2)	1.05 (1.01 to 1.09), 0%	•
Trim and filled estimates <sup>£</sup>			
Myocardial infarction	12	1.22 (1.15 to 1.30), n/a	
All coronary events	32	1.19 (1.06 to 1.34), n/a	
Ischemic stroke <sup><math>\Phi</math></sup>	-	- 0.5 -	1 2.0
		shift work better	shift work worse

<sup>§</sup> These analyses pooled the subset of studies which reported both unadjusted and adjusted risk estimates
<sup>£</sup> Includes hypothetical unpublished studies imputed according to the algorithm
<sup>Φ</sup> Duval and Twedie trim and fill method could not be applied, as only 2 studies were reported

Quitcome	Evonts (studios)	Random effects	<b>1</b> <sup>2</sup>	
Outcome	Events (studies)	risk ratio (95% CI)	Ŧ	
Cardiovascular events	1423 (5)	1.24 (0.81 to 1.89)	85%	
Coronary mortality	3166 (9)	1.08 (0.97 to 1.21)	29%	
Cerebrovascular mortality	2738 (4)	1.12 (0.89 to 1.40)	52%	
Cardiovascular mortality	17335 (5)	1.14 (0.98 to 1.32)	65%	
All cause mortality	8092 (8)	1.04 (0.97 to 1.11)	36%	

Table 7. Pooled analyses for secondary outcomes using random effects model



Figure 6. Funnel plot: effect of shift work on myocardial infarction

Filled study O Observed study

Figure 7. Funnel plot: effect of shift work on coronary events



Filled study O Observed study

Covorists	Estimated β coefficient	Р	$ au^2$
Covariate	(95% CI)	value	
study region (Europe vs. other)	0.17 (-0.09 to 0.44)	0.19	0.032
accrual start (per decade from 1940)	0.04 (-0.01 to 0.09)	0.11	0.029
maximum follow-up (per decade)	0.00 (-0.08 to 0.07)	0.95	0.044
sample size (per 1000 subjects)	0.00 (0.00 to 0.01)	0.44	0.018
% shift workers (of total sample)	-0.11 (-0.65 to 0.43)	0.70	0.031
mean age (per 10 years)	-0.01 (-0.12 to 0.11)	0.92	0.038
% female (of total sample)	-0.02 (-0.28 to 0.25)	0.90	0.035
% blue-collar (of total sample)	-0.02 (-0.28 to 0.24)	0.88	0.012
rotating shift work	-0.06 (-0.25 to 0.14)	0.57	0.031
event type (MI vs. other coronary event)	0.05 (-0.15 to 0.25)	0.63	0.033
data source for outcomes (primary vs.	-0.17 (-0.37 to 0.02)	0.08	0.032
administrative data)			
sample risk (events per 100-person-years)	-0.12 (-0.40 to 0.16)	0.39	0.420
control group (day workers vs. general	0.07 (-0.16 to 0.29)		
population)		0.54	0.032
adjustment (unadjusted vs. adjusted)	-0.50 (-1.06 to 0.06)	0.08	0.031
number of confounders adjusted for	-0.01 (-0.03 to 0.01)	0.28	0.032
SES-adjusted	-0.12 (-0.03 to 0.07)	0.21	0.031
smoking-adjusted	-0.12 (-0.31 to 0.07)	0.22	0.031
risk analysis incorporates follow-up time	0.06 (-0.14 to 0.27)	0.54	0.033
methodological quality (Downs and Black scale)	-0.60 (-1.46 to 0.26)	0.17	0.030
study power $(1-\beta)$	0.12 (-0.13 to 0.39)	0.34	0.029
duration of shift work (per decade)	0.01 (-0.12 to 0.13)	0.94	0.000
Subgroup analyzes by shift schodule	Disk ratio (05% CI)	<b>1</b> <sup>2</sup>	Р
Subgroup analyses by shift schedule	<b>RISK 1 atlo (75 /0 C1)</b>	1	value
evening	1.29 (0.69 to 2.41)	94%	0.43
irregular or unspecified	1.28 (1.01 to 1.63)	92%	0.04
mixed	1.22 (1.08 to 1.38)	46%	0.001
night	1.41 (1.13 to 1.76)	36%	0.002
rotating	1.21 (1.00 to 1.46)	71%	0.0495

 Table 8. Meta-regression results and subgroup analyses for coronary events

# Figure 8. Subgroup analysis: risk of myocardial infarction in shift workers by different study designs



Pooled risk ratio (95% CI) of myocardial infarction with shift work

# Figure 9. Subgroup analysis: risk of coronary events in shift workers by different study designs



Pooled risk ratio (95% CI) of coronary events with shift work





categories of shift work exposure (n is the number of studies in each category)

Study	Risk Ratio (95% CI)	I	
Boggild et al, 1999	0.93 (0.34 – 2.57)		-
Haupt et al, 2008	1.53 (1.06 – 2.21)		
Hublin et al, 2010	0.95 (0.62 - 1.47)		
McNameet et al, 1996	1.06 (0.75 – 1.49)		
Steenland and Fine, 1996	1.10 (0.66 – 1.84)		
Taylor and Pocock, 1976 (re-analyzed by Knutsson et al, 2004)	1.25 (0.88 – 1.76)		
Yadegarfar and McNamee, 2008	1.39 (0.82 – 2.36)		
Total $(I^2 = 0\%)$	1.19 (1.01 – 1.40)	•	
	0.1	1	10

## Figure 11. Risk of coronary events in ex-shift workers

#### **Table 9. Summary of findings**

Question: Does shift work increase the risk of cardiovascular events?

Population: individuals currently employed or ever employed

Exposure: shift work defined as any work schedule other than day work

**Comparison:** day workers or the general employed population<sup>1</sup>

Perspective: shift workers in developed countries

Outcomes	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Publication bias	Number of participants (studies)	Relative effect (95% CI)	Quality of evidence (GRADE)
Myocardial	not likely <sup>2</sup>	no serious	no serious	no serious	not likely <sup>6</sup>	1082077 (10)	1.23(1.15  to  1.31)	moderate <sup>2,3,4,5,6,7</sup>
infarction	not intery	inconsistency <sup>3</sup>	indirectness <sup>4</sup>	imprecision <sup>5</sup>	not nikely	1082977 (10)	1.25 (1.15 to 1.51)	$\oplus \oplus \oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc$
Coronary	not $likely^2$	inconsistancy <sup>8</sup>	no serious	no serious	not likely <sup>6</sup>	1520070 (28)	$1.24(1.10 \pm 0.1.20)$	low <sup>2,4,5,6,7,8</sup>
events	not likely	inconsistency	indirectness <sup>4</sup>	imprecision <sup>5</sup>	not inkery	1550070 (28)	1.24 (1.10 to 1.39)	$\oplus \oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc$
Ischemic	not likely <sup>2</sup>	no serious	no serious	no serious	undatastad <sup>9</sup>	<u>80787 ()</u>	1.05(1.01  to  1.00)	moderate <sup>2,3,4,5,7,9</sup>
stroke	not intery	inconsistency <sup>3</sup>	indirectness <sup>4</sup>	imprecision <sup>5</sup>	undetected	00707 (2)	1.05 (1.01 to 1.09)	$\oplus \oplus \oplus \bigcirc$

<sup>1</sup> shift work event rates were compared with population event rates for three studies

<sup>2</sup> median Downs and Black score for the included studies was 60% (interquartile range, 18%)

 $^{3}(I^{2}=0\%)$ 

<sup>4</sup> population, outcome and intervention were consistent with the question of interest although individuals studies varied

<sup>5</sup> number of events and number of participants studied in the review is large and the confidence interval does not include the null value

<sup>6</sup> publication bias-adjusted estimates did not differ from the observed estimates

<sup>7</sup> dilution effect of single time-point exposure ascertainment allows upgrading of evidence

 $^{8}(I^{2} = 85\%)$ 

<sup>9</sup> publication bias could not be tested for n = 2 stroke studies

Abbreviations: CI confidence interval, GRADE The Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation

#### **1** Summary of evidence

To our knowledge, this is the first comprehensive review of the literature that quantifies the effect of shift work on clinically relevant cardiovascular outcomes. We mounted a large systematic search of more than 12,000 citations and screened these using a uniform set of prespecified criteria. We found moderate quality evidence of an increased risk of myocardial infarction (increased by 21%) and ischemic stroke (increased by 5%) in shift workers according to the GRADE approach, considering the risk of bias, inconsistency, imprecision, indirectness and publication bias.<sup>174</sup> We conclude that the true effect will be close to the reported estimate of the effect, but there is a possibility that it can be substantially different.

The evidence on the shift work-coronary event association (increased by 24%) is low quality because of substantial heterogeneity; therefore, our confidence in the estimated effect is limited. We conducted various meta-regression analyses to identify heterogeneity in the observed effects based on patient and study characteristics, but these analyses failed to explain the observed heterogeneity. However, the ability of meta-regression to examine the effect of covariates using study-level averages of patient characteristics is limited due to ecological bias.<sup>223</sup> We did not find marked differences between the association of shift work and coronary events by the type of shift schedule, level of adjustment or presence of publication bias. The association between evening shift work and coronary events was statistically non-significant, but the effect estimates were again heterogeneous across studies.

We found that the risk of all cardiovascular events increased in shift workers, but was statistically non-significant, which could be due to epidemiologically imprecise definitions of cardiovascular events, encompassing a wide range of circulatory diseases. The higher risks of coronary mortality, cerebrovascular mortality and cardiovascular mortality among shift workers were statistically non-significant and heterogeneous. Therefore, higher risk of non-fatal disease events does not seem to translate into higher cause-specific mortality in shift workers. The 'selection out' of shift workers with elevated cardiovascular risk could be one explanation. Individuals at an elevated cardiovascular risk may leave shift work to prevent disease, or following non-fatal

disability. The results from the subgroup analyses studying the risk of all coronary events in ex-shift workers supported such a dilution effect as the risk of coronary events decreased in ex-shift workers, although the decrease in the risk estimate effect was small. Conversely, the association between the prevalence of cardiovascular disease or cardiovascular risk factors (i.e. hypertension, diabetes, high cholesterol) and quitting shift work to perform day work was non-significant in one study that followed 7,037 female nurses.<sup>63</sup> The duration of follow-up was only 2 years. Moreover, only a few participants quit shift work to perform day work (n = 260); hence there was limited power to detect a significant association.<sup>63</sup> Occupational health screening at workplaces may be another factor leading to 'selection out' of high-risk shift workers reducing the cause-specific mortality in shift workers. It is also important to note that over the last four decades there have been great improvements in the management of cardiovascular disease in developed countries, decreasing the cause-specific mortality rates of myocardial infarction, acute coronary syndromes and ischemic stroke.<sup>224, 225</sup> This may also be a reason for the non-significant results of cause-specific mortality in shift workers.

The results from this meta-analysis concur with previous reviews that reported 1.4 times higher risk of ischemic heart disease in shift workers.<sup>12, 101, 132</sup> Shift work may contribute to cardiovascular disease through a variety of mechanisms. First, shift work is associated with circadian disruption<sup>226</sup>, which could influence cardiovascular risk. While the central circadian rhythm is an important factor for maintaining cardiovascular function<sup>227</sup>, recent studies have suggested an intrinsic tissue level circadian rhythm plays an important role too.<sup>228</sup> Various studies using animal models have found an increased risk of cardiovascular disease with circadian disruption.<sup>131, 229, 230</sup> Second, shift work leads to work-life imbalance and psychosocial stress, which are associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular disease.<sup>67</sup> Third, shift work leads to decreased sleep quantity and quality.<sup>23</sup> A recent meta-analysis found a statistically higher risk of coronary heart disease (pooled risk ratio 1.48, 95% confidence interval 1.22 to 1.80) and stroke (pooled risk ratio 1.15. 95% confidence interval 1.00 to 1.31) with short sleep duration.<sup>231</sup> Abnormal alterations in surrogate markers for cardiovascular disease have been found in short-term shift workers using an experimental study design.<sup>113</sup>

#### 2 Strengths

This study was conducted in accord with published standards for executing and reporting meta-analyses of observational studies.<sup>146</sup> In comparison to previous systematic reviews<sup>12, 101, 132</sup>, our work employed a comprehensive search strategy, searching for relevant articles in six different databases and various sources of grey literature. We prespecified broad inclusion criteria in order to encompass different studies. Reviewers performed the article screening, independently and in duplicate to reduce potential biases. We did not find a significant role of publication bias, assessed by Duval and Tweedie's trim-and-fill method, in the observed risk estimates for primary outcomes.

The Cochrane Collaboration and the PRISMA guideline authors urge systematic reviewers to assess methodological quality of included studies.<sup>141, 142</sup> In comparison to past reviews that did not perform this appraisal<sup>132</sup> or used invalidated assessment tools<sup>12, 101</sup>, we used the Downs and Black checklist to critically appraise the study quality, which to our knowledge is the only validated checklist for methodological quality of observational studies.<sup>158</sup> The methodological quality of included studies in the review was at least moderate. Moreover, the pooled risk ratios for myocardial infarction and coronary events in the subgroup of prospective cohort studies, which are considered methodologically stronger, were higher when compared to that in retrospective cohort studies or case-control studies. This further strengthens our confidence in the results.

A major problem with meta-analyses is the lack of consistent definition of outcomes across different studies. The definitions of outcomes in this review were consistent across different studies and most studies (n = 32) used validated methods for outcome reporting suggesting consistency in outcome reporting.

A caveat that is specific to observational studies is poor control over potential confounding. The risk ratios obtained from the sensitivity analyses by separately pooling adjusted and unadjusted risk ratios in a subset of studies that reported both types of estimates differed only slightly, suggesting a minimal effect of confounding. We also found that associations did not differ statistically between studies that did not adjust for important confounders (socioeconomic class or smoking) when compared to those that

adjusted for these confounders; nor was the total number of confounders adjusted for important. Despite the robustness of these risk estimates, the effect of residual confounding cannot be ruled out.

#### 3 Limitations

#### 3.1 Validity of included studies

Selection bias is a major concern in observational studies. Selection bias occurs in shift work research at more than one level and unfortunately leads to bias in both directions.<sup>182</sup> Because our review is limited by the evidence that is available, we were not able to test the effects of all biases. The 'healthy worker bias' is a common type of selection bias in occupational medicine. It occurs when disease event rates in the employed individuals are compared to those in the general population.<sup>232</sup> Such bias leads to underestimation of the effect of exposure on outcome because employed individuals are considered healthier than the general population.<sup>232</sup> The statistically non-significant results of meta-regression to study the effect of type of comparison group (i.e. day workers vs. general population) on the shift work-coronary event association suggests that the results were unlikely to be affected by 'healthy worker bias'.

Another methodological flaw that is responsible for various exposure ascertainment biases is the dynamic nature of shift work exposure. Unfortunately, only a few studies in the review assessed shift work exposure longitudinally.

Comparatively few studies included in the meta-analysis excluded participants with a history of cardiovascular disease at baseline. The risk of recurrence in individuals with a history of cardiovascular disease is high.<sup>233</sup> Such individuals are less likely to work in shifts after a cardiovascular event; they therefore tend to assort to the control group.<sup>234</sup> Including individuals with a history of cardiovascular disease in studies underestimates the effect of shift work because the baseline risks in the exposed and the non-exposed groups are consequently not comparable.

#### 3.2 Applicability

Our meta-analysis was limited to English-language publications. Although literature on shift work-cardiovascular disease associations was primarily published in the English language, the possibility of reports in other languages cannot be excluded, as our filters would have "automatically" weeded out such reports.

Second, the results of our study should be generalized to women with caution because the studies included in the review predominantly studied male populations. Yet our meta-regression analysis suggested that the proportion of females in each study did not alter the association between shift work and coronary events. For ischemic stroke, moreover, one study included data from female nurses only while the other included data from both male and female participants.<sup>133, 212</sup>

Third, the applicability of our results to shift workers in developing countries is not known. The evidence obtained in this review is mainly from developed countries with more rigorous health care systems and stricter legislation for working hours and worker health than developing countries. The prevalence of shift work is rising in developing countries due to rapid globalization and economic growth. Concurrently, the burden of cardiovascular disease in these countries is also increasing.<sup>2</sup> Therefore, future studies should quantify the shift work-cardiovascular disease association in workers of these countries.

We observed a non-linear dose-response relation between shift work and coronary events. This dose-response relation could be distorted due to the heterogeneous cut-points used to determine different categories of duration of shift work in different studies. Despite this heterogeneity, we found that the association between duration of shift work and incidence of coronary events followed an inverted U shaped curve. This concurs with previous studies that reported a similar relation.<sup>161, 215</sup> The healthy worker survivor bias is a possible explanation for the observed inverted U shaped relation. The most likely reason is that workers who have survived to enter the top quintile of shift work exposure are likely inherently healthier than those who have died or dropped out earlier. In addition, workers who work in a particular work schedule for an extensive period are likely to

adapt to their work schedule. As a result, the psychosocial stress wears off in such workers reducing their risk of developing disease. This could possibly explain the inverted U shaped relationship between shift work and coronary events. Moreover, competing risks in workers increase over time as they get older thus diminishing the strength of shift work and coronary disease association.

Finally, causal inferences from observational studies are not always well accepted. The results of this review are based on observational studies. Therefore, it is not possible to conclude that shift work is causally related to cardiovascular disease. We assessed the overall quality of evidence based on the GRADE approach, which is built on the principles of the Bradford Hill criteria of causality; hence, we believe that the association of shift work with our primary study outcomes (myocardial infarction, coronary events and ischemic stroke) merits serious consideration.<sup>235</sup>

#### 4 Public health impact

We report higher risks of cardiovascular disease in shift workers. Although the increase is modest in comparison with the classical cardiovascular risk factors, the prevalence of shift work exposure in the adult population is much higher than that of most cardiovascular risk factors. We calculated the prevalence of shift work in the working population, aged over 15 years, who had ever been employed in the past 12 months prior to the General Social Survey, 2010 conducted by Statistics Canada. We downloaded the public use file of the General Social Survey 2010 [Canada]: Cycle 24: version 4 edition to undertake this analysis. We found that 32.8% of Canadians, who were ever employed between the years 2009 and 2010, worked in shifts other than day shift. The population-attributable risks of primary outcomes due to shift work were calculated by the following standard formula<sup>236, 237</sup>:

$$PAR = \frac{P_e(RR-1)}{1 + P_e(RR-1)}$$

 $P_e$  = prevalence of shift work among working Canadians (0.328) RR = pooled risk ratio of developing outcome of interest in shift workers

The population-attributable risk is used to quantify the fraction of the population's incidence of a given disease that can be accounted for by the presence of a particular risk

factor. Thus, a higher fraction merits directing resources towards managing the risk factor.<sup>238</sup>

We found that the population-attributable risk from shift work was 7.0% for myocardial infarction and 7.3% for all coronary events. The population-attributable risk from shift work for ischemic stroke was 1.6%. Despite the relatively modest magnitude of association between shift work and the primary outcomes of interest, we found relatively substantial population-attributable risks for these outcomes from shift work. Therefore, public health measures are necessary to improve the health of workers.

#### 5 Measures to reduce the risk

Various measures have been proposed to reduce cardiovascular risk in shift workers. These measures help shift workers to adapt to their work schedules by targeting various pathways involved. Overall, these measures can be divided into four major categories.

#### 5.1 Lifestyle measures

Non-pharmacological measures for improving sleep quality and quantity in shift workers include planned napping during night shifts and timely light exposure.<sup>239</sup> Other measures such as healthy eating and avoiding heavy meals past midnight, improving physical fitness, having routine sleep patterns and developing active coping strategies have been shown to improve the quality of sleep in shift workers, helping them to adapt to shift work.<sup>240</sup> Social support at home and at workplace may be particularly important to reduce the risk of cardiovascular consequences of shift work. Social support may directly mitigate the psychosocial problems associated with shift work. It must be noted, however, that long-term effects of the above measures on cardiovascular outcomes have not been studied.

#### 5.2 Therapeutic management

Melatonin has been proposed for therapeutic management of circadian disruption. This is a compound produced by the pineal gland that can induce time-dependent phase shifts in the circadian clock to correct the mismatch in the circadian rhythm<sup>241, 242</sup> The chronobiotic effects of melatonin may improve sleep quality and quantity in shift workers
and decrease fatigue, both of which can help shift workers adapt to their shift schedules.<sup>243</sup> While the safety of short-term exogenous melatonin administration has been shown in a meta-analysis<sup>244</sup>, the safety of long-term exposure is not known. Moreover, whether the use of melatonin reduces cardiovascular risk is unknown.

#### 5.3 Ergonomically designed shift systems

From the results of our subgroup analyses, we could not find a specific type of shift schedule that is beneficial for shift workers. The incidence of chronic conditions in male rotating shift work was reported to be statistically increased in a Canadian study (odd ratio 1.7; *P* value < 0.05), concurring with the results from our analyses.<sup>19</sup> Multiple failed attempts have been made to develop specific shift schedules that are less harmful. The forward rotating shift systems were reported to be physiologically less stressful than other shift systems in a systematic review by Driscoll et al.<sup>245</sup> However, to date backward rotating shifts have not been shown to be more detrimental than forward rotating shifts.<sup>246</sup>

In general, the recommendations for designing an ergonomically acceptable shift schedule include: a) avoiding night shift work whenever possible, or at least reducing the number of consecutive night work, b) selection of forward rotating over backward rotating shifts, c) avoiding work on weekends, and d) avoiding interposing a single workday between days off.<sup>247</sup> The quality of sleep and self-reported health was accessed in a group of 118 shift workers 15 months after changing their shifts to ergonomically well-designed shifts. The authors found that both sleeping patterns and self-perceived health improved after implementing the new system. However, this study was a pre-post analysis and therefore is subject to Hawthorne effect.<sup>248</sup> Another study reported better health and satisfaction rates in shift workers after introduction of a well-designed shift system.<sup>249</sup> It should be noted, however, that a system developed for one workplace may not always work well with other workplaces; yet by applying general principles of shift scheduling, healthier working pattern for shift workers might be achieved.

#### 5.4 Health promotion and surveillance

The first three measures improve the adaptability of workers to shift systems and the

short-term advantages of these measures have been studied; however, their role in reducing cardiovascular disease morbidity or mortality has not been studied. Moreover, none of these measures can completely eliminate circadian rhythm disruption associated with shift work.

Strategically, applying population-based health programs to a group at higher risk for disease is considered more effective in the reducing incidence of disease than screening the entire population to identify all those at higher risk of the disease.<sup>250</sup> Shift-workers in a workplace represent a unique homogeneous group of individuals performing similar work under similar conditions. Education is an important factor for changing the health behaviours. Awareness programs for shift workers before starting shift work may be important for improving the health of shift workers. Other health promotion programmes specifically targeted to shift workers can also be effective.<sup>251</sup> The effect of one such program, which included (i) routine medical examination including an assessment of suitability for shift work, (ii) health promotion retreats lasting up to three weeks and (iii) financial compensation for employees leaving shift work for health problems, was tested in a study that followed 31,346 male workers in Germany for a period of 11 years.<sup>252</sup> In comparison to day workers, who were not offered this program, shift workers had marginally lower risks for overall mortality, taking age and job level into consideration. The risk ratio of ischemic heart disease in shift workers when compared to day workers was 0.74 (95% confidence interval 0.57 to 0.96) suggesting that the program reduced the cardiovascular risk in shift workers.<sup>252</sup> The risk of cerebrovascular disease, however, was not significantly altered.

In summary, different measures exist to help individual shift workers to adapt to their shift schedules and health promotion programmes for shift workers may reduce cardiovascular risk to a certain degree.

#### 6 Possibilities for future research

Ideally, future epidemiologic studies should consider assessing shift work exposure longitudinally in order to record the movement of workers in and out of shift work. Such a method of exposure ascertainment will be able to delineate some of the selection biases that exist when studying shift workers.

Also important is proper ascertainment of a fuller array of potential confounders and their adjustment. The sensitivity analyses suggested only a marginal effect of confounders; however, residual confounding should be considered. Mediators such as cardiovascular risk factors and certain lifestyle factors should ideally not be co-adjusted when the studying the association of shift work and cardiovascular disease, but if adjusted, both crude and fully adjusted estimates should be reported for ease of interpretation.

#### 7 Conclusions

It is important for general practitioners and occupational health professionals to recognize shift work as a potential risk factor for cardiovascular disease. Therefore, we recommend that a history of shift work exposure should be explored in workers with elevated cardiovascular risk. Unfortunately, the present literature is scant on interventions that can eliminate the higher risk in shift workers. Perhaps the only way to do this is to avoid exposure to shift work. However, as mentioned previously, shift work is inevitable in certain occupations. Therefore, we speculate that early detection of short-term and longterm health effects among shift workers might help avoid the serious consequences of shift work.

Public health officials and policy makers should consider developing health programmes, either at the workplace or at a population level to protect, promote and restore the health of shift workers.

# Appendices

Appendix A. Meta-analysis of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) checklist

Checklict	
Checklist	number
Reporting of background should include	
Problem definition	2 & 25
Hypothesis statement	28
Description of study outcome(s)	22
Type of exposure or intervention used	3
Type of study designs used	31
Study population	25
Reporting of search strategy should include	
Qualifications of searchers (e.g. librarians and investigators)	32
Search strategy, including time period included in the synthesis and keywords	32
Effort to include all available studies, including contact with authors	34
Databases and registries searched	32
Search software used, name and version, including special features used (e.g.,	105
explosion)	105
Use of hand searching (e.g. reference lists of obtained articles)	32
List of citations located and those excluded, including justification	54
Method of addressing articles published in languages other than English	32
Method of handling abstracts and unpublished studies	49
Description of any contact with authors	45
Reporting of methods should include	
Description of relevance or appropriateness of studies assembled for assessing the	21
hypothesis to be tested	51
Rationale for the selection and coding of data (e.g. sound clinical principles or	34
convenience)	54
Documentation of how data were classified and coded (e.g. multiple raters, blinding,	34
and interrater reliability)	34

Charleliot	Page	
Checklist	number	
Assessment of confounding (e.g. comparability of cases and controls in studies	35	
where appropriate)	55	
Assessment of study quality, including blinding of quality assessors; stratification or	35	
regression on possible predictors of study results	55	
Assessment of heterogeneity	37	
Description of statistical methods (e.g. complete description of fixed or random		
effects models, justification of whether the chosen models account for predictors of	37 10	
study results, dose-response models, or cumulative meta-analysis) in sufficient detail	57,45	
to be replicated		
Provision of appropriate tables and graphics	35, 37	
Reporting of results should include		
Graphic summarizing individual study estimates and overall estimate	120	
Table giving descriptive information for each study included	55, 61 &	
Table giving descriptive information for each study included	65	
Results of sensitivity testing (e.g. subgroup analysis)		
Indication of statistical uncertainty of findings		
Reporting of discussion should include		
Quantitative assessment of bias (e.g. publication bias)	90	
Justification for exclusion (e.g. exclusion of non-English-language citations)	92	
Assessment of quality of included studies		
Reporting of conclusions should include		
Consideration of alternative explanations for observed results		
Generalization of the conclusions (i.e. appropriate for the data presented and within	02	
the domain of the literature review)	12	
Guidelines for future research		
Disclosure of funding source	-	

Section/topic	Item	Checklist item	Page
	No		number
Title	1	Identify the report as a systematic review, meta-analysis, or both	ii
Structured	2	Provide a structured summary including, as applicable, background, objectives, data sources, study	iii
summary		eligibility criteria, participants, interventions, study appraisal and synthesis methods, results, limitations,	
		conclusions and implications of key findings, systematic review registration number	
Rationale	3	Describe the rationale for the review in the context of what is already known	25
Objectives	4	Provide an explicit statement of questions being addressed with reference to participants, interventions,	28
		comparisons, outcomes, and study design (PICOS)	
Protocol and	5	Indicate if a review protocol exists, if and where it can be accessed (such as web address), and, if	-
registration		available, provide registration information including registration number	
Eligibility criteria	6	Specify study characteristics (such as PICOS, length of follow-up) and report characteristics (such as	31
		years considered, language, publication status) used as criteria for eligibility, giving rationale	
Information	7	Describe all information sources (such as databases with dates of coverage, contact with study authors to	32
sources		identify additional studies) in the search and date last searched	
Search	8	Present full electronic search strategy for at least one database, including any limits used, such that it	32
		could be repeated	
Study selection	9	State the process for selecting studies (that is, screening, eligibility, included in systematic review, and,	34
		if applicable, included in the meta-analysis)	

Appendix B. Preferred Reporting Item for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analysis (PRISMA) guidelines

Section/topic	Item	Checklist item	Page
	No		number
Data collection	10	Describe method of data extraction from reports (such as piloted forms, independently, in duplicate) and	34
process		any processes for obtaining and confirming data from investigators	
Data items	11	List and define all variables for which data were sought (such as PICOS, funding sources) and any	34
		assumptions and simplifications made	
Risk of bias in	12	Describe methods used for assessing risk of bias of individual studies (including specification of whether	35
individual studies		this was done at the study or outcome level), and how this information is to be used in any data synthesis	
Summary measures	13	State the principal summary measures (such as risk ratio, difference in means).	37
Synthesis of results	14	Describe the methods of handling data and combining results of studies, if done, including measures of	37
		consistency (such as $I^2$ statistic) for each meta-analysis	
Risk of bias across	15	Specify any assessment of risk of bias that may affect the cumulative evidence (such as publication bias,	38
studies		selective reporting within studies)	
Additional	16	Describe methods of additional analyses (such as sensitivity or subgroup analyses, meta-regression), if	38
analyses		done, indicating which were pre-specified	
Study selection	17	Give numbers of studies screened, assessed for eligibility, and included in the review, with reasons for	54
		exclusions at each stage, ideally with a flow diagram	
Study	18	For each study, present characteristics for which data were extracted (such as study size, PICOS, follow-	46
characteristics		up period) and provide the citations	
Risk of bias within studies	19	Present data on risk of bias of each study and, if available, any outcome-level assessment (see item 12).	48

Section/topic	Item	Checklist item	Page
	No		number
Results of	20	For all outcomes considered (benefits or harms), present for each study (a) simple summary data for each	48
individual studies		intervention group and (b) effect estimates and confidence intervals, ideally with a forest plot	
Synthesis of results	21	Present results of each meta-analysis done, including confidence intervals and measures of consistency	77
Risk of bias across studies	22	Present results of any assessment of risk of bias across studies (see item 15)	49
Additional analysis	23	Give results of additional analyses, if done (such as sensitivity or subgroup analyses, meta-regression) (see item 16)	50
Summary of	24	Summarize the main findings including the strength of evidence for each main outcome; consider their	52
evidence		relevance to key groups (such as health care providers, users, and policy makers)	
Limitations	25	Discuss limitations at study and outcome level (such as risk of bias), and at review level (such as	91
		incomplete retrieval of identified research, reporting bias)	
Conclusions	26	Provide a general interpretation of the results in the context of other evidence, and implications for future	96
		research	
Funding	27	Describe sources of funding for the systematic review and other support (such as supply of data) and role	-
		of funders for the systematic review	

# Appendix C. Study eligibility criteria Shift work and cardiovascular outcomes - Study Adjudication

Ref Man #	<b>Reviewer initials:</b>
Primary Author's last name:	Year of publication:

#### All criteria must be met

I Study comparison: shift work vs. controls	YES NO
• Study included a defined group of subject that performed shift work	
<ul> <li>Alternatively, comparisons can include: "night shift" vs. "day shift", "rotating vs. non-rotating/fixed shift", "irregular vs. regular shift", "evening vs. day shift" or "high intensity vs. low intensity shift"</li> </ul>	
II Outcomes	YES NO
<ul> <li>Study measured at least one type of cardiovascular event* <u>or</u> death (*myocardial infarction, cardiovascular death, any coronary event, cardiac arrest, heart failure, stroke, sudden death)</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Study included information to calculate n/N for events in at least two groups (shift and control), where n is the # of patients incurring event and N is the # of patients in each group. If n/N is not provided, the study should have information from which n/N can be derived e. g. incidence rates/cumulative incidence, K-M curves, etc.</li> <li>OR</li> </ul>	
Risk estimates (odds ratio, risk ratio, hazard ratio or relative risk) along with 95% confidence interval (or SE or p value) for association of shift work with events should be available	
III Exclusion criteria	YES NO
<ul> <li>Outcome is subjective cardiovascular complaint or symptom without physician-attributed diagnosis or objective verification</li> </ul>	
IV Final Reviewer's Assessment	IN OUT

Reliability statistics: Final decision – What was the final decision on the paper?	

## Additional Notes:

Database	Search strategy	
Medline	1. exp Cardiovascular Diseases/ or exp Cerebrovascular Disorders/ or exp	
	Cardiovascular Agents/ or exp Cardiovascular System/ or Actuarial	
	Analysis/ or Cause of Death/ or Death Certificates/ or Death, Sudden/ or	
	Death/ or exp Morbidity/ or Fatal Outcome/ or Hospital Mortality/ or Life	
	Expectancy/ or Life Tables/ or Mortality/ or Vital Statistics/	
	2. Blood Pressure Monitors/ or Blood Pressure/ or exp Blood Pressure	
	Determination/ or Hypertension/ or (blood pressure\$ or hypertens\$ or BP or	
	SBP or DBP or diastolic\$ or systolic\$ or antihypertens\$ or prehypertens\$).	
	mp.	
	3. (((hazard\$ or cox) adj2 model\$) or ((systolic\$ or diastolic\$) adj2	
	(dysfunction\$ or function\$)) or (arterial adj2 (occlusive or obstructive)) or	
	(diabet\$ adj2 (angiopat\$ or microangiopat\$)) or (ventric\$ adj2 (dysfunction\$	
	or function\$ or rhythm\$ or tachycardia\$)) or actuarial\$ or aortocoronar\$ or	
	angina or arrhythmi\$ or arteriosclero\$ or asystole\$ or cad or cardi\$ or	
	carotid\$ or cerebral\$ or cerebro\$ or chd or chf or coronary\$ or cva\$1 or or	
	dead or death\$ or died or dying or embol\$ or fatalit\$ or heart or ihd or	
	infarct\$ or isch?emi\$ or kaplan meier\$ or kaplan-meier\$ or lethal\$ or life	
	table\$ or lifetable\$ or mi or morbid\$ or mortalit\$ or myocardi\$ or stroke\$1	
	or thrombol\$ or thrombos\$ or vascular\$ or vasculatur\$). mp.	
	4. or/1-3	
	5. ((on-call or oncall) and (duty or duties or hours or shift\$1)). tw.	
	6. ((shift\$1 or post-shift\$ or postshift\$ or one-shift\$ or two-shift\$ or three-	
	shift\$) adj5 (duty or duties)). tw.	
	7. ((shift\$1 adj (system\$1 or breaks or hour\$)) or (hour\$ adj shift\$1)). tw.	
	8. (shiftwork\$ or shift-work\$ or night-shift\$ or nightshift\$ or night work\$	
	or nightwork\$ or night-work\$ or off-shift\$ or night-call\$1). tw.	
	9. ((overnight or night\$ or float\$) adj5 (schedul\$ or call or on-call or	
	oncall)). tw.	
	10. ((alternating or work\$ or schedule\$ or rotating or backward-rotat\$ or	
	extended\$ or forward-rotat\$ or night\$ or day-night\$ or overnight\$ or	
	unconventional or roster\$) adj3 (shift\$1 or post-shift\$ or postshift\$ or one-	
	shift\$ or two-shift\$ or three-shift\$)). tw.	
	11. ((night\$ adj2 (duty or duties or float\$ or work\$)) or (atypical adj	
	(schedule\$1 or shift\$1 or hour\$1)) or (hour\$1 adj2 (float\$ or work\$))). tw.	
	12. ((roster\$ or work or alternating or rotating or night\$) adj1 schedul\$). tw.	
	13. Night Care/ma or exp Work Schedule Tolerance/	
	14. or/5-13	
	15. (ergonomics or occupational or industrial). jw. not ((microbiology or	
	physiology or hygiene). jw. or Occupational Exposure/ or expos\$. ti. or	
	(torque\$ or cycling\$). tw. )	
	16. Personnel Staffing and Scheduling/ or Chemical Industry/ or exp	

## Appendix D. Search strategies

	Medical Staff/ or exp Nursing Staff/ or exp Work/ or Food Industry/ or
	Industry/ or Metallurgy/ or Occupational Diseases/ or Occupational Groups/
	or Occupational Health/ or Occupational Medicine/ or Occupations/ or
	Railroads/ or Textile Industry/ or Workload/ or Workplace/ or ma. fs.
	17. or/15-16
	18. Chronobiology Disorders/ or Circadian Rhythm/ or "Sleep Disorders.
	Circadian Rhythm"/ or (shift\$1 or post-shift\$ or postshift\$ or one-shift\$ or
	two-shifts or three-shifts or circadians) tw
	19 17 and 18
	20 - 14  or  19
	20.14  or  19
	21. 4 and 20 22. ((abifunction of a shift month of right shift) or right shift) or right month
	22. ((smitwork\$ or smit-work\$ or mgnt-smit\$ or mgntsmit\$ or mgnt work\$
	or nightwork\$ or night-work\$ or off-shift\$ or night-call\$1). ti. or (*Night
	Care/ma or exp *Work Schedule Tolerance/)) and health. ti.
	23. or/21-22
	24. 23 not ((animals/ or in vitro/) not (humans/ or exp persons/))
	25. limit 24 to "all child (0 to 18 years)"
	26. limit 24 to "all adult (19 plus years)"
	27. 25 not 26
	28. 24 not 27
	29. limit 28 to english language
Embase	1. exp cardiovascular disease/ or exp cardiovascular agent/ or exp
Embase	1. exp cardiovascular disease/ or exp cardiovascular agent/ or exp cerebrovascular disease/ or cardiovascular risk/ or exp blood pressure/ or
Embase	1. exp cardiovascular disease/ or exp cardiovascular agent/ or exp cerebrovascular disease/ or cardiovascular risk/ or exp blood pressure/ or coronary risk/ or exp cardiovascular system/ or exp cardiovascular system
Embase	1. exp cardiovascular disease/ or exp cardiovascular agent/ or exp cerebrovascular disease/ or cardiovascular risk/ or exp blood pressure/ or coronary risk/ or exp cardiovascular system/ or exp cardiovascular system examination/ or exp cardiovascular parameters/ or exp cardiovascular
Embase	1. exp cardiovascular disease/ or exp cardiovascular agent/ or exp cerebrovascular disease/ or cardiovascular risk/ or exp blood pressure/ or coronary risk/ or exp cardiovascular system/ or exp cardiovascular system examination/ or exp cardiovascular parameters/ or exp cardiovascular function/ or exp death/ or death certificate/ or morbidity/ or mortality/ or life
Embase	1. exp cardiovascular disease/ or exp cardiovascular agent/ or exp cerebrovascular disease/ or cardiovascular risk/ or exp blood pressure/ or coronary risk/ or exp cardiovascular system/ or exp cardiovascular system examination/ or exp cardiovascular parameters/ or exp cardiovascular function/ or exp death/ or death certificate/ or morbidity/ or mortality/ or life table/ or vital statistics/ or "cardiovascular diseases and cardiovascular
Embase	1. exp cardiovascular disease/ or exp cardiovascular agent/ or exp cerebrovascular disease/ or cardiovascular risk/ or exp blood pressure/ or coronary risk/ or exp cardiovascular system/ or exp cardiovascular system examination/ or exp cardiovascular parameters/ or exp cardiovascular function/ or exp death/ or death certificate/ or morbidity/ or mortality/ or life table/ or vital statistics/ or "cardiovascular diseases and cardiovascular surgery". ec.
Embase	<ol> <li>exp cardiovascular disease/ or exp cardiovascular agent/ or exp cerebrovascular disease/ or cardiovascular risk/ or exp blood pressure/ or coronary risk/ or exp cardiovascular system/ or exp cardiovascular system examination/ or exp cardiovascular parameters/ or exp cardiovascular function/ or exp death/ or death certificate/ or morbidity/ or mortality/ or life table/ or vital statistics/ or "cardiovascular diseases and cardiovascular surgery". ec.</li> <li>exp blood pressure/ or (blood pressure\$ or hypertens\$ or BP or SBP or</li> </ol>
Embase	<ol> <li>exp cardiovascular disease/ or exp cardiovascular agent/ or exp cerebrovascular disease/ or cardiovascular risk/ or exp blood pressure/ or coronary risk/ or exp cardiovascular system/ or exp cardiovascular system examination/ or exp cardiovascular parameters/ or exp cardiovascular function/ or exp death/ or death certificate/ or morbidity/ or mortality/ or life table/ or vital statistics/ or "cardiovascular diseases and cardiovascular surgery". ec.</li> <li>exp blood pressure/ or (blood pressure\$ or hypertens\$ or BP or SBP or DBP or diastolic\$ or systolic\$ or antihypertens\$ or prehypertens\$). mp.</li> </ol>
Embase	<ol> <li>exp cardiovascular disease/ or exp cardiovascular agent/ or exp cerebrovascular disease/ or cardiovascular risk/ or exp blood pressure/ or coronary risk/ or exp cardiovascular system/ or exp cardiovascular system examination/ or exp cardiovascular parameters/ or exp cardiovascular function/ or exp death/ or death certificate/ or morbidity/ or mortality/ or life table/ or vital statistics/ or "cardiovascular diseases and cardiovascular surgery". ec.</li> <li>exp blood pressure/ or (blood pressure\$ or hypertens\$ or BP or SBP or DBP or diastolic\$ or systolic\$ or antihypertens\$ or prehypertens\$). mp.</li> <li>(((hazard\$ or cox) adj2 model\$) or ((systolic\$ or diastolic\$) adj2</li> </ol>
Embase	<ol> <li>exp cardiovascular disease/ or exp cardiovascular agent/ or exp cerebrovascular disease/ or cardiovascular risk/ or exp blood pressure/ or coronary risk/ or exp cardiovascular system/ or exp cardiovascular system examination/ or exp cardiovascular parameters/ or exp cardiovascular function/ or exp death/ or death certificate/ or morbidity/ or mortality/ or life table/ or vital statistics/ or "cardiovascular diseases and cardiovascular surgery". ec.</li> <li>exp blood pressure/ or (blood pressure\$ or hypertens\$ or BP or SBP or DBP or diastolic\$ or systolic\$ or antihypertens\$ or prehypertens\$). mp.</li> <li>(((hazard\$ or cox) adj2 model\$) or ((systolic\$ or diastolic\$) adj2 (dysfunction\$ or function\$)) or (arterial adj2 (occlusive or obstructive)) or</li> </ol>
Embase	<ol> <li>exp cardiovascular disease/ or exp cardiovascular agent/ or exp cerebrovascular disease/ or cardiovascular risk/ or exp blood pressure/ or coronary risk/ or exp cardiovascular system/ or exp cardiovascular system examination/ or exp cardiovascular parameters/ or exp cardiovascular function/ or exp death/ or death certificate/ or morbidity/ or mortality/ or life table/ or vital statistics/ or "cardiovascular diseases and cardiovascular surgery". ec.</li> <li>exp blood pressure/ or (blood pressure\$ or hypertens\$ or BP or SBP or DBP or diastolic\$ or systolic\$ or antihypertens\$ or prehypertens\$). mp.</li> <li>(((hazard\$ or cox) adj2 model\$) or ((systolic\$ or diastolic\$) adj2 (dysfunction\$ or function\$)) or (arterial adj2 (occlusive or obstructive)) or (diabet\$ adj2 (angiopat\$ or microangiopat\$)) or (ventric\$ adj2 (dysfunction\$</li> </ol>
Embase	<ol> <li>exp cardiovascular disease/ or exp cardiovascular agent/ or exp cerebrovascular disease/ or cardiovascular risk/ or exp blood pressure/ or coronary risk/ or exp cardiovascular system/ or exp cardiovascular system examination/ or exp cardiovascular parameters/ or exp cardiovascular function/ or exp death/ or death certificate/ or morbidity/ or mortality/ or life table/ or vital statistics/ or "cardiovascular diseases and cardiovascular surgery". ec.</li> <li>exp blood pressure/ or (blood pressure\$ or hypertens\$ or BP or SBP or DBP or diastolic\$ or systolic\$ or antihypertens\$ or prehypertens\$). mp.</li> <li>(((hazard\$ or cox) adj2 model\$) or ((systolic\$ or diastolic\$) adj2 (dysfunction\$ or function\$)) or (arterial adj2 (occlusive or obstructive)) or (diabet\$ adj2 (angiopat\$ or microangiopat\$)) or (ventric\$ adj2 (dysfunction\$ or function\$ or rhythm\$ or tachycardia\$)) or actuarial\$ or aortocoronar\$ or</li> </ol>
Embase	<ol> <li>exp cardiovascular disease/ or exp cardiovascular agent/ or exp cerebrovascular disease/ or cardiovascular risk/ or exp blood pressure/ or coronary risk/ or exp cardiovascular system/ or exp cardiovascular system examination/ or exp cardiovascular parameters/ or exp cardiovascular function/ or exp death/ or death certificate/ or morbidity/ or mortality/ or life table/ or vital statistics/ or "cardiovascular diseases and cardiovascular surgery". ec.</li> <li>exp blood pressure/ or (blood pressure\$ or hypertens\$ or BP or SBP or DBP or diastolic\$ or systolic\$ or antihypertens\$ or prehypertens\$). mp.</li> <li>(((hazard\$ or cox) adj2 model\$) or ((systolic\$ or diastolic\$) adj2 (dysfunction\$ or function\$)) or (arterial adj2 (occlusive or obstructive)) or (diabet\$ adj2 (angiopat\$ or microangiopat\$)) or (ventric\$ adj2 (dysfunction\$ or function\$ or rhythm\$ or tachycardia\$)) or actuarial\$ or aortocoronar\$ or angina or arrhythmi\$ or arteriosclero\$ or asystole\$ or cad or cardi\$ or</li> </ol>
Embase	<ol> <li>exp cardiovascular disease/ or exp cardiovascular agent/ or exp cerebrovascular disease/ or cardiovascular risk/ or exp blood pressure/ or coronary risk/ or exp cardiovascular system/ or exp cardiovascular system examination/ or exp cardiovascular parameters/ or exp cardiovascular function/ or exp death/ or death certificate/ or morbidity/ or mortality/ or life table/ or vital statistics/ or "cardiovascular diseases and cardiovascular surgery". ec.</li> <li>exp blood pressure/ or (blood pressure\$ or hypertens\$ or BP or SBP or DBP or diastolic\$ or systolic\$ or antihypertens\$ or prehypertens\$). mp.</li> <li>(((hazard\$ or cox) adj2 model\$) or ((systolic\$ or diastolic\$) adj2 (dysfunction\$ or function\$)) or (arterial adj2 (occlusive or obstructive)) or (diabet\$ adj2 (angiopat\$ or microangiopat\$)) or actuarial\$ or aortocoronar\$ or angina or arrhythmi\$ or arteriosclero\$ or asystole\$ or cad or cardi\$ or cardi\$ or cardi\$ or cardia\$ or corbit.</li> </ol>
Embase	<ol> <li>exp cardiovascular disease/ or exp cardiovascular agent/ or exp cerebrovascular disease/ or cardiovascular risk/ or exp blood pressure/ or coronary risk/ or exp cardiovascular system/ or exp cardiovascular system examination/ or exp cardiovascular parameters/ or exp cardiovascular function/ or exp death/ or death certificate/ or morbidity/ or mortality/ or life table/ or vital statistics/ or "cardiovascular diseases and cardiovascular surgery". ec.</li> <li>exp blood pressure/ or (blood pressure\$ or hypertens\$ or BP or SBP or DBP or diastolic\$ or systolic\$ or antihypertens\$ or prehypertens\$). mp.</li> <li>(((hazard\$ or cox) adj2 model\$) or ((systolic\$ or diastolic\$) adj2 (dysfunction\$ or function\$)) or (arterial adj2 (occlusive or obstructive)) or (diabet\$ adj2 (angiopat\$ or microangiopat\$)) or (ventric\$ adj2 (dysfunction\$ or antihypertens\$ or asystole\$ or cardis\$ or cardis\$ or cardis\$ or cardis\$ or cardis\$ or cardis\$ or actuarial\$ or aortocoronar\$ or angina or arrhythmi\$ or arteriosclero\$ or asystole\$ or cardio or cardi\$ or cardi\$ or cardis\$ or cerebra\$ or chd or chf or coronary\$ or cva\$1 or or dead or death\$ or died or dying or embol\$ or fatalit\$ or heart or ibd or</li> </ol>
Embase	<ol> <li>exp cardiovascular disease/ or exp cardiovascular agent/ or exp cerebrovascular disease/ or cardiovascular risk/ or exp blood pressure/ or coronary risk/ or exp cardiovascular system/ or exp cardiovascular system examination/ or exp cardiovascular parameters/ or exp cardiovascular function/ or exp death/ or death certificate/ or morbidity/ or mortality/ or life table/ or vital statistics/ or "cardiovascular diseases and cardiovascular surgery". ec.</li> <li>exp blood pressure/ or (blood pressure\$ or hypertens\$ or BP or SBP or DBP or diastolic\$ or systolic\$ or antihypertens\$ or prehypertens\$). mp.</li> <li>(((hazard\$ or cox) adj2 model\$) or ((systolic\$ or diastolic\$) adj2 (dysfunction\$ or function\$)) or (arterial adj2 (occlusive or obstructive)) or (diabet\$ adj2 (angiopat\$ or microangiopat\$)) or (ventric\$ adj2 (dysfunction\$ or angina or arrhythmi\$ or arteriosclero\$ or asystole\$ or card or cardi\$ or cardi\$ or cardi\$ or cardias or cardi</li></ol>
Embase	<ol> <li>exp cardiovascular disease/ or exp cardiovascular agent/ or exp cerebrovascular disease/ or cardiovascular risk/ or exp blood pressure/ or coronary risk/ or exp cardiovascular system/ or exp cardiovascular system examination/ or exp cardiovascular parameters/ or exp cardiovascular function/ or exp death/ or death certificate/ or morbidity/ or mortality/ or life table/ or vital statistics/ or "cardiovascular diseases and cardiovascular surgery". ec.</li> <li>exp blood pressure/ or (blood pressure\$ or hypertens\$ or BP or SBP or DBP or diastolic\$ or systolic\$ or antihypertens\$ or prehypertens\$). mp.</li> <li>(((hazard\$ or cox) adj2 model\$) or ((systolic\$ or diastolic\$) adj2 (dysfunction\$ or function\$)) or (arterial adj2 (occlusive or obstructive)) or (diabet\$ adj2 (angiopat\$ or microangiopat\$)) or (ventric\$ adj2 (dysfunction\$ or antihypertens\$ or asystole\$ or cardi\$ or angina or arrhythmi\$ or arteriosclero\$ or asystole\$ or cardi\$ or cardi\$ or cardi\$ or cardi\$ or cerebral\$ or cerebro\$ or chd or chf or coronary\$ or cva\$1 or or dead or death\$ or died or dying or embol\$ or fatalit\$ or heart or ihd or infarct\$ or isch?emi\$ or kaplan meier\$ or kaplan-meier\$ or lethal\$ or life table\$ or lifetable\$ or mi or morbid\$ or mortalit\$ or mortalit\$ or stroke\$1</li> </ol>
Embase	<ol> <li>exp cardiovascular disease/ or exp cardiovascular agent/ or exp cerebrovascular disease/ or cardiovascular risk/ or exp blood pressure/ or coronary risk/ or exp cardiovascular system/ or exp cardiovascular system examination/ or exp cardiovascular parameters/ or exp cardiovascular function/ or exp death/ or death certificate/ or morbidity/ or mortality/ or life table/ or vital statistics/ or "cardiovascular diseases and cardiovascular surgery". ec.</li> <li>exp blood pressure/ or (blood pressure\$ or hypertens\$ or BP or SBP or DBP or diastolic\$ or systolic\$ or antihypertens\$ or prehypertens\$). mp.</li> <li>(((hazard\$ or cox) adj2 model\$) or ((systolic\$ or diastolic\$) adj2 (dysfunction\$ or function\$)) or (arterial adj2 (occlusive or obstructive)) or (diabet\$ adj2 (angiopat\$ or microangiopat\$)) or (ventric\$ adj2 (dysfunction\$ or angina or arrhythmi\$ or arteriosclero\$ or asystole\$ or card or cardi\$ or cardi\$ or cardi\$ or cerebra\$ or chd or chf or coronary\$ or cva\$1 or or dead or death\$ or died or dying or embol\$ or fatalit\$ or heart or ihd or infarct\$ or isch?emi\$ or kaplan meier\$ or kaplan-meier\$ or lethal\$ or stroke\$1 or thrombol\$ or thrombos\$ or vascular\$ or or dead or function\$ or morbid\$ or morbid\$ or mortalit\$ or myocardi\$ or stroke\$1 or thrombol\$ or thrombos\$ or vascular\$ or vascular\$ or vascular\$ or or dead or death\$ or mior morbid\$ or mortalit\$ or myocardi\$ or stroke\$1 or thrombos\$ or vascular\$ or vascular\$ or vascular\$ or vascular\$ or vascular\$ or thrombol\$ or thrombos\$ or vascular\$ or vascular\$ or vascular\$ or or vascular\$ or or vascular\$ or morbid\$ or morbid\$ or myocardi\$ or stroke\$1 or thrombol\$ or thrombos\$ or vascular\$ or</li></ol>
Embase	<ol> <li>exp cardiovascular disease/ or exp cardiovascular agent/ or exp cerebrovascular disease/ or cardiovascular risk/ or exp blood pressure/ or coronary risk/ or exp cardiovascular system/ or exp cardiovascular system examination/ or exp cardiovascular parameters/ or exp cardiovascular function/ or exp death/ or death certificate/ or morbidity/ or mortality/ or life table/ or vital statistics/ or "cardiovascular diseases and cardiovascular surgery". ec.</li> <li>exp blood pressure/ or (blood pressure\$ or hypertens\$ or BP or SBP or DBP or diastolic\$ or systolic\$ or antihypertens\$ or prehypertens\$). mp.</li> <li>(((hazard\$ or cox) adj2 model\$) or ((systolic\$ or diastolic\$) adj2</li> <li>(dysfunction\$ or function\$)) or (arterial adj2 (occlusive or obstructive)) or (diabet\$ adj2 (angiopat\$ or microangiopat\$)) or coronary\$ or cardi\$ or cardi\$ or cardia\$ or cerebra\$ or asystole\$ or asystole\$ or cad or cardi\$ or angina or arrhythmi\$ or arteriosclero\$ or asystole\$ or cad or cardi\$ or cardi\$ or diad or death\$ or died or dying or embol\$ or fatalit\$ or heart or ihd or infarct\$ or isch?emi\$ or kaplan meier\$ or kaplan-meier\$ or lethal\$ or life table\$ or lifetable\$ or mi or morbid\$ or mortalit\$ or myocardi\$ or stroke\$1 or thrombol\$ or thrombos\$ or vascular\$ or vascu</li></ol>
Embase	<ol> <li>exp cardiovascular disease/ or exp cardiovascular agent/ or exp cerebrovascular disease/ or cardiovascular risk/ or exp blood pressure/ or coronary risk/ or exp cardiovascular system/ or exp cardiovascular system examination/ or exp cardiovascular parameters/ or exp cardiovascular function/ or exp death/ or death certificate/ or morbidity/ or mortality/ or life table/ or vital statistics/ or "cardiovascular diseases and cardiovascular surgery". ec.</li> <li>exp blood pressure/ or (blood pressure\$ or hypertens\$ or BP or SBP or DBP or diastolic\$ or systolic\$ or antihypertens\$ or prehypertens\$). mp.</li> <li>(((hazard\$ or cox) adj2 model\$) or ((systolic\$ or diastolic\$) adj2 (dysfunction\$ or function\$)) or (arterial adj2 (occlusive or obstructive)) or (diabet\$ adj2 (angiopat\$ or microangiopat\$)) or (ventric\$ adj2 (dysfunction\$ or rhythm\$ or tachycardia\$)) or actuarial\$ or aortocoronar\$ or angina or arrhythmi\$ or arteriosclero\$ or asystole\$ or cad or cardi\$ or cardi\$ or cardid\$ or cerebral\$ or cerebro\$ or chd or chf or coronary\$ or cva\$1 or or dead or death\$ or died or dying or embol\$ or fatalit\$ or heart or ihd or infarct\$ or isch?emi\$ or kaplan meier\$ or kaplan-meier\$ or lethal\$ or life table\$ or lifetable\$ or mi or morbid\$ or mortalit\$ or myocardi\$ or stroke\$1 or thrombol\$ or thrombos\$ or vascular\$ or vascular\$). mp.</li> </ol>
Embase	<ol> <li>exp cardiovascular disease/ or exp cardiovascular agent/ or exp cerebrovascular disease/ or cardiovascular risk/ or exp blood pressure/ or coronary risk/ or exp cardiovascular system/ or exp cardiovascular system examination/ or exp cardiovascular parameters/ or exp cardiovascular function/ or exp death/ or death certificate/ or morbidity/ or mortality/ or life table/ or vital statistics/ or "cardiovascular diseases and cardiovascular surgery". ec.</li> <li>exp blood pressure/ or (blood pressure\$ or hypertens\$ or BP or SBP or DBP or diastolic\$ or systolic\$ or antihypertens\$ or prehypertens\$). mp.</li> <li>(((hazard\$ or cox) adj2 model\$) or ((systolic\$ or diastolic\$) adj2 (dysfunction\$ or function\$)) or (arterial adj2 (occlusive or obstructive)) or (diabet\$ adj2 (angiopat\$ or microangiopat\$)) or (ventric\$ adj2 (dysfunction\$ or rhythm\$ or tachycardia\$)) or actuarial\$ or aortocoronar\$ or angina or arrhythmi\$ or arteriosclero\$ or asystole\$ or cad or cardi\$ or carotid\$ or cerebral\$ or cerebro\$ or chd or chf or coronary\$ or cva\$1 or or dead or death\$ or died or dying or embol\$ or fatalit\$ or heart or ihd or infarct\$ or isch?emi\$ or kaplan meier\$ or kaplan-meier\$ or lethal\$ or life table\$ or lifetable\$ or mi or morbid\$ or mortalit\$ or myocardi\$ or stroke\$1 or thrombol\$ or thrombos\$ or vascular\$ or vascular\$). mp.</li> <li>((on-call or oncall) and (duty or duties or hours or shift\$1)). tw.</li> </ol>

	shift\$) adj5 (duty or duties)). tw.
	7. ((shift\$1 adj (system\$1 or breaks or hour\$)) or (hour\$ adj shift\$1)). tw.
	8. (shiftwork\$ or shift-work\$ or night-shift\$ or nightshift\$ or night work\$
	or nightwork\$ or night-work\$ or off-shift\$ or night-call\$1). tw.
	9. ((overnight or night\$ or float\$) adj5 (schedul\$ or call or on-call or
	oncall)). tw.
	10. ((alternating or work\$ or schedule\$ or rotating or backward-rotat\$ or
	extendeds or forward-rotats or nights or day-nights or overnights or
	unconventional or roster\$) adi3 (shift\$1 or post-shift\$ or postshift\$ or one-
	shift\$ or two-shift\$ or three-shift\$)). tw.
	11. ((night\$ adi2 (duty or duties or float\$ or work\$)) or (atypical adi
	(schedule\$1 or shift\$1 or hour\$1)) or (hour\$1 adi2 (float\$ or work\$))) tw
	(1) (night and work\$) hw
	13 ((roster\$ or work or alternating or rotating or night\$) adil schedul\$) tw
	14 work schedule/ or shift worker/ or night work/
	15  or/5-14
	16 (ergonomics or occupational or industrial) iw not ((microbiology or
	physiology or hygiene), iw, or occupational exposure/ or exposs, ti, or
	(torque\$ or cycling\$). tw. )
	17. occupational health and industrial medicine, ec. or occupational health/
	or working time/ or occupational disease/ or personnel management/ or blue
	collar worker/ or industrial worker/ or worker/
	18. or/16-17
	19. sleep disorder/ or sleep deprivation/ or circadian rhythm/ or "circadian
	rhythm sleep disorder"/ or (shift\$1 or post-shift\$ or postshift\$ or one-shift\$
	or two-shifts or three-shifts) two or circadians mp
	20 18 and 19
	21 ((shiftwork\$ or shift-work\$ or night-shift\$ or nightshift\$ or night work\$
	or nightworks or night-works or off-shifts or night-calls1) ti or (*work
	schedule/ or shift worker/ or *night work/)) and health ti
	22 15 or 20
	23 4 and 22
	24 21 or 23
	25 24 not ((exp "miscellaneous groups of organisms"/ or exp "in vitro
	study"/) not (human/ or exp "miscellaneous named groups"/))
	26 limit 25 to english language
Scopus or Science	1. blood-pressure* or hypertens* or BP or SBP or DBP or diastolic* or
Citation Index	systolic* or antihypertens* or prehypertens*
Expanded (SCI-	2. (arterial AND (occlusive or obstructive)) or (diabet* AND (angionat* or
EXPANDED) or	microangiopat*)) or (ventric* AND (dvsfunction* or function* or rhvthm*
New Conference	or tachycardia*))
Proceedings	3. aortocoronar* or angina or arrhythmi* or arteriosclero* or asystole* or
Citation Index-	cardi* or carotid* or cerebr* or coronar* or cva* or or embol* or heart* or

108

Science (CPCI-S)	infarct* or ischaemi* or ischemi* or morbid* or mortalit* or myocardi* or
or BIOSIS	stroke* or thrombo* or vascul*
previews	4. OR/1-3
	5. ((on-call or oncall) and (duty or duties or hours or shift*))
	6. ((shift* or post-shift* or postshift* or one-shift* or two-shift* or three-
	shift*) AND (duty or duties))
	7. "shift* system*" OR "shift* breaks" OR shift-hour* OR "hour* shift*"
	OR shift-system*
	8. shiftwork* or shift-work* or night-shift* or nightshift* or "night work*"
	or nightwork* or night-work* or night-call*
	9. ((overnight or night* or float*) AND (schedul* or call or on-call or
	oncall))
	10. ((worker* or rotating or night* or day-night* or overnight* or roster*)
	AND (shift* or post-shift* or postshift* or one-shift* or two-shift* or three-
	shift*))
	11. night-duty OR night-duties OR night-float*
	12. work-schedul* OR alternating-schedul* OR rotating-schedul* OR
	night-schedul*
	13. UK/3-12
	or nightwork* or night work* or night call*) AND (death* OP health* OP
	metabolic*))
	15 $((OR/1-3) AND (OR/5-12)) OR 14$
	15. $((OR/1-3) \text{ AND } (OR/5-12)) \text{ OR } 14$ LIMITS LANGUAGES = (ENGLISH)
Google Scholar	15. ((OR/1-3) AND (OR/5-12)) OR 14 LIMITS LANGUAGES = (ENGLISH) "shift work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR
Google Scholar	<ul> <li>15. ((OR/1-3) AND (OR/5-12)) OR 14</li> <li>LIMITS LANGUAGES = (ENGLISH)</li> <li>"shift work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR</li> </ul>
Google Scholar	<ul> <li>15. ((OR/1-3) AND (OR/5-12)) OR 14</li> <li>LIMITS LANGUAGES = (ENGLISH)</li> <li>"shift work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR</li> </ul>
Google Scholar	<ul> <li>15. ((OR/1-3) AND (OR/5-12)) OR 14 LIMITS LANGUAGES = (ENGLISH)</li> <li>"shift work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> </ul>
Google Scholar	<ul> <li>15. ((OR/1-3) AND (OR/5-12)) OR 14 LIMITS LANGUAGES = (ENGLISH)</li> <li>"shift work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> </ul>
Google Scholar	<ul> <li>15. ((OR/1-3) AND (OR/5-12)) OR 14 LIMITS LANGUAGES = (ENGLISH)</li> <li>"shift work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> <li>"shiftwork" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic</li> </ul>
Google Scholar	<ul> <li>15. ((OR/1-3) AND (OR/5-12)) OR 14 LIMITS LANGUAGES = (ENGLISH)</li> <li>"shift work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> <li>"shiftwork" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR</li> </ul>
Google Scholar	<ul> <li>15. ((OR/1-3) AND (OR/5-12)) OR 14 LIMITS LANGUAGES = (ENGLISH)</li> <li>"shift work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> <li>"shiftwork" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd</li> </ul>
Google Scholar	<ul> <li>15. ((OR/1-3) AND (OR/5-12)) OR 14 LIMITS LANGUAGES = (ENGLISH)</li> <li>"shift work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> <li>"shiftwork" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> </ul>
Google Scholar	<ul> <li>15. ((OR/1-3) AND (OR/5-12)) OR 14 LIMITS LANGUAGES = (ENGLISH)</li> <li>"shift work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> <li>"shiftwork" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> </ul>
Google Scholar	<ul> <li>15. ((OR/1-3) AND (OR/5-12)) OR 14 LIMITS LANGUAGES = (ENGLISH)</li> <li>"shift work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> <li>"shiftwork" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> <li>"rotating work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR</li> </ul>
Google Scholar	<ul> <li>15. ((OR/1-3) AND (OR/5-12)) OR 14 LIMITS LANGUAGES = (ENGLISH)</li> <li>"shift work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> <li>"shiftwork" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> <li>"rotating work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> </ul>
Google Scholar	<ul> <li>15. ((OR/1-3) AND (OR/5-12)) OR 14 LIMITS LANGUAGES = (ENGLISH)</li> <li>"shift work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> <li>"shiftwork" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> <li>"rotating work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> </ul>
Google Scholar	<ul> <li>15. ((OR/1-3) AND (OR/5-12)) OR 14 LIMITS LANGUAGES = (ENGLISH)</li> <li>"shift work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> <li>"shiftwork" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> <li>"rotating work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> </ul>
Google Scholar	<ul> <li>15. ((OR/1-3) AND (OR/5-12)) OR 14 LIMITS LANGUAGES = (ENGLISH)</li> <li>"shift work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> <li>"shiftwork" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemic OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> <li>"rotating work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> <li>"rotating work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> </ul>
Google Scholar	<ul> <li>15. ((OR/1-3) AND (OR/5-12)) OR 14 LIMITS LANGUAGES = (ENGLISH)</li> <li>"shift work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> <li>"shiftwork" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> <li>"rotating work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> <li>"rotating work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> <li>"night work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR</li> <li>i dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> </ul>
Google Scholar	<ul> <li>15. ((OR/1-3) AND (OR/5-12)) OR 14 LIMITS LANGUAGES = (ENGLISH)</li> <li>"shift work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> <li>"shiftwork" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> <li>"rotating work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> <li>"night work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> <li>"night work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR</li> </ul>
Google Scholar	<ul> <li>15. ((OR/1-3) AND (OR/5-12)) OR 14 LIMITS LANGUAGES = (ENGLISH)</li> <li>"shift work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> <li>"shiftwork" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> <li>"rotating work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> <li>"night work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> <li>"night work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> </ul>
Google Scholar	<ul> <li>15. ((OR/1-3) AND (OR/5-12)) OR 14 LIMITS LANGUAGES = (ENGLISH)</li> <li>"shift work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> <li>"shiftwork" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> <li>"rotating work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> <li>"night work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> <li>"night work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)</li> </ul>

"evening work" AND (coronary OR cardiovascular OR myocardial OR
ischemic OR infarction OR infarct OR stroke OR cerebrovascular OR
ischemia OR vascular OR angina OR mortality OR morbidity OR death OR
dead OR chd OR cad OR ihd)

## Appendix E. Data abstraction form

## Shift work and cardiovascular outcomes – Data Abstraction Form

Re	eviewer:	Date:
Ι	STUDY	FEATURES
A)	Study D	esign
		Case-controlImage: CohortCross-sectionalImage: EcologicalOther (please specify)Image: Value of the specific of
B)	Data col	lection
		Prospective Retrospective
Π	SAMPL	E CHARACTERISTICS
A)	Geog	graphic locale
B)	Indus	stry(s)
C)	Accru	ual interval (dd/mm/yyyy – dd/mm/yyyy)
D)	Follo	w up interval (dd/mm/yyyy – dd/mm/yyyy)
E)	Inclu	sion criteria
F)	Exclu	usion criteria
G)	Num	ber of workers screened/approached
H)	Final	sample size (after selection criteria)
I)	Comj	parison groups for statistical analyses

Designation of group	Sample size of group

## J) Demographics (overall sample)

Demographic data	Yes	No	Unknown	Mean (SD) <u>or</u> Median (IQR/range) <u>or</u> proportion <u>or</u> other point estimate with measure of dispersion
Age				
Sex (n, % Male)				
Education level				
Socioeconomic status				
Marital status				
Smoking status				
Other (please specify)				
А.				
В.				

Source of information for the sample

Industry records	Interview
Administrative database	Census data
Survey	Routine medical records
Questionnaire	Government/labour bureau
Registry	
Other (please specify)	

#### K) Details of exposure

1. How was shift work defined? (be specific)

Further details on shift work exposure	Yes	No	Unknown
Irregular working hours			
Night work			
Early morning work			
Evening work			
Rotating shifts			
Other (please specify)			
Total number of years of shift work			

- 2. Mean duration of shift work
- 3. Shift work classification:
  - Night work
  - Evening work
  - Irregular work
  - Rotating work
  - Unspecified Shift work

#### L) Details of outcome

1. How many outcomes of interest were assessed?

Outcome	Definition

2. Source of information

Industry records	Interview
industry records	
Administrative database	Census data
Survey	Routine medical records
Questionnaire	Government/labour bureau
Patient registry	
Other (please specify)	

#### III ANALYSIS AND RESULTS

#### A) Confounding

- 1. Which variables were proposed to be confounders?
- 2. Which variables were adjusted for in the analyses?
- 3. Which analytic method was used to control for confounding?

#### B) Analyses

- 1. Which effect measure was reported?
  - Hazard Ratio
  - Rate Ratio
  - Risk Ratio
  - Odds Ratio
    - Standardized Mortality/Morbidity Ratio
    - Other (please specify)

	Outcome of interest
	Years of follow up (cohorts only)
	Events in shift work group (n1)
	Size of the shift work group
	Events in non- shift work group (n <sub>2</sub> )
	Size of the non- shift work group
	Crude effect estimate (95% CI <u>or</u> P value)
	Adjusted Estimate (95% CI <u>or</u> P value)
	Variables adjusted

#### 2. Healthy worker bias

Did the authors account for healthy worker bias? Yes  $\Box$  No  $\Box$ 

If **Yes** – How was this analysis performed? (Give brief details)

#### 3. **Dose response relationship**

How was exposure (shift work) treated in this analysis?

	Crude effect	Adjusted	
Comparison	estimate	estimate	Variables
group	95% CI or P	95% CI or	adjusted for
	value	P value	

#### 4. Subgroup analysis

Subgroup	Operational definition	A priori inclusion? (Y/N/Unclear)	Crude effect estimate (95% CI <u>or</u> P value)	Adjusted effect estimate (95% CI <u>or</u> P value)	Formal test of interaction? Y/N/Unclear

- 5. Describe any other analyses that were performed to assess the effect of exposure on the outcome. Please provide crude and adjusted effect estimate with 95% CI or P values for each such analysis.
- 6. How many separate analyses were reported in the manuscript?
- 7. Did the authors adjust <u>or</u> otherwise account for multiple hypotheses testing? If so how?

#### **V MISCELLANEOUS**

- A) Funding Source
  - Private
     Public
     Mixed

     Not specified
     Unclear
- B) Additional Comments of the reviewer

#### Appendix F. Downs and Black checklist for study quality

#### Reporting

1. Is the hypothesis/aim/objective of the study clearly described?

yes	1
no	0

2. Are the main outcomes to be measured clearly described in the Introduction or Methods section?

If the main outcomes are first mentioned in the Results section, the question should be answered no.

yes	1
no	0

 Are the characteristics of the patients included in the study clearly described? In cohort studies and trials, inclusion and/or exclusion criteria should be given. In case-control studies, a case-definition and the source for controls should be given.

yes	1
no	0

4. Are the interventions of interest clearly described?

Treatments and placebo (where relevant) that are to be compared should be clearly described.

yes	1
no	0

5. Are the distributions of principal confounders in each group of subjects to be compared clearly described? A list of principal confounders is provided.

yes	2
partially	1
no	0

6. Are the main findings of the study clearly described?

Simple outcome data (including denominators and numerators) should be reported for all major findings so that the reader can check the major analyses and conclusions. (This question does not cover statistical tests which are considered below).

yes	1
no	0

7. Does the study provide estimates of the random variability in the data for the main outcomes?

In non normally distributed data the inter-quartile range of results should be reported. In normally distributed data the standard error, standard deviation or confidence intervals should be reported. If the distribution of the data is not described, it must be assumed that the estimates used were appropriate and the question should be answered yes.

yes	1
no	0

8. Have all important adverse events that may be a consequence of the intervention been reported?

This should be answered yes if the study demonstrates that there was a comprehensive attempt to measure adverse events. (A list of possible adverse events is provided).

yes	1
no	0

9. Have the characteristics of patients lost to follow-up been described?

This should be answered yes where there were no losses to follow-up or where losses to follow-up were so small that findings would be unaffected by their inclusion. This should be answered no where a study does not report the number of patients lost to follow-up.

yes	1
no	0

10. Have actual probability values been reported (e.g. 0.035 rather than <0.05) for the main outcomes except where the probability value is less than 0.001?

yes	1
no	0

#### External validity

All the following criteria attempt to address the representativeness of the findings of the study and whether they may be generalised to the population from which the study subjects were derived.

11. Were the subjects asked to participate in the study representative of the entire population from which they were recruited?

The study must identify the source population for patients and describe how the patients were selected. Patients would be representative if they comprised the entire source population, an unselected sample of consecutive patients, or a random sample. Random sampling is only feasible where a list of all members of the relevant population exists. Where a study does not report the proportion of the source population from which the patients are derived, the question should be answered as unable to determine.

yes	1
no	0
unable to determine	0

12. Were those subjects who were prepared to participate representative of the entire population from which they were recruited?

The proportion of those asked who agreed should be stated. Validation that the sample was representative would include demonstrating that the distribution of the main confounding factors was the same in the study sample and the source population.

yes	1
no	0
unable to determine	0

13. Were the staff, places, and facilities where the patients were treated, representative of the treatment the majority of patients receive? For the question to be answered yes the study should demonstrate that the intervention was representative of that in use in the source population. The question should be answered no if, for example, the intervention was undertaken in a specialist centre unrepresentative of the hospitals most of the source population would attend.

yes	1
no	0

#### Internal Validity - bias

14. Was an attempt made to blind study subjects to the intervention they have received?

For studies where the patients would have no way of knowing which intervention they received, this should be answered yes.

yes	1
no	0
unable to determine	0

15. Was an attempt made to blind those measuring the main outcomes of the intervention?

yes	1
no	0
unable to determine	0

16. If any of the results of the study were based on "data dredging", was this made clear?

Any analyses that had not been planned at the outset of the study should be clearly indicated. If no retrospective unplanned subgroup analyses were reported) then answer yes.

yes	1
no	0
unable to determine	0

17. In trials and cohort studies, do the analyses adjust for different lengths of follow-up of patients, or in case-control studies, is the time period between the intervention and outcome the same for cases and controls?

Where follow-up was the same for all

study patients the answer should yes. If different lengths of follow-up were adjusted for by, for example, survival analysis the answer should be yes. Studies where differences in follow-up are ignored should be answered no.

yes	1
no	0
unable to determine	0

18. Were the statistical tests used to assess the main outcomes appropriate? The statistical techniques used must be appropriate to the data. For example nonparametric methods should be used for small sample sizes. Where little statistical analysis has been undertaken but where there is no evidence of bias, the question should be answered yes. If the distribution of the data (normal or not) is not described it must be assumed that the estimates used were appropriate and the question should be answered yes.

yes	1
no	0
unable to determine	0

19. Was compliance with the interventions reliable?

Where there was non compliance with the allocated treatment or where there was contamination of one group, the question should be answered no. For studies where the effect of any misclassification was likely to bias any association to the null, the question should be answered yes.

yes	1
no	0
unable to determine	0

20. Were the main outcome measures accurate (valid and reliable)?

For studies where the outcome measures are clearly described, the question should be answered yes. For studies which refer to other work or that demonstrates the outcome measures are accurate, the question should be answered as yes.

yes	1
no	0
unable to determine	0

Internal Validity - confounding (selection bias)

21. Were the patients in different intervention groups (trials and cohort studies) or were the cases and controls (case-control studies) recruited from the same population?

For example, patients for all comparison groups should be selected from the same hospital. The question should be answered unable to determine for cohort and case-control studies where there is no information concerning the source of patients included in the study.

yes	1
no	0
unable to determine	0

22. Were study subjects in different intervention groups (trials and cohort studies) or were the cases and controls (case-control studies) recruited over the same period of time?

For a study which does not specific the time period over which patients were recruited, the question should be answered as unable to determine.

yes	1
) = =	-

no	0
unable to determine	0

23. Were study subjects randomised to intervention groups?

Studies which state that subjects were randomised should be answered yes except where method of randomisation would not ensure random allocation. For example alternate allocation would score no because it is predictable.

yes	1
no	0
unable to determine	0

24. Was the randomised intervention assignment concealed from both patients and health care staff until recruitment was complete and irrevocable? All non-randomised studies should be answered no. If assignment was concealed from patients but not from staff, it should be answered no.

yes	1
no	0
unable to determine	0

25. Was there adequate adjustment for confounding in the analyses from which the main findings were drawn? This question should be answered no for trials if: the main conclusions of the study were based on analyses of treatment rather than intention to treat; the distribution of known confounders in the different treatment groups was not described; or the distribution of known confounders differed between the treatment groups but was not taken into account in the analyses. In non-randomised studies if the effect of the main confounders was not investigated or

confounding was demonstrated but no adjustment was made in the final analyses the question should be answered as no.

yes	1
no	0
unable to determine	0

# 26. Were losses of patients to follow-up taken into account?

If the numbers of patients lost to followup are not reported, the question should be answered as unable to determine. If the proportion lost to follow-up was too small to affect the main findings, the question should be answered yes.

yes	1
no	0
unable to determine	0

Power

27. Did the studies have sufficient power to detect a clinically important effect where the probability value for a difference being due to chance is less than 5%? Sample sizes have been calculated to detect a difference of x% and y%.

	Size of <i>smallest</i>	
	intervention group	
А	<n1< td=""><td>0</td></n1<>	0
В	n <sub>1</sub> -n <sub>2</sub>	1
С	n <sub>3</sub> -n <sub>4</sub>	2
D	n <sub>5</sub> -n <sub>6</sub>	3
Е	n <sub>7</sub> -n <sub>8</sub>	4
F	n <sub>8</sub> +	5

Appendix G. Forest plots of meta-analyses of observational studies investigating the association between shift work and cardiovascular outcomes

## 1. Myocardial Infarction

Study	Risk Ratio (95% CI)	Weight (%)	1 
Alfredsson et al., 2004	1.20 (1.09-1.31)	49.4	ŧ
Babisch et al., 2005	1.05 (0.89-1.25)	13.1	-
Falger and Schouten, 1992	1.59 (0.96-2.64)	1.5	
Fukuoka et al., 2005	1.57 (0.41-5.98)	0.2	
Haupt et al., 2008	1.53 (1.06-2.21)	2.9	<b></b>
Kawachi et al., 1995	1.34 (1.02-1.76)	5.4	
Knutsson et al., 1999	1.30 (1.10-1.53)	14.4	+
Laugsand et al., 2011	1.37 (1.14-1.66)	10.8	+
Liu and Tanaka, 2002	1.12 (0.68-1.83)	1.6	
Netterstrom et al., 1999	1.13 (0.54-2.39)	0.7	
Total $(I^2 = 0\%)$	1.23 (1.15-1.31)	100.0	•



-

#### 2. Ischemic stroke

Study	Risk Ratio (95% CI)	Weight (%)	
Brown et al., 2009	1.05 (1.01-1.09)	99.3	+
Hermansson et al., 2007	1.08 (0.69-1.70)	0.7	
Total $(I^2 = 0\%)$	1.05 (1.01-1.09)	100.0	•

<----

0.1

\_\_\_\_

1 10

## 3. Coronary events

Study	Risk Ratio	Weight	12
Alfredsson et al., 2004	1.20 (1.09-1.31)	5.7	*
Allesoe et al., 1985	0.81 (0.63-1.04)	4.7	-#-
Babisch et al., 2005	1.05 (0.89-1.25)	5.2	+
Biggi et al., 2008	2.02 (0.43-9.40)	0.5	
Boggild et al., 1999	0.90 (0.72-1.13)	4.9	
Ellingsen et al., 2007	1.99 (1.23-3.22)	3.0	
Falger and Schouten, 1992	1.59 (0.96-2.64)	2.8	
Fujino et al., 2006	2.32 (1.37-3.94)	2.7	· · · · ·
Fukuoka et al., 2005	1.57 (0.41-5.98)	0.7	
Haupt et al., 2008	1.53 (1.06-2.21)	3.7	
Hublin et al., 2010	1.11 (0.84-1.47)	4.4	-
Karlsson et al., 2005	1.11 (0.95-1.30)	5.4	+
Kawachi et al., 1995	1.31 (1.02-1.68)	4.7	
Knutsson et al., 1986	3.32 (1.33-8.26)	1.3	
Knutsson et al., 1999	1.30 (1.10-1.53)	5.3	
Koller, 1983	5.17 (0.30-89.43)	0.2	
Laugsand	1.37 (1.14-1.66)	5.1	+
Liu and Tanaka, 2002	1.12 (0.68-1.83)	2.9	
McNamee et al., 1996	0.85 (0.61-1.18)	4.1	
Netterstrom et al., 1999	1.13 (0.54-2.39)	1.8	
Rafnsson and Gunnarsdottir, 1990	1.21 (0.74-1.98)	2.9	97.3 80. 91. 24
Steenland and Fine, 1996	1.01 (0.67-1.53)	3.4	
Taylor and Pocock (re-analyzed	1.03 (0.90-1.18)	5.5	
by Knutsson et al., 2004)			
Tuchsen, 1993	1.74 (1.65-1.84)	5.8	
Tuchsen et al., 2006	1.40 (0.91-2.15)	3.3	
Vertin, 1978	1.00 (0.14-6.96)	0.3	
Virkunen et al., 2006	1.30 (1.04-1.62)	4.9	
Yadegarfar and McNamee, 2009	1.03 (0.80-1.33)	4.6	international and the second
Total $(I^2 = 85\%)$	1.24 (1.10-1.39)	100.0	•
		0.1	1 10

## 4. Cardiovascular events

Study	Risk Ratio (95% CI)	Weight (%)			
Ellingsen et al., 2007	1.89 (1.47-2.44)	24.4		1.000	
Hublin et al., 2010	0.72 (0.53-1.00)	23.2			
Koller, 1983	2.73 (1.12-6.64)	12.4			
Taylor et al., 1972	0.67 (0.32-1.37)	15.1	8		
Tuchsen et al., 2006	1.31 (1.06-1.62)	25.0		-8-	
Total ( $I^2 = 85\%$ )	1.24 (0.81-1.89)	100.0	12	•	
			0.1	1	10

## 5. Coronary mortality

Study	<b>Risk Ratio</b>	Weight	
	(95% CI)	(%)	
Fujino et al., 2006	2.32 (1.37-3.94)	4.0	
Hublin et al., 2010	1.11 (0.84-1.47)	11.5	
Karlsson et al., 2005	1.11 (0.95-1.30)	23.1	-
Kawachi et al., 1995	1.19 (0.63-2.24)	2.9	
McNamee et al., 1996	0.85 (0.61-1.18)	9.2	
Rafnsson and Gunnarsdottir, 1990	1.21 (0.74-1.98)	4.6	
Steenland and Fine, 1996	1.01 (0.67-1.53)	6.1	<b>_</b>
Taylor and Pocock (re-analyzed by Knutsson et al., 2004)	1.03 (0.90-1.18)	25.8	+
Yadegarfar and McNamee, 2008	1.03 (0.80-1.33)	12.9	
Total ( $I^2 = 29\%$ )	1.08 (0.97-1.21)	100.0	•
		0.1	1 10

## 6. Cerebrovascular death

Study	Risk Ratio (95% CI)	Weight (%)	т	
Fujino et al., 2006	1.12 (0.66-1.91)	13.5	-	
Karlsson et al., 2005	1.56 (0.97-2.50)	16.1		
Taylor and Pocock (re-analyzed by Knutsson et al., 2004)	0.86 (0.65-1.12)	29.5	-=-	
Virtanen and Notkola, 2002	1.19 (1.01-1.40)	41.0	-	
Total $(I^2 = 52\%)$	1.12 (0.89-1.40)	100.0	•	
		0.1	1	10

## 7. Cardiovascular mortality

Study	Risk Ratio (95% CI)	Weight (%)	i i	
Fujino et al., 2006	1.59 (1.16-2.18)	14.8		
Kawachi et al., 1995	1.46 (0.95-2.24)	9.6	27 <u> </u>	
Tarumi, 1997	2.14 (0.63-7.29)	1.5	· · ·	
Taylor and Pocock (re-analyzed by Knutsson et al., 2004)	1.02 (0.90-1.15)	33.8	: <b>#</b> :	
Virtanen and Notkola, 2002	1.02 (0.96-1.08)	40.3		
Total $(I^2 = 65\%)$	1.14 (0.98-1.32)	100.0	<b>◆</b>	
		0.1	1	10

# 8. All cause mortality

Study	Risk Ratio (95% CI)	Weight (%)	15	
Akerstedt et al., 2004	1.08 (0.90-1.31)	10.3	-	
Boggild et al., 1999	0.90 (0.77-1.06)	13.2		
Fujino et al., 2006	0.98 (0.82-1.17)	11.3	e <mark>de</mark> s	
Karlsson et al., 2005	1.02 (0.93-1.11)	24.1		
Kawachi et al., 1999	1.29 (1.10-1.52)	12.9	-#-	
Rafnsson and Gunnarsdottir, 1990	1.01 (0.74-1.38)	4.6	-	
Tarumi, 1997	0.96 (0.59-1.56)	2.0	1 <u>0 - 1</u> 0	
Taylor and Pocock (re-analyzed by Knutsson et al., 2004)	1.03 (0.93-1.14)	21.5	•	
Total $(I^2 = 36\%)$	1.04 (0.97-1.11)	100.0	•	
		0.1	1	10

	year of	duration of	effective	% shift		%
study	accrual	follow-up	sample size	workers	mean age	females
alfredsson	1975	1	958096	NA	42.00	NA
allesoe	1993	15	12116	NA	51.00	1
babisch	1998	NA	4115	0.23	56.52	0.26
biggi	1976	32	468	0.66	45.49	0
boggild	1970	22	5207	0.22	48.13	0
ellingsen	1972	31	2562	0.25	47.00	0
falger	1980	NA	325	0.68	51.13	0
fujinio	1988	15	16785	0.12	49.47	0
fukuoka	2002	NA	94	0.11	51.35	0.02
haupt	1997	67.17	2510	0.28	61.72	0.5
hublin	1975	22	18609	0.11	40.20	0.51
karlsson	1940	50	5442	0.43	26.27	0
kawaachi	1976	4	79109	0.59	54.50	1
knutsson 86	1968	15	504	0.78	39.89	0
knutsson 99	1992	NA	4571	0.14	55.00	0.31
koller	1978	32.85	267	0.75	33.70	0
liu	1996	NA	705	0.10	56.87	0
mcnamee	1950	NA	886	0.67	38.70	0
netterstrom	1991	NA	252	0.15	50.34	0
rafnsson	1954	32	603	0.35	NA	0
steenland	1951	NA	889	0.24	NA	0
taylor/knutsson	1956	13	8048	0.52	59.50	0
tuchsen 93	1981	4	366055	0.33	39.50	0
tuchsen 06	1991	12	5455	0.17	35.59	0.48
vertin	1971	3	200	0.50	49.89	0
virkunen	1982	13	1804	0.37	52.65	0
yadegarfar	1950	NA	1270	0.55	35.75	0
laugsand	1995	11.4	33123	0.15	49.45	0.55

Appendix H. Data on covariates for meta-regression analyses

(Part 1)

(Part 2)
----------

	% blue						
	collar	rotating		source of	sample	Control	adjusted for
study	workers	shifts	MI	outcome	risk	group	confounders
alfredsson	NA	Ν	Y	2	0.13	general	Y
allesoe	0	Y	Ν	2	0.32	day	Y
babisch	NA	Ν	Y	1	45.71	day	Y
biggi	1	Ν	Ν	1	0.07	day	Ν
boggild	0.74	Ν	Ν	2	0.88	day	Y
ellingsen	NA	Y	Ν	1	0.08	day	Ν
falger	NA	Ν	Y	1	40.92	day	Y
fujinio	0.53	Y	Ν	2	0.04	day	Y
fukuoka	0.17	Ν	Y	1	50.00	day	Y
haupt	NA	Ν	Y	1	0.16	day	Y
hublin	0.49	Ν	Ν	2	0.21	day	Y
karlsson	1	Y	Ν	2	0.40	day	Y
kawaachi	0	Y	Ν	1	0.10	day	Y
knutsson 86	1	Y	Ν	1	0.69	day	Y
knutsson 99	NA	Ν	Y	1	43.16	day	Y
koller	1	Y	Ν	1	0.14	day	Ν
liu	0.36	Y	Y	1	36.88	day	Ν
mcnamee	1	Y	Ν	2	50.00	day	Y
netterstrom	0.37	Ν	Y	1	30.16	day	Y
rafnsson	0.83	Ν	Ν	2	0.80	general	Y
steenland	1	Ν	Ν	2	17.44	day	Y
taylor/knutsson	1	Y	Ν	2	0.53	general	Y
tuchsen 93	NA	Ν	Ν	2	0.37	general	Y
tuchsen 06	NA	Ν	Ν	2	0.17	day	Y
vertin	1	Ν	Ν	1	0.67	day	Ν
virkunen	0.71	Ν	Ν	2	1.80	day	Y
yadegarfar	1	Ν	Ν	2	50.00	day	Y
laugsand	NA	Ν	Y	1	0.15	day	Y

Source of outcome: 1 = primary and 2 = secondary Control group: general = general population and day = day workers

( <b>P</b>	art	3)
~		

study	# of confounders	adjusted for SES	adjusted for smoking	time dependence	Downs and Black score	power score (1-β)	duration of shift work (years)
alfredsson	1	Ν	Ν	Y	0.66	0.95	NA
allesoe	10	Y	Y	Y	0.71	NA	NA
babisch	10	Y	Y	Ν	0.59	0.06	NA
biggi	0	Ν	Ν	Ν	0.41	0.06	NA
boggild	7	Y	Y	Y	0.86	1	10.1
ellingsen	0	Ν	Ν	Ν	0.41	0.74	NA
falger	2	Ν	Ν	Ν	0.52	0.58	NA
fujinio	10	Y	Y	Y	0.66	0.65	NA
fukuoka	2	Ν	Ν	Ν	0.48	0.52	NA
haupt	3	Ν	Y	Y	0.66	0.83	13.2
hublin	16	Y	Y	Y	0.75	NA	12.19
karlsson	1	Ν	Ν	Y	0.69	1	23.1
kawaachi	15	Y	Y	Y	0.79	0.88	3.99
knutsson 86	1	Ν	Ν	Y	0.66	0.06	15.24
knutsson 99	3	Y	Y	Ν	0.83	1.00	NA
koller	0	Ν	Ν	Ν	0.45	0.62	7.88
liu	2	Ν	Ν	Ν	0.52	0.05	NA
mcnamee	7	Ν	Y	Ν	0.59	0.29	3.7
netterstrom	2	Ν	Ν	Ν	0.48	0.08	NA
rafnsson	1	Ν	Ν	Y	0.59	1.00	7.61
steenland	3	Ν	Ν	Ν	0.52	0.06	NA
taylor/knutsson	1	Ν	Ν	Y	0.69	1.00	10
tuchsen 93	1	Ν	Ν	Y	0.59	1.00	NA
tuchsen 06	16	Ν	Y	Y	0.86	1.00	NA
vertin	0	Ν	Ν	Ν	0.34	0.05	NA
virkunen	4	Ν	Y	Y	0.62	0.75	NA
yadegarfar	8	Y	Y	Ν	0.66	0.11	7.55
laugsand	10	Y	Y	Y	0.67	NA	NA

Abbreviations: Y yes, N no, NA not available

## References

1. Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Schunemann HJ, Tugwell P, Knottnerus A. GRADE guidelines: a new series of articles in the Journal of Clinical Epidemiology. *J Clin Epidemiol* 2011; Apr;64(4):380-2.

2. Mendis S, Puska P, Norrving B, (editors). Global Atlas on Cardiovascular Disease Prevention and Control. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011.

3. Epstein FH. Cardiovascular Disease Epidemiology : A Journey From the Past Into the Future. *Circulation* 1996; May 01;93(9):1755-64.

4. Leading causes of death in Canada, 2008. Statistics Canada [serial online] 2008 Available from: URL: <u>http://www.statcan.gc.ca/daily-quotidien/111101/dq111101b-eng.htm</u>.

5. Grundy SM, Pasternak R, Greenland P, Smith SJ, Fuster V. Assessment of cardiovascular risk by use of multiple-risk-factor assessment equations: a statement for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association and the American College of Cardiology. *Circulation* 1999; Sep 28;100(13):1481-92.

6. Roger VL, Go AS, Lloyd-Jones DM, Benjamin EJ, Berry JD, Borden WB, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics-2012 update: a report from the american heart association. *Circulation* 2012; Jan 3;125(1):e2-e220.

7. Thériault L, Stonebridge C, Browarski S. The Canadian Heart Health Strategy: Risk Factors and Future Cost Implications. The Conference Board of Canada; 2010.

8. Heidenreich PA, Trogdon JG, Khavjou OA, Butler J, Dracup K, Ezekowitz MD, et al. Forecasting the future of cardiovascular disease in the United States: a policy statement from the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 2011; Mar 1;123(8):933-44.

9. Allender S, Scarborough P, O'Flaherty M, Capewell S. Patterns of coronary heart disease mortality over the 20th century in England and Wales: Possible plateaus in the rate of decline. *BMC Public Health* 2008; May 1;8:148.

10. Karasek R, Collins S, Clays E, Bortkiewicz A, Ferrario M. Description of a Large-Scale Study Design to Assess Work-Stress-Disease Associations for Cardiovascular Disease. *International Journal of Occupational Medicine & Environmental Health* (*Instytut Medycyny Pracy Im Jerzego Nofera*) 2010; 07;23(3):293-312. 11. Tudor-Locke C, Leonardi C, Johnson WD, Katzmarzyk PT. Time spent in physical activity and sedentary behaviors on the working day: the American time use survey. *J Occup Environ Med* 2011; Dec;53(12):1382-7.

12. Kristensen TS. Cardiovascular diseases and the work environment. A critical review of the epidemiologic literature on nonchemical factors. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 1989; Jun;15(3):165-79.

13. Shift work. *Conditions of Work and Employment Programme* 2004;Information sheet No. WT-8.

14. Costa G, Akerstedt T, Nachreiner F, Baltieri F, Carvalhais J, Folkard S, et al. Flexible working hours, health, and well-being in Europe: some considerations from a SALTSA project. *Chronobiol Int* 2004;21(6):831-44.

15. Workers on flexible and shift schedules in May 2004. United States Department of Labor; 2005.

16. Williams C. Work-life balance of shift workers. *Perspectives on Labour and Income* 2008;9(8).

17. The prevalence of shift work in Canada. ; 2010.

18. Rajaratnam SM, Arendt J. Health in a 24-h society. *Lancet* 2001; Sep 22;358(9286):999-1005.

19. Shields M. Shift work and health. Health Rep 2002; Jul;13(4):11-33.

20. Stirling B. *Shifting times: the perils of shift work* Regina: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives-Saskatchewan; 2007.

21. Akerstedt T. Psychological and psychophysiological effects of shift work. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 1990;16 Suppl 1:67-73.

22. Pilcher JJ, Lambert BJ, Huffcutt AI. Differential effects of permanent and rotating shifts on self-report sleep length: a meta-analytic review. *Sleep* 2000; Mar 15;23(2):155-63.

23. Niu SF, Chung MH, Chen CH, Hegney D, O'Brien A, Chou KR. The effect of shift rotation on employee cortisol profile, sleep quality, fatigue, and attention level: a systematic review. *J Nurs Res* 2011; Mar;19(1):68-81.

24. Akerstedt T. Work hours and sleepiness. Neurophysiol Clin 1995;25(6):367-75.

25. Folkard S, Tucker P. Shift work, safety and productivity. *Occup Med (Lond)* 2003; Mar;53(2):95-101.

26. Lockley SW, Barger LK, Ayas NT, Rothschild JM, Czeisler CA, Landrigan CP, et al. Effects of health care provider work hours and sleep deprivation on safety and performance. *Jt Comm J Qual Patient Saf* 2007; Nov;33(11 Suppl):7-18.

27. Halpern DF. How time-flexible work policies can reduce stress, improve health, and save money. *Stress and Health*21(3):157-168.

28. Driesen K, Jansen NW, van Amelsvoort LG, Kant I. The mutual relationship between shift work and depressive complaints - a prospective cohort study. Scand J Work Environ Health [serial online] 2011 Apr 27;.

29. Scott AJ, Monk TH, Brink LL. Shiftwork as a Risk Factor for Depression: A Pilot Study. *Int J Occup Environ Health* 1997; Jul;3(Supplement 2):S2-9.

30. Bara AC, Arber S. Working shifts and mental health--findings from the British Household Panel Survey (1995-2005). *Scand J Work Environ Health* 2009; Oct;35(5):361-7.

31. Esquirol Y, Perret B, Ruidavets JB, Marquie JC, Dienne E, Niezborala M, et al. Shift work and cardiovascular risk factors: New knowledge from the past decade. *Arch Cardiovasc Dis* 2011; Dec;104(12):636-68.

32. Alfredsson L, Akerstedt T, Mattsson M, Wilborg B. Self-reported health and wellbeing amongst night security guards: a comparison with the working population. *Ergonomics* 1991; May;34(5):525-30.

33. Caruso CC, Lusk SL, Gillespie BW. Relationship of work schedules to gastrointestinal diagnoses, symptoms, and medication use in auto factory workers. *Am J Ind Med* 2004; Dec;46(6):586-98.

34. Prunier-Poulmaire S, Gadbois C, Volkoff S. Combined effects of shift systems and work requirements on customs officers. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 1998;24 Suppl 3:134-40.

35. Nojkov B, Rubenstein JH, Chey WD, Hoogerwerf WA. The impact of rotating shift work on the prevalence of irritable bowel syndrome in nurses. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2010; Apr;105(4):842-7.

36. Sugisawa A, Uehata T. Onset of peptic ulcer and its relation to work-related factors
and life events: a prospective study. J Occup Health 1998;40:22-31.

37. Waterhouse J, Buckley P, Edwards B, Reilly T. Measurement of, and some reasons for, differences in eating habits between night and day workers. *Chronobiol Int* 2003; Nov;20(6):1075-92.

38. Zober A, Schilling D, Ott MG, Schauwecker P, Riemann JF, Messerer P. Helicobacter pylori infection: prevalence and clinical relevance in a large company. *J Occup Environ Med* 1998; Jul;40(7):586-94.

39. de Assis MA, Kupek E, Nahas MV, Bellisle F. Food intake and circadian rhythms in shift workers with a high workload. *Appetite* 2003; Apr;40(2):175-83.

40. Megdal SP, Kroenke CH, Laden F, Pukkala E, Schernhammer ES. Night work and breast cancer risk: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur J Cancer* 2005; Sep;41(13):2023-32.

41. Kubo T, Ozasa K, Mikami K, Wakai K, Fujino Y, Watanabe Y, et al. Prospective cohort study of the risk of prostate cancer among rotating-shift workers: findings from the Japan collaborative cohort study. *Am J Epidemiol* 2006; Sep 15;164(6):549-55.

42. Conlon M, Lightfoot N, Kreiger N. Rotating shift work and risk of prostate cancer. *Epidemiology* 2007; Jan;18(1):182-3.

43. Kubo T, Oyama I, Nakamura T, Kunimoto M, Kadowaki K, Otomo H, et al. Industrybased retrospective cohort study of the risk of prostate cancer among rotating-shift workers. *Int J Urol* 2011; Mar;18(3):206-11.

44. Poole EM, Schernhammer ES, Tworoger SS. Rotating night shift work and risk of ovarian cancer. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 2011; May;20(5):934-8.

45. Kolstad HA. Nightshift work and risk of breast cancer and other cancers--a critical review of the epidemiologic evidence. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 2008; Feb;34(1):5-22.

46. Schernhammer ES, Razavi P, Li TY, Qureshi AA, Han J. Rotating night shifts and risk of skin cancer in the nurses' health study. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 2011; Apr 6;103(7):602-6.

47. Viswanathan AN, Hankinson SE, Schernhammer ES. Night shift work and the risk of endometrial cancer. *Cancer Res* 2007; Nov 1;67(21):10618-22.

48. Straif K, Baan R, Grosse Y, Secretan B, El Ghissassi F, Bouvard V, et al. Carcinogenicity of shift-work, painting, and fire-fighting. *Lancet Oncol* 2007; Dec;8(12):1065-6.

49. Dumont M, Lanctot V, Cadieux-Viau R, Paquet J. Melatonin production and light exposure of rotating night workers. *Chronobiol Int* 2012; Mar;29(2):203-10.

50. Hill SM, Blask DE, Xiang S, Yuan L, Mao L, Dauchy RT, et al. Melatonin and associated signaling pathways that control normal breast epithelium and breast cancer. *J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia* 2011; Sep;16(3):235-45.

51. Infante-Rivard C, David M, Gauthier R, Rivard GE. Pregnancy loss and work schedule during pregnancy. *Epidemiology* 1993; Jan;4(1):73-5.

52. Armstrong BG, Nolin AD, McDonald AD. Work in pregnancy and birth weight for gestational age. *Br J Ind Med* 1989; Mar;46(3):196-9.

53. Xu X, Ding M, Li B, Christiani DC. Association of rotating shiftwork with preterm births and low birth weight among never smoking women textile workers in China. *Occup Environ Med* 1994; Jul;51(7):470-4.

54. Nurminen T. Shift work, fetal development and course of pregnancy. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 1989; Dec;15(6):395-403.

55. Bonzini M, Palmer KT, Coggon D, Carugno M, Cromi A, Ferrario MM. Shift work and pregnancy outcomes: a systematic review with meta-analysis of currently available epidemiological studies. *BJOG* 2011; Nov;118(12):1429-37.

56. Mahoney MM. Shift work, jet lag, and female reproduction. *Int J Endocrinol* 2010;2010:813764.

57. Bisanti L, Olsen J, Basso O, Thonneau P, Karmaus W. Shift work and subfecundity: a European multicenter study. European Study Group on Infertility and Subfecundity. *J Occup Environ Med* 1996; Apr;38(4):352-8.

58. Zhu JL, Hjollund NH, Boggild H, Olsen J. Shift work and subfecundity: a causal link or an artefact?. *Occup Environ Med* 2003; Sep;60(9):E12.

59. Tuntiseranee P, Olsen J, Geater A, Kor-anantakul O. Are long working hours and shiftwork risk factors for subfecundity? A study among couples from southern Thailand. *Occup Environ Med* 1998; Feb;55(2):99-105.

60. Obesity and Overweight 2003 Available from: URL: http://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/media/en/gsfs\_obesity.pdf.

61. Pi-Sunyer FX. Health implications of obesity. *Am J Clin Nutr* 1991; Jun;53(6 Suppl):1595S-603S.

62. Di Lorenzo L, De Pergola G, Zocchetti C, L'Abbate N, Basso A, Pannacciulli N, et al. Effect of shift work on body mass index: results of a study performed in 319 glucose-tolerant men working in a Southern Italian industry. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord* 2003; Nov;27(11):1353-8.

63. Kivimaki M, Virtanen M, Elovainio M, Vaananen A, Keltikangas-Jarvinen L, Vahtera J. Prevalent cardiovascular disease, risk factors and selection out of shift work. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 2006; Jun;32(3):204-8.

64. Zhao I, Bogossian F, Song S, Turner C. The association between shift work and unhealthy weight: a cross-sectional analysis from the Nurses and Midwives' e-cohort Study. *J Occup Environ Med* 2011; Feb;53(2):153-8.

65. van Amelsvoort LG, Schouten EG, Kok FJ. Duration of shiftwork related to body mass index and waist to hip ratio. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord* 1999; Sep;23(9):973-8.

66. Suwazono Y, Dochi M, Sakata K, Okubo Y, Oishi M, Tanaka K, et al. A longitudinal study on the effect of shift work on weight gain in male Japanese workers. *Obesity (Silver Spring)* 2008; Aug;16(8):1887-93.

67. Puttonen S, Harma M, Hublin C. Shift work and cardiovascular disease - pathways from circadian stress to morbidity. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 2010; Mar;36(2):96-108.

68. Lowden A, Moreno C, Holmback U, Lennernas M, Tucker P. Eating and shift work - effects on habits, metabolism and performance. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 2010; Mar;36(2):150-62.

69. Ekmekcioglu C, Touitou Y. Chronobiological aspects of food intake and metabolism and their relevance on energy balance and weight regulation. *Obes Rev* 2011; Jan;12(1):14-25.

70. Karlsson B, Knutsson A, Lindahl B. Is there an association between shift work and having a metabolic syndrome? Results from a population based study of 27,485 people. *Occup Environ Med* 2001; Nov;58(11):747-52.

71. Karlsson BH, Knutsson AK, Lindahl BO, Alfredsson LS. Metabolic disturbances in male workers with rotating three-shift work. Results of the WOLF study. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health* 2003; Jul;76(6):424-30.

72. Suwazono Y, Sakata K, Okubo Y, Harada H, Oishi M, Kobayashi E, et al. Long-term longitudinal study on the relationship between alternating shift work and the onset of diabetes mellitus in male Japanese workers. *J Occup Environ Med* 2006; May;48(5):455-61.

73. Morikawa Y, Nakagawa H, Miura K, Soyama Y, Ishizaki M, Kido T, et al. Shift work and the risk of diabetes mellitus among Japanese male factory workers. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 2005; Jun;31(3):179-83.

74. Pan A, Schernhammer ES, Sun Q, Hu FB. Rotating night shift work and risk of type 2 diabetes: two prospective cohort studies in women. *PLoS Med* 2011; Dec;8(12):e1001141.

75. Nakamura K, Shimai S, Kikuchi S, Tominaga K, Takahashi H, Tanaka M, et al. Shift work and risk factors for coronary heart disease in Japanese blue-collar workers: serum lipids and anthropometric characteristics. *Occup Med (Lond)* 1997; Apr;47(3):142-6.

76. Dochi M, Sakata K, Oishi M, Tanaka K, Kobayashi E, Suwazono Y. Relationship between shift work and hypercholesterolemia in Japan. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 2008; Feb;34(1):33-9.

77. Suwazono Y, Uetani M, Oishi M, Tanaka K, Morimoto H, Nakada S, et al. Estimation of the benchmark duration of alternating shift work associated with increased total cholesterol levels among male Japanese workers. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 2010; Mar;36(2):142-9.

78. Okamura H, Doi M, Yamaguchi Y, Fustin JM. Hypertension due to loss of clock: novel insight from the molecular analysis of Cry1/Cry2-deleted mice. *Curr Hypertens Rep* 2011; Apr;13(2):103-8.

79. Morikawa Y, Nakagawa H, Miura K, Ishizaki M, Tabata M, Nishijo M, et al. Relationship between shift work and onset of hypertension in a cohort of manual workers. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 1999; Apr;25(2):100-4.

80. Sakata K, Suwazono Y, Harada H, Okubo Y, Kobayashi E, Nogawa K. The relationship between shift work and the onset of hypertension in male Japanese workers. *J Occup Environ Med* 2003; Sep;45(9):1002-6.

81. Suwazono Y, Dochi M, Sakata K, Okubo Y, Oishi M, Tanaka K, et al. Shift work is a risk factor for increased blood pressure in Japanese men: a 14-year historical cohort study. *Hypertension* 2008; Sep;52(3):581-6.

82. Oishi M, Suwazono Y, Sakata K, Okubo Y, Harada H, Kobayashi E, et al. A longitudinal study on the relationship between shift work and the progression of hypertension in male Japanese workers. *J Hypertens* 2005; Dec;23(12):2173-8.

83. Kitamura T, Onishi K, Dohi K, Okinaka T, Ito M, Isaka N, et al. Circadian rhythm of blood pressure is transformed from a dipper to a non-dipper pattern in shift workers with hypertension. *J Hum Hypertens* 2002; Mar;16(3):193-7.

84. Cicconetti P, Donadio C, Pazzaglia MC, D'Ambrosio F, Marigliano V. Circadian rhythm of blood pressure: non-dipping pattern and cardiovascular risk. *Recenti Prog Med* 2007; Jul-Aug;98(7-8):401-6.

85. Jennersjo PE, Wijkman M, Wirehn AB, Lanne T, Engvall J, Nystrom FH, et al. Circadian blood pressure variation in patients with type 2 diabetes--relationship to macroand microvascular subclinical organ damage. *Prim Care Diabetes* 2011; Oct;5(3):167-73.

86. O'Donnell MJ, Xavier D, Liu L, Zhang H, Chin SL, Rao-Melacini P, et al. Risk factors for ischaemic and intracerebral haemorrhagic stroke in 22 countries (the INTERSTROKE study): a case-control study. *Lancet* 2010; Jul 10;376(9735):112-23.

87. Chang M, Hahn RA, Teutsch SM, Hutwagner LC. Multiple risk factors and population attributable risk for ischemic heart disease mortality in the United States, 1971-1992. *J Clin Epidemiol* 2001; Jun;54(6):634-44.

88. Alberti KG, Eckel RH, Grundy SM, Zimmet PZ, Cleeman JI, Donato KA, et al. Harmonizing the metabolic syndrome: a joint interim statement of the International Diabetes Federation Task Force on Epidemiology and Prevention; National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute; American Heart Association; World Heart Federation; International Atherosclerosis Society; and International Association for the Study of Obesity. *Circulation* 2009; Oct 20;120(16):1640-5.

89. Li Y, Sato Y, Yamaguchi N. Shift work and the risk of metabolic syndrome: a nested case-control study. *Int J Occup Environ Health* 2011; Apr-Jun;17(2):154-60.

90. Pietroiusti A, Neri A, Somma G, Coppeta L, Iavicoli I, Bergamaschi A, et al. Incidence of metabolic syndrome among night-shift healthcare workers. *Occup Environ Med* 2010; Jan;67(1):54-7.

91. Koepsell T D, Weiss NS. Confounding and Its Control. Epidemiologic Methods: studying the occurence of illness New York: Oxford University Press; 2003. p. 247.

92. Wald NJ, Simmonds M, Morris JK. Screening for future cardiovascular disease using age alone compared with multiple risk factors and age. *PLoS One* 2011; May 4;6(5):e18742.

93. Steenland K, Henley J, Calle E, Thun M. Individual- and area-level socioeconomic status variables as predictors of mortality in a cohort of 179,383 persons. *Am J Epidemiol* 2004; Jun 1;159(11):1047-56.

94. Davey Smith G, Hart C, Hole D, MacKinnon P, Gillis C, Watt G, et al. Education and occupational social class: which is the more important indicator of mortality risk? *J Epidemiol Community Health* 1998; Mar;52(3):153-60.

95. Shibuya A, Inoue R, Ohkubo T, Takeda Y, Teshima T, Imai Y, et al. The relation between health literacy, hypertension knowledge, and blood pressure among middle-aged Japanese adults. *Blood Press Monit* 2011; Oct;16(5):224-30.

96. Kaplan GA, Keil JE. Socioeconomic factors and cardiovascular disease: a review of the literature. *Circulation* 1993; Oct;88(4 Pt 1):1973-98.

97. Pollitt RA, Rose KM, Kaufman JS. Evaluating the evidence for models of life course socioeconomic factors and cardiovascular outcomes: a systematic review. *BMC Public Health* 2005; Jan 20;5:7.

98. Cox AM, McKevitt C, Rudd AG, Wolfe CD. Socioeconomic status and stroke. *Lancet Neurol* 2006; Feb;5(2):181-8.

99. Avendano M, Kawachi I, Van Lenthe F, Boshuizen HC, Mackenbach JP, Van den Bos GA, et al. Socioeconomic status and stroke incidence in the US elderly: the role of risk factors in the EPESE study. *Stroke* 2006; Jun;37(6):1368-73.

100. Clark AM, Duncan AS, Trevoy JE, Heath S, Chan M. Healthy diet in Canadians of low socioeconomic status with coronary heart disease: Not just a matter of knowledge and choice. *Heart Lung* 2011; Mar-Apr;40(2):156-63.

101. Boggild H, Knutsson A. Shift work, risk factors and cardiovascular disease. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 1999; Apr;25(2):85-99.

102. van Amelsvoort LG, Jansen NW, Kant I. Smoking among shift workers: More than a confounding factor. *Chronobiol Int* 2006;23(6):1105-13.

103. van Amelsvoort LG, Schouten EG, Kok FJ. Impact of one year of shift work on cardiovascular disease risk factors. *J Occup Environ Med* 2004; Jul;46(7):699-706.

104. Nabe-Nielsen K, Garde AH, Tuchsen F, Hogh A, Diderichsen F. Cardiovascular risk factors and primary selection into shift work. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 2008; Jun;34(3):206-12.

105. Marmot MG. Alcohol and coronary heart disease. *Int J Epidemiol* 1984; Jun;13(2):160-7.

106. Kivimäki M, Kuisma P, Virtanen M, Elovainio M. Does shift work lead to poorer health habits? a comparison between women who had always done shift work with those who had never done shift work. *Work and Stress*15(1):3-13.

107. Gordon NP, Cleary PD, Parker CE, Czeisler CA. The prevalence and health impact of shiftwork. *Am J Public Health* 1986; Oct;76(10):1225-8.

108. Hu X, Kaplan S, Dalal RS. An examination of blue- versus white-collar workers' conceptualizations of job satisfaction facets. *J Vocat Behav* 2010;76(2):317-25.

109. Fujishiro K, Diez Roux AV, Landsbergis P, Baron S, Barr RG, Kaufman JD, et al. Associations of occupation, job control and job demands with intima-media thickness: the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA). *Occup Environ Med* 2011; May;68(5):319-26.

110. Chen JD, Cheng TJ, Lin YC, Hsiao ST. Job categories and acute ischemic heart disease: a hospital-based, case-control study in Taiwan. *Am J Ind Med* 2007; Jun;50(6):409-14.

111. Miller FD, Reed DM, MacLean CJ. Mortality and morbidity among blue and white collar workers in the Honolulu Heart Program cohort. *Int J Epidemiol* 1993; Oct;22(5):834-7.

112. Kubo T, Fukuda S, Hirata K, Shimada K, Maeda K, Komukai K, et al. Comparison of coronary microcirculation in female nurses after day-time versus night-time shifts. *Am J Cardiol* 2011; Dec 1;108(11):1665-8.

113. Puttonen S, Kivimaki M, Elovainio M, Pulkki-Raback L, Hintsanen M, Vahtera J, et al. Shift work in young adults and carotid artery intima-media thickness: The Cardiovascular Risk in Young Finns study. *Atherosclerosis* 2009; Aug;205(2):608-13.

114. Lorenz MW, Markus HS, Bots ML, Rosvall M, Sitzer M. Prediction of clinical

cardiovascular events with carotid intima-media thickness: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Circulation* 2007; Jan 30;115(4):459-67.

115. Chen CC, Shiu LJ, Li YL, Tung KY, Chan KY, Yeh CJ, et al. Shift work and arteriosclerosis risk in professional bus drivers. *Ann Epidemiol* 2010; Jan;20(1):60-6.

116. Wehrens SM, Hampton SM, Skene DJ. Heart rate variability and endothelial function after sleep deprivation and recovery sleep among male shift and non-shift workers. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 2011; Sep 27;.

117. Lavie L, Lavie P. Elevated plasma homocysteine in older shift-workers: a potential risk factor for cardiovascular morbidity. *Chronobiol Int* 2007;24(1):115-28.

118. Puttonen S, Viitasalo K, Harma M. Effect of shiftwork on systemic markers of inflammation. *Chronobiol Int* 2011; Jul;28(6):528-35.

119. Suessenbacher A, Potocnik M, Dorler J, Fluckinger G, Wanitschek M, Pachinger O, et al. Comparison of peripheral endothelial function in shift versus nonshift workers. *Am J Cardiol* 2011; Mar 15;107(6):945-8.

120. Hastings MH, Reddy AB, Maywood ES. A clockwork web: circadian timing in brain and periphery, in health and disease. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 2003; Aug;4(8):649-61.

121. Casetta I, Granieri E, Portaluppi F, Manfredini R. Circadian variability in hemorrhagic stroke. *JAMA* 2002; Mar 13;287(10):1266-7.

122. Cannon CP, McCabe CH, Stone PH, Schactman M, Thompson B, Theroux P, et al. Circadian variation in the onset of unstable angina and non-Q-wave acute myocardial infarction (the TIMI III Registry and TIMI IIIB). *Am J Cardiol* 1997; Feb 1;79(3):253-8.

123. Cohen MC, Rohtla KM, Lavery CE, Muller JE, Mittleman MA. Meta-analysis of the morning excess of acute myocardial infarction and sudden cardiac death. *Am J Cardiol* 1997; Jun 1;79(11):1512-6.

124. Dijk DJ, Duffy JF, Riel E, Shanahan TL, Czeisler CA. Ageing and the circadian and homeostatic regulation of human sleep during forced desynchrony of rest, melatonin and temperature rhythms. *J Physiol* 1999; Apr 15;516 (Pt 2)(Pt 2):611-27.

125. Arble DM, Ramsey KM, Bass J, Turek FW. Circadian disruption and metabolic disease: findings from animal models. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2010; Oct;24(5):785-800.

126. Gale JE, Cox HI, Qian J, Block GD, Colwell CS, Matveyenko AV. Disruption of circadian rhythms accelerates development of diabetes through pancreatic beta-cell loss and dysfunction. *J Biol Rhythms* 2011; Oct;26(5):423-33.

127. Gumz ML, Stow LR, Lynch IJ, Greenlee MM, Rudin A, Cain BD, et al. The circadian clock protein Period 1 regulates expression of the renal epithelial sodium channel in mice. *J Clin Invest* 2009; Aug;119(8):2423-34.

128. Martino TA, Tata N, Belsham DD, Chalmers J, Straume M, Lee P, et al. Disturbed diurnal rhythm alters gene expression and exacerbates cardiovascular disease with rescue by resynchronization. *Hypertension* 2007; May;49(5):1104-13.

129. Monk TH. What can the chronobiologist do to help the shift worker?. *J Biol Rhythms* 2000; Apr;15(2):86-94.

130. Laugsand LE, Vatten LJ, Platou C, Janszky I. Insomnia and the risk of acute myocardial infarction: a population study. *Circulation* 2011; Nov 8;124(19):2073-81.

131. Martino TA, Oudit GY, Herzenberg AM, Tata N, Koletar MM, Kabir GM, et al. Circadian rhythm disorganization produces profound cardiovascular and renal disease in hamsters. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 2008; May;294(5):R1675-83.

132. Frost P, Kolstad HA, Bonde JP. Shift work and the risk of ischemic heart disease - a systematic review of the epidemiologic evidence. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 2009; May;35(3):163-79.

133. Brown DL, Feskanich DS, B.N., Rexrode KM, Schernhammer ES, Lisabeth LD. Rotating night shift work and the risk of ischemic stroke. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 2009; 06/01;169(11):1370-7.

134. Hublin C, Partinen M, Koskenvuo K, Silventoinen K, Koskenvuo M, Kaprio J. Shift-work and cardiovascular disease: a population-based 22-year follow-up study. *European Journal of Epidemiology* 2010; 05;25(5):315-23.

135. Akerstedt T, Knutsson A, Alfredsson L, Theorell T. Shift work and cardiovascular disease. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 1984; Dec;10(6 Spec No):409-14.

136. Knutsson A. Shift work and coronary heart disease. *Scand J Soc Med Suppl* 1989;44:1-36.

137. Mosendane T, Mosendane T, Raal FJ. Shift work and its effects on the cardiovascular system. *Cardiovasc J Afr* 2008; Jul-Aug;19(4):210-5.

138. Szosland D. Shift work and metabolic syndrome, diabetes mellitus and ischaemic heart disease. *Int J Occup Med Environ Health* 2010;23(3):287-91.

139. Wagner U. Shift work and ischemic heart disease. *Z Arztl Fortbild (Jena)* 1989;83(5):229-33.

140. Jaehyeok H, Soo-Geun K, Domyung P, Jungsun P. The Magnitude of Mortality from Ischemic Heart Disease Attributed to Occupational Factors in Korea - Attributable Fraction Estimation Using Meta-analysis. *Saf Health Work* 2011;2:70-82.

141. Higgins J, Altman D, Sterne J, (editors). Chapter 8: Assessing risk of bias in included studies. In: Higgins J, Green S, editors. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 (updated March 2011) Available from <a href="http://www.cochrane-handbook.org">www.cochrane-handbook.org</a>. The Cochrane Collaboration; 2011.

142. Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, PRISMA Group. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *BMJ* 2009; Jul 21;339:b2535.

143. Allesoe K, Hundrup YA, Thomsen JF, Osler M. Psychosocial work environment and risk of ischaemic heart disease in women: the Danish Nurse Cohort Study. *Occup Environ Med* 2010; 05;67(5):318-22.

144. Stevens RG, Hansen J, Costa G, Haus E, Kauppinen T, Aronson KJ, et al. Considerations of circadian impact for defining 'shift work' in cancer studies: IARC Working Group Report. *Occup Environ Med* 2011; Feb;68(2):154-62.

145. Hill AB. The Environment and Disease: Association Or Causation?. *Proc R Soc Med* 1965; May;58:295-300.

146. Stroup DF, Berlin JA, Morton SC, Olkin I, Williamson GD, Rennie D, et al. Metaanalysis of observational studies in epidemiology: a proposal for reporting. Meta-analysis Of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) group. *JAMA* 2000; Apr 19;283(15):2008-12.

147. Gregoire G, Derderian F, Le Lorier J. Selecting the language of the publications included in a meta-analysis: is there a Tower of Babel bias?. *J Clin Epidemiol* 1995; Jan;48(1):159-63.

148. Moher D, Fortin P, Jadad AR, Juni P, Klassen T, Le Lorier J, et al. Completeness of reporting of trials published in languages other than English: implications for conduct and reporting of systematic reviews. *Lancet* 1996; Feb 10;347(8998):363-6.

149. Egger M, Zellweger-Zahner T, Schneider M, Junker C, Lengeler C, Antes G. Language bias in randomised controlled trials published in English and German. *Lancet* 1997; Aug 2;350(9074):326-9.

150. Greenhalgh T, Peacock R. Effectiveness and efficiency of search methods in systematic reviews of complex evidence: audit of primary sources. *BMJ* 2005; Nov 5;331(7524):1064-5.

151. Tendal B, Nuesch E, Higgins JP, Juni P, Gotzsche PC. Multiplicity of data in trial reports and the reliability of meta-analyses: empirical study. *BMJ* 2011; Aug 30;343:d4829.

152. Cohen J. A coefficient of agreement for nominal scales. *Educational and Psychological Measurement* 1960;20(0013-1644, 0013-1644):37,37-46.

153. Fleiss JL, Cohen J, Everitt BS. Large sample standard errors of kappa and weighted kappa. *Psychol Bull* 1969;72(5):323,323-327.

154. Orwin RG. Evaluating coding decisions. In: Cooper H, Hedges LV, editors. The Handbook of Research Synthesis New York (NY): Russell Sage Foundation; 1994.

155. Hutton, J. L. and Williamson, P. R. Bias in meta-analysis due to outcome variable selection within studies. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society* 2000;Series C (Applied Statistics),(49):359–370.

156. Downs SH, Black N. The feasibility of creating a checklist for the assessment of the methodological quality both of randomised and non-randomised studies of health care interventions. *J Epidemiol Community Health* 1998; Jun;52(6):377-84.

157. Deeks JJ, Dinnes J, D'Amico R, Sowden AJ, Sakarovitch C, Song F, et al. Evaluating non-randomised intervention studies. *Health Technol Assess* 2003;7(27):iii,x, 1-173.

158. Reeves B, Deeks J, Higgins J, Wells G. Chapter 13: Including non-randomized studies. In: Higgins JPT GS, editor. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions. Version 5.1.0 ed. Available from <u>www.cochrane-handbook.org.</u>: The Cochrane Collaboration; 2011.

159. Wells G, Shea B, O'Connell D, Peterson J, Welch V, Losos M, et al. The Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) for assessing the quality of nonrandomised studies in metaanalysesAvailable from: URL:

http://www.ohri.ca/programs/clinical\_epidemiology/oxford.asp.

160. Boggild H, Suadicani P, Hein HO, Gyntelberg F. Shift work, social class, and ischaemic heart disease in middle aged and elderly men; a 22 year follow up in the Copenhagen Male Study. *Occupational & Environmental Medicine* 1999; 09;56(9):640-5.

161. Yadegarfar G, McNamee R. Shift work, confounding and death from ischaemic heart disease. *Occupational & Environmental Medicine* 2008; 03;65(3):158-63.

162. Biggi N, Consonni D, Galluzzo V, Sogliani M, Costa G. Metabolic syndrome in permanent night workers. *Chronobiology International* 2008; 04;25(2):443-54.

163. Ellingsen T, Bener A, Gehani AA. Study of shift work and risk of coronary events. *Journal of the Royal Society for the Promotion of Health* 2007; 11;127(6):265-7.

164. Aune D, Chan DS, Lau R, Vieira R, Greenwood DC, Kampman E, et al. Dietary fibre, whole grains, and risk of colorectal cancer: systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of prospective studies. *BMJ* 2011; Nov 10;343:d6617.

165. McGettigan P, Henry D. Cardiovascular risk with non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: systematic review of population-based controlled observational studies. *PLoS Med* 2011; Sep;8(9):e1001098.

166. Davies HT, Crombie IK, Tavakoli M. When can odds ratios mislead?. *BMJ* 1998; Mar 28;316(7136):989-91.

167. DerSimonian R, Laird N. Meta-analysis in clinical trials. *Control Clin Trials* 1986; Sep;7(3):177-88.

168. Fixed-effect versus random-effects models. In: Borenstein M, Hedges LV, Higgins JPT, Rothenstein HR, editors. Introduction to Meta-analysis. First ed. UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2009.

169. Deeks J, Higgins J, Altman D, (editors). Chapter 9: Analysing data and undertaking meta-analyses. In: Higgins J, Green S, editors. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 (updated March 2011)The Cochrane Collaboration; 2011.

170. Higgins JP, Thompson SG. Quantifying heterogeneity in a meta-analysis. *Stat Med* 2002; Jun 15;21(11):1539-58.

171. Deeks J, Higgins J, Altman D. Cochrane Statistical Methods Group and the Cochrane Bias Methods Group. Analysing data and undertaking meta-analyses. In:

Higgins J, Green S, editors. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Hoboken, NJ: Wiley-Blackwell; 2008. p. 243 - 296.

172. Duval S, Tweedie R. Trim and fill: A simple funnel-plot-based method of testing and adjusting for publication bias in meta-analysis. *Biometrics* 2000; Jun;56(2):455-63.

173. Comparing outcomes, time-points, or comparison groups within a study. In: Borenstein M, Hedges L, Higgins J, Rothenstein H, editors. Introduction to Meta-Analysis. First ed. UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2009.

174. Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Akl EA, Kunz R, Vist G, Brozek J, et al. GRADE guidelines: 1. Introduction-GRADE evidence profiles and summary of findings tables. *J Clin Epidemiol* 2011; Apr;64(4):383-94.

175. Miettinen OS, Cook EF. Confounding: essence and detection. *Am J Epidemiol* 1981; Oct;114(4):593-603.

176. Sidik K, Jonkman JN. A comparison of heterogeneity variance estimators in combining results of studies. *Stat Med* 2007; Apr 30;26(9):1964-81.

177. Hardy RJ, Thompson SG. A likelihood approach to meta-analysis with random effects. *Stat Med* 1996; Mar 30;15(6):619-29.

178. Rothman KJ. No adjustments are needed for multiple comparisons. *Epidemiology* 1990; Jan;1(1):43-6.

179. Kalin MF, Zumoff B. Sex hormones and coronary disease: a review of the clinical studies. *Steroids* 1990; Aug;55(8):330-52.

180. Presser HB. Race-Ethnic and Gender Differences in Nonstandard Work Shifts. *Work and Occupations* 2003; November 01;30(4):412-39.

181. Lakatta EG, Yin FC. Myocardial aging: functional alterations and related cellular mechanisms. *Am J Physiol* 1982; Jun;242(6):H927-41.

182. Boggild H. Settling the question - the next review on shift work and heart disease in 2019. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 2009; May;35(3):157-61.

183. Oginska H, Pokorski J, Oginski A. Gender, ageing, and shiftwork intolerance. *Ergonomics* 1993; Jan-Mar;36(1-3):161-8.

184. Balshem H, Helfand M, Schunemann HJ, Oxman AD, Kunz R, Brozek J, et al. GRADE guidelines: 3. Rating the quality of evidence. *J Clin Epidemiol* 2011;

Apr;64(4):401-6.

185. Alfredsson L, Karasek R, Theorell T. Myocardial infarction risk and psychosocial work environment: an analysis of the male Swedish working force. *Soc Sci Med* 1982;16(4):463-7.

186. Fujino Y. Occupational factors and mortality in the Japan Collaborative Cohort Study for Evaluation of Cancer (JACC). *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev* 2007;8 Suppl:97-104.:97-104.

187. Hammar N, Andersson T, Reuterwall C, Nilsson T, Knutsson A, Hallqvist J, et al. Geographical differences in the incidence of acute myocardial infarction in Sweden. Analyses of possible causes using two parallel case-control studies. *J Intern Med* 2001; 02;249(2):137-44.

188. Taylor PJ. The effects of shift work on worker health. *IMS Ind Med Surg* 1973; 09;42(8):13-9.

189. Tenkanen L, Sjoblom T, Harma M. Joint effect of shift work and adverse life-style factors on the risk of coronary heart disease. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 1998; 10;24(5):351-7.

190. Tenkanen L, Sjoblom T, Kalimo R, Alikoski T, Harma M. Shift work, occupation and coronary heart disease over 6 years of follow-up in the Helsinki Heart Study. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 1997; 08;23(4):257-65.

191. Virkkunen H, Harma M, Kauppinen T, Tenkanen L. Shift work, occupational noise and physical workload with ensuing development of blood pressure and their joint effect on the risk of coronary heart disease. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 2007; 12;33(6):425-34.

192. Willich SN, Wegscheider K, Stallmann M, Keil T. Noise burden and the risk of myocardial infarction. *Eur Heart J* 2006; 02;27(3):276-82.

193. Taylor PJ, Pocock SJ. Mortality of shift and day workers 1956-68. *British Journal of Industrial Medicine* 1972; 04;29(2):201-7.

194. Knutsson A, Hammar N, Karlsson B. Shift workers' mortality scrutinized. *Chronobiology International* 2004;21(6):1049-53.

195. Kawachi I, Colditz GA, Stampfer MJ, Willett WC, Manson JE, Speizer FE, et al. Prospective study of shift work and risk of coronary heart disease in women. *Circulation*  1995; 12/01;92(11):3178-82.

196. Taylor PJ, Pocock SJ, Sergean R. Absenteeism of shift and day workers. A study of six types of shift system in 29 organizations. *British Journal of Industrial Medicine* 1972; 04;29(2):208-13.

197. Hublin C, Partinen M, Koskenvuo K, Silventoinen K, Koskenvuo M, Kaprio J. Shift-work and cardiovascular disease: a population-based 22-year follow-up study. *Eur J Epidemiol* 2010; May;25(5):315-23.

198. Haupt CM, Alte D, Dorr M, Robinson DM, Felix SB, John U, et al. The relation of exposure to shift work with atherosclerosis and myocardial infarction in a general population. *Atherosclerosis* 2008; 11;201(1):205-11.

199. Vertin PG. Incidence of cardiovascular diseases in the Dutch viscose rayon industry. *Journal of Occupational Medicine* 1978; 05;20(5):346-50.

200. Rafnsson V, ttir H. Mortality study of fertiliser manufacturers in Iceland. *British Journal of Industrial Medicine* 1990; 11;47(11):721-5.

201. Steenland K, Fine L. Shift work, shift change, and risk of death from heart disease at work. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine* 1996; 03;29(3):278-81.

202. Babisch W, Beule B, Schust M, Kersten N, Ising H. Traffic noise and risk of myocardial infarction. *Epidemiology* 2005; 01;16(1):33-40.

203. Falger PR, Schouten EG. Exhaustion, psychological stressors in the work environment, and acute myocardial infarction in adult men. *J Psychosom Res* 1992; 12;36(8):777-86.

204. Netterstrom B, Nielsen FE, Kristensen TS, Bach E, ller L. Relation between job strain and myocardial infarction: a case-control study. *Occupational & Environmental Medicine* 1999; 05;56(5):339-42.

205. Virtanen SV, Notkola V. Socioeconomic inequalities in cardiovascular mortality and the role of work: a register study of Finnish men. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 2002; 06;31(3):614-21.

206. Tarumi K. Mortality and work conditions: a retrospective follow-up assessment of the effects of work conditions on the mortality of male employees in the manufacturing industry. *Journal of Uoeh* 1997; 09/01;19(3):193-205.

207. Fujino Y, Iso H, Tamakoshi A, Inaba Y, Koizumi A, Kubo T, et al. A prospective cohort study of shift work and risk of ischemic heart disease in Japanese male workers. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 2006; 07/15;164(2):128-35.

208. Knutsson A, Hallquist J, Reuterwall C, Theorell T, Akerstedt T. Shiftwork and myocardial infarction: a case-control study. *Occupational & Environmental Medicine* 1999; 01;56(1):46-50.

209. Tuchsen F. Working hours and ischaemic heart disease in Danish men: a 4-year cohort study of hospitalization. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 1993; 04;22(2):215-21.

210. Alfredsson L, Spetz CL, Theorell T. Type of occupation and near-future hospitalization for myocardial infarction and some other diagnoses. *Int J Epidemiol* 1985; 09;14(3):378-88.

211. McNamee R, Binks K, Jones S, Faulkner D, Slovak A, Cherry NM. Shiftwork and mortality from ischaemic heart disease. *Occupational & Environmental Medicine* 1996; 06;53(6):367-73.

212. Hermansson J, Gillander G, Karlsson B, Lindahl B, Stegmayr B, Knutsson A. Ischemic stroke and shift work. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health* 2007; 12;33(6):435-9.

213. Karlsson B, Alfredsson L, Knutsson A, Andersson E, Torén K. Total mortality and cause-specific mortality of Swedish shift- and dayworkers in the pulp and paper industry in 1952-2001. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health* 2005; 02;31(1):30-5.

214. Sterne J, Egger M, Moher D, (editors). Chapter 10: Addressing reporting biases. In: Higgins J, Green S, editors. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Intervention. Version 5.1.0 (updated March 2011). ed. Available from <u>www.cochrane-handbook.org.</u>: The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011; 2011.

215. Knutsson A, Akerstedt T, Jonsson BG, Orth-Gomer K. Increased risk of ischaemic heart disease in shift workers. *Lancet* 1986; 07/12;2(8498):89-92.

216. Koller M. Health risks related to shift work. An example of time-contingent effects of long-term stress. *International Archives of Occupational & Environmental Health* 1983;53(1):59-75.

217. Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Sultan S, Glasziou P, Akl EA, Alonso-Coello P, et al.

GRADE guidelines: 9. Rating up the quality of evidence. *J Clin Epidemiol* 2011; Dec;64(12):1311-6.

218. Akerstedt T, Kecklund G, Johansson SE. Shift work and mortality. *Chronobiology International* 2004;21(6):1055-61.

219. Fukuoka Y, Dracup K, Froelicher ES, Ohno M, Hirayama H, Shiina H, et al. Do Japanese workers who experience an acute myocardial infarction believe their prolonged working hours are a cause?. *Int J Cardiol* 2005; 04/08;100(1):29-35.

220. Liu Y, Tanaka H, Fukuoka Heart SG. Overtime work, insufficient sleep, and risk of non-fatal acute myocardial infarction in Japanese men. *Occupational & Environmental Medicine* 2002; 07;59(7):447-51.

221. Tuchsen F, Hannerz H, Burr H. A 12 year prospective study of circulatory disease among Danish shift workers. *Occupational & Environmental Medicine* 2006; 07;63(7):451-5.

222. Virkkunen H, H&#x00E4, Kauppinen T, Tenkanen L. The triad of shift work, occupational noise, and physical workload and risk of coronary heart disease. *Occupational & Environmental Medicine* 2006; 06;63(6):378-86.

223. Berlin JA, Santanna J, Schmid CH, Szczech LA, Feldman HI, Anti-Lymphocyte Antibody Induction Therapy Study Group. Individual patient- versus group-level data meta-regressions for the investigation of treatment effect modifiers: ecological bias rears its ugly head. *Stat Med* 2002; Feb 15;21(3):371-87.

224. Thorvaldsen P, Asplund K, Kuulasmaa K, Rajakangas AM, Schroll M. Stroke incidence, case fatality, and mortality in the WHO MONICA project. World Health Organization Monitoring Trends and Determinants in Cardiovascular Disease. *Stroke* 1995; Mar;26(3):361-7.

225. Tunstall-Pedoe H, Vanuzzo D, Hobbs M, Mahonen M, Cepaitis Z, Kuulasmaa K, et al. Estimation of contribution of changes in coronary care to improving survival, event rates, and coronary heart disease mortality across the WHO MONICA Project populations. *Lancet* 2000; Feb 26;355(9205):688-700.

226. Haus E, Smolensky M. Biological clocks and shift work: circadian dysregulation and potential long-term effects. *Cancer Causes Control* 2006; May;17(4):489-500.

227. Edery I. Circadian rhythms in a nutshell. *Physiological Genomics* 2000; August 09;3(2):59-74.

228. Durgan DJ, Young ME. The cardiomyocyte circadian clock: emerging roles in health and disease. *Circ Res* 2010; Mar 5;106(4):647-58.

229. Anea CB, Zhang M, Stepp DW, Simkins GB, Reed G, Fulton DJ, et al. Vascular disease in mice with a dysfunctional circadian clock. *Circulation* 2009; Mar 24;119(11):1510-7.

230. Paschos GK, FitzGerald GA. Circadian clocks and vascular function. *Circ Res* 2010; Mar 19;106(5):833-41.

231. Cappuccio FP, Cooper D, D'Elia L, Strazzullo P, Miller MA. Sleep duration predicts cardiovascular outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective studies. *European Heart Journal* 2011; June 01;32(12):1484-92.

232. Li CY, Sung FC. A review of the healthy worker effect in occupational epidemiology. *Occup Med (Lond)* 1999; May;49(4):225-9.

233. Jokhadar M, Jacobsen SJ, Reeder GS, Weston SA, Roger VL. Sudden Death and Recurrent Ischemic Events after Myocardial Infarction in the Community. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 2004; June 01;159(11):1040-6.

234. Cay EL, Walker DD. Psychological factors and return to work. *Eur Heart J* 1988; Nov;9 Suppl L:74-81.

235. Schunemann H, Hill S, Guyatt G, Akl EA, Ahmed F. The GRADE approach and Bradford Hill's criteria for causation. *J Epidemiol Community Health* 2011; May;65(5):392-5.

236. Szklo M, Nieto F. Measuring associations in a cohort study. Epidemiology: beyong the basics. 2nd edition ed. Sudbury: Jones and Bartlett publishers; 2007. p. 86-87.

237. Levin ML. The occurrence of lung cancer in man. *Acta Unio Int Contra Cancrum* 1953;9(3):531-41.

238. Koepsell T D, Weiss NS. Measures of excess risk. Epidemiologic Methods: studying the occurence of illnes New York: Oxford University Press; 2003. p. 201-202.

239. Morgenthaler TI, Lee-Chiong T, Alessi C, Friedman L, Aurora RN, Boehlecke B, et al. Practice parameters for the clinical evaluation and treatment of circadian rhythm sleep disorders: An American Academy of Sleep Medicine report. *Sleep* 2007;30(11):1445-59.

240. Knauth P, Hornberger S. Preventive and compensatory measures for shift workers.

Occup Med (Lond) 2003; Mar;53(2):109-16.

241. Cardinali DP, Furio AM, Reyes MP. Clinical perspectives for the use of melatonin as a chronobiotic and cytoprotective agent. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 2005; Dec;1057:327-36.

242. Pandi-Perumal SR, Trakht I, Spence DW, Srinivasan V, Dagan Y, Cardinali DP. The roles of melatonin and light in the pathophysiology and treatment of circadian rhythm sleep disorders. *Nature Clinical Practice Neurology* 2008;4(8):436-47.

243. Roth T. Appropriate therapeutic selection for patients with shift work disorder. *Sleep Med* 2012; Feb 20;.

244. Buscemi N, Vandermeer B, Hooton N, Pandya R, Tjosvold L, Hartling L, et al. Efficacy and safety of exogenous melatonin for secondary sleep disorders and sleep disorders accompanying sleep restriction: meta-analysis. *BMJ* 2006; Feb 18;332(7538):385-93.

245. Driscoll TR, Grunstein RR, Rogers NL. A systematic review of the neurobehavioural and physiological effects of shiftwork systems. *Sleep Med Rev* 2007; Jun;11(3):179-94.

246. Barton J, Folkard S. Advancing versus delaying shift systems. *Ergonomics* 1993; Jan-Mar;36(1-3):59-64.

247. Knauth P. Innovative worktime arrangements. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 1998;24 Suppl 3:13-7.

248. Adair JG. The Hawthorne effect: A reconsideration of the methodological artifact. *J Appl Psychol* 1984;69(2):334-45.

249. Czeisler CA, Moore-Ede MC, Coleman RH. Rotating shift work schedules that disrupt sleep are improved by applying circadian principles. *Science* 1982; Jul 30;217(4558):460-3.

250. Rose G. Sick individuals and sick populations. *Int J Epidemiol* 1985; Mar;14(1):32-8.

251. Costa G. Guidelines for the medical surveillance of shift workers. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 1998;24 Suppl 3:151-5.

252. Oberlinner C, Ott MG, Nasterlack M, Yong M, Messerer P, Zober A, et al. Medical program for shift workers--impacts on chronic disease and mortality outcomes. *Scand J* 

*Work Environ Health* 2009; Jul;35(4):309-18.

## **Curriculum Vitae**

Name:	Manav Vyas
Post-secondary	The University of Western Ontario
Education and	London, Ontario, Canada
Degrees:	2010 – 2012 M.Sc.
	Smt. NHL Municipal Medical College,
	Gujarat University, Ahmedabad, Gujarat, India
	2003 – 2009 M.B; B.S.
Honours and	First prize (category: health outcomes and population studies)
Awards:	Poster competition. London Health Research Day
	2012
	Canadian Health Research Institutes Strategic Training Program in
	Vascular Research
	2010 - 2012
	Western Graduate Research Scholarship
	2010 - 2012